The best days of our lives? Experiencing literacy inequalities: the continuing impact of literacy inequalities on a group of individuals, who failed to reach their desired level of literacy at school.

Barbara Turner

BA (Hons), MA

October 2021

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Department of Educational Research,

Lancaster University, UK.

This thesis results entirely from my own work and has not been offered previously for any other degree or diploma. I declare that this thesis comprises 43,928 words and it does not exceed the permitted maximum.

Contents	
Abstract	V
Acknowlegements	vii
List of Tables	viii
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Introducing the research	1
1.2 Justific p	2
1.3 Research focus	3
1.4 Aims and rationale	5
1.5 Research questions	7
1.6 Methodology	8
1.6.1 The type of study	9
1.6.2 Data collection and analysis	9
1.7 The status of the findings and their significance	10
1.8 Areas of further research	11
1.8.1 Early intervention in the education of children	11
1.8.2 Teaching English in more practical ways	11
1.8.3 Investigating the importance of targeted	
literacy intervention for adults	12
1.8.4 Weaknesses in the English education system	12
1.9 Thesis structure	12
Chapter 2 Literature Review	15
2.1 Introduction	16
2.2 What is literacy?	17
2.3 Why literacy is important	18
2.4 How approaches to literacy have changed over time	
from the 1940s	19
2.4.1 The historical position	19
2.5 The number of people affected by not having adequate	
literacy	22
2.6 How literacy levels are measured currently and how	
success and achievement in literacy are defined	24
2.6.1 The way literacy is measured	24
2.7 The reasons people may find themselves without	
adequate literacy for their needs	26
2.8 Lack of individual motivation	27
2.9 The way a person is positioned in society	32
2.10 How an individual may accept a lack of literacy as	
something to be tolerated	35
2.11 The role of class and inequality in accessing literacy	37
2.12 The lasting effects on children when their attitude to	
school does not conform to what is expected of them	42
2.13 The way in which literacy is often taught	44
2.13.1 Combining literacy with physical activity	44

2.13.2 The importance of early intervention in	
literacy provision	47
2.14 How the type of language used affects a child's	
readiness for school	50
2.15 Chapter conclusion	54
Chapter 3 Methodology	57
3.1 Research overview	57
3.2 Research questions	59
3.3 The type of study	59
3.4 The research design	61
3.4.1 Defining the study population	61
3.4.2 Deciding on the sample size	62
3.4.3 The sample strategy	64
3.4.4 Sourcing the sample	64
3.5 Data collection methods	66
3.6 Data analysis	71
3.7 Ontology and epistemology	78
3.8 Ethics	79
3.9 Chapter conclusion	82
Chapter 4 Findings and Discussion: Part I	83
4.1 Introduction	83
4.2 How does a small group of adults describe their	
experiences of learning English at school?	85
4.2.1 Feeling less intelligent or able	86
4.2.2 Damage to sense of self-worth	88
4.2.3 The impact of the participants' experiences	
on other subjects	92
4.2.4 How practical and creative subjects can build	
confidence	95
4.2.5 Conclusion	100
4.3 How do the participants explain the difficulties they faced	
with GCSE English?	100
4.3.1 Lack of support at school	101
4.3.2 Lack of support at home	103
4.3.3 The double effect	107
4.3.4 Conclusion	113
Chapter 5 Findings and Discussion: Part II	114
5.1 Introduction	114
5.2 In what ways do the participants' experiences of learning	
English shape later life experiences?	114
5.2.1 How their experiences have affected their	
confidence	114
5.2.2 Determination to succeed in spite of the	
impact on confidence	117

	5.2.3 Failure to recognise the importance of	
	qualifications when a teenager	119
	5.2.4 The significance of language use	123
	5.2.5 Conclusion	128
	5.3 What is the motivation of the participants, who have	
	returned to education, to study GCSE English?	128
	5.3.1 Studying GCSE English to get a particular	
	qualification	129
	5.3.2 Studying GCSE English and/or other subjects	
	to prove to themselves that they can achieve	
	academically	136
	5.3.3 Conclusion	139
	5.4 What are the participants views on how the education	
	system could be improved to avoid others having their	
	experiences?	139
	5.4.1 Reduce the pressure to achieve	140
	5.4.2 Make school more democratic	143
	5.4.3 Give young people the information they need	
	to make career choices at the right time	145
	5.4.4 Conclusion	147
	5.5 Chapter conclusion	147
Chapt	er 6 Conclusion	149
	6.1 Introduction	149
	6.2 Review of the research goals and answers to the research	
	questions	149
	6.3 The original contributions to knowledge made by the thesis	151
	6.3.1 The emotional effects of having inadequate	
	literacy last a lifetime	151
	6.3.2 It is at secondary school that problems	
	become evident	152
	6.3.3 Even getting extra help at school often	
	became a source of humiliation and shame	153
	6.3.4 The importance of getting support both at	
	school and at home	154
	6.4 The limitations of the research	155
	6.5 Areas for further research	155
	6.5.1 Early intervention in the education of children	156
	6.5.2 Teaching English in more practical ways	156
	6.5.3 Investigating the importance of targeted	
	literacy intervention for adults	156
	6.5.4 Weaknesses in the English education system	157
	6.5.5 Making changes in the way future education	4=0
	policies are designed and implemented	158
	6.5.6 The implications for practice of teaching in a	4-0
	more differentiated way	159
	6.6 Chapter conclusion	159

References	160
Appendix 1	191
Appendix 2	192
Appendix 3	194

#### Abstract

This thesis explores the feelings and experiences of a small group of adults, educated in the English state school system, who either did not achieve a pass (grade C/grade 4) in English language GCSE (or equivalent) by the time they left school, or who struggled with the acquisition of literacy during their school years. It considers why some adults feel that they have not been able to access the knowledge and skills they need to achieve the literacy level they would like, and the ways in which this has affected them.

In investigating the experiences of adults who have encountered literacy inequalities, this thesis aims to contribute to filling the gap in the existing literature on the experiences of adults who are often underrepresented. It critically considers current approaches to the position of adults who do not have the level of literacy they require. The research reflects on how those experiences affected them in later life and the motivation behind those who returned to education as adults to study GCSE English. It also considers the implications of these findings for future educational policy and practice.

The findings indicate that the participants felt difficulties with literacy had negative effects on their lives, affecting their self-confidence, causing them to have feelings of low self-worth and limiting their career choices. It offers an insight into an important area of study and may be seen as a starting point for future research in this area. The intention was to gather the rich, personal experiences of the participants' literacy journeys and provide a voice for those

who have experienced feelings of not having achieved a sufficient level of competence in English for their needs. The results of the feelings and opinions they expressed suggest there may be benefits in addressing certain failures in the English education system, which can have a profound effect on children and on their lives going forward into adulthood.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my husband, daughter, son and friends for all their support, encouragement and interest during the writing of this thesis. I am also extremely grateful to my supervisor, Dr. Jan McArthur, for her help, guidance, and reassurance throughout the process. Finally, I would like to thank those who were willing to share their experiences with me.

# **List of Tables**

Table 2.1 Percentage of adults with low literacy 1997 (identical question	าร
in all countries)	.24
Table 3.1 The participants	58
Table 3.2 Interview question groupings	72
Table 3.3 The twelve most commonly occurring themes	73-74
Table 3.4 The twelve most commonly occurring themes	
highlighted with a different colour	73
Table 3.5 Interview highlighted to show recurring themes	74-77

#### 1 Introduction

# 1.1 Introducing the research

School is often referred to as the best days of our lives – a carefree time with few responsibilities and plenty of opportunities to learn, to play, to make friends and to grow from child to adult. But it is not always like that if school does not give you the one skill that it is hard to live your life without, the ability to be literate. A number of young people leave school every year without passing the exams they need to go on to higher or further education, or without being able to access the training course or apprenticeship for the career they long to pursue. Whilst it is commonly accepted that not everyone will leave school with all the qualifications they want, and may have to reconsider their plans, nothing may be as significant and limiting as not learning to read and write adequately. Desirable careers often require education and training, which is not accessible without adequate literacy. The majority of courses are not available unless you have specific qualifications for example, if you wish to take an apprenticeship to become a motor mechanic you need to pass English GCSE. If you are one of the 30% (Statista, 2021) who leave school without a pass in GCSE English, having limited literacy leaves you with few, if any, choices for your career - whichever area you want to go into adequate literacy is essential.

As an adult literacy teacher for over 20 years, I was aware there was an ongoing need for literacy tuition beyond school (which could become pressing at any time in a person's life) as a steady stream of adult students, aged from

16 to 81, joined the classes over the years. However, it was the day when Cathy, who I had taught some years before, brought her 16-year-old son Martin into the classroom, that I realised just how serious the problem was. How could this still be happening a generation later? It was then I knew I needed to try to understand more about what was happening.

This thesis investigates the experiences of a group of adults who left school without reaching the level of literacy they wanted, and it reveals how the effects on individuals of not having a sufficient level of literacy can be both damning and far-reaching. Existing research tends to focus on income and careers (Sutton Trust and the Social Mobility Commission, 2019) or on the effects of low literacy on children (Francis and Wong, 2013; Clifton and Cook, 2012; Cassen and Kingdon, 2007). However, surprisingly little research has been carried out on the detrimental emotional impact that inadequate literacy can have on adults. This lack of research shows how easy it is for those without voices to be marginalised. Their voices need to be heard.

This chapter introduces the study by providing a summary of the journey, the research context and the problems and questions that stem from a critical review of the literature. In addition, it illustrates how the contribution made by this thesis is linked to specific research gaps found in the literature. The chapter summarises the theoretical orientation and methodology employed in the study and finishes with an outline of the structure of the thesis.

### 1.2 Justification for the research

By investigating individuals' experiences of the literacy inequalities which they have encountered the research will add to the current literature on the effects of literacy inequalities for example, Barakat (2016), Duckworth (2014) and Robinson (2005). It offers more information on both the individuals' thoughts on their literacy journeys and on the reasons for the literacy inequalities. My aim is for this research to contribute to the field of adult literacy and that it could be used to inform policy to improve literacy provision. It can do this by giving insights into the consequences of literacy inequalities and by offering suggestions on how their impact may be lessened in future. It also serves the purpose of allowing the participants in this research, who have experienced literacy inequalities, to have their voices heard and to appreciate that their feelings and experiences are valued. In this way the research can offer hope to others, who had similar experiences, that what they went through has been recognised.

# 1.3 Research focus

This research explores the feelings and experiences of two groups of adults, educated in the English state school system, who either did not achieve a pass (grade C or grade 4 from 2019) in English language GCSE by the time they left school, or who struggled with the acquisition of literacy during their school years. To do this, it investigates the perceptions of the literacy inequalities experienced by the two groups, one group who is attending a further education college in England and a second group whose members have expressed dissatisfaction with their acquisition of literacy. The research contributes to less-investigated areas of literacy acquisition by focusing on

these experiences and feelings, and so contributes to what is missing from the existing literature.

In the literature review in chapter 2, the research identifies how there are different definitions of literacy and how success and achievement in literacy are characterised in different ways. I look at the number of people affected and at how levels of literacy are measured. I then go on to explain how certain groups are positioned in society and why they have problems accessing adequate literacy. The literature review then focuses on the work of three theorists Sen, Bourdieu and Bernstein and their alternative approaches regarding the reasons for inadequate literacy.

I had originally intended to research the experiences of those adults who wished to improve both literacy and numeracy, as both these basic skills are important for accessing many careers and for taking a full part in society. However, it appears that lacking adequate literacy, rather than maths, has a far greater emotional effect on individuals, as there may be a feeling of shame and embarrassment in having literacy difficulties, indeed these feelings may also be associated with not having adequate numeracy skills, but having problems with maths can often be more easily brushed off. Someone may declare with a laugh that they never could do maths, whereas people are less willing to admit not being able to read competently. 'It is fairly common for people in the UK to openly admit that they are bad at maths whilst very few admit to being bad at other subjects e.g. English' (Marshall, et al., 2016 p.68). Willis (2010) also found that attitudes to maths include finding it acceptable

to be bad at it, because that is seen as normal.

Throughout, I have concentrated on information given for England, as the focus of the research is on participants educated wholly or mainly in this country. I wanted to distinguish between the English education system and those of Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland which are all, to a greater or lesser extent, different from each other and from England. Some of the information used is for the UK as a whole, as it was not possible to extract details relating to England alone when certain reports consider all four countries together.

#### 1.4 Aims and rationale

The reason I chose to carry out research into the experiences of adults who have not achieved their desired level of literacy is, as a further education teacher working in a college for over 20 years, I wanted to be able to hear what had happened to them and to understand their experiences and feelings. I mostly taught adults who had come to classes to improve their literacy skills and gain qualifications. I wanted to research how it felt for them: was there the nagging self-doubt of not being able to spell, not having the means to explain what you want or need to someone in authority? Did they feel humiliation at school when not being able to understand what the teacher was talking about, or when having to put on a brave face and pretend they did not care? Perhaps some of these experiences did not have much of an impact or, do they lead as an adult, to feeling you always have to prove yourself, never feeling quite good enough, and not having sufficient qualifications to apply for jobs which

you believe you are capable of doing? Or does not having the desired level of literacy play an insignificant role in their feelings about themselves and their abilities? All these questions are part of the overall investigation of how it actually felt for the participants.

My particular interest in this area is because I can still remember being the child sitting at the back of the class with paper and crayons, who was told to draw pictures, while the teacher got on with teaching the children who had learnt to read. I remember the humiliation and frustration of two whole years of not understanding anything the teacher wrote on the board, or what the other children were writing. I was not able to read. I did not learn until my mother taught me to read at home when I was 7, when she realised I had been left behind at school. Then the world opened up for me, I could read, school became interesting, and I stopped feeling excluded from what was happening around me, however, the experience has left me with a lifelong deep-rooted feeling of inadequacy.

As a child who started school in the early 1960s, I was surprised, as an adult, to be teaching English language to adults who had been educated in subsequent decades and who had such similar experiences to mine. It struck me as a huge waste of opportunity that people had gone through school from the ages of five to 16 and yet could leave with a level of English which did not meet their needs and few, if any, qualifications. The adults I taught in the 1990s and 2000s were mostly aged between 20 – 40, but by the time I was teaching in the 2010s, I found that, at times, I was teaching their children, who

were still leaving school without qualifications. Talking to the students over the years I became aware that most of them felt ashamed that they had experienced problems with acquiring literacy and that they considered it was their fault they had struggled. It occurred to me that what I was seeing was possibly the tip of an iceberg and that there were likely to be many more people who had similar experiences. Thus, rather than just an analysis of the extent of the problem and a break-down of the numbers involved, this research aims to give a greater understanding of how the participants feel about their experiences and to provide them with an opportunity to offer their suggestions on how the situation could be improved. Thus, the research questions are designed to get to the heart of how it feels to have inadequate literacy.

#### 1.5 Research questions

All the participants had expressed disappointment with their educational experiences and were keen to take part in this research. In fact, they were pleased to be able to tell their stories and have an opportunity to really explain what had happened to them and how they felt. The research questions are as follows:

1. How does a small group of adults describe their experiences of learning GCSE English at school?

This question considers the participants' own views of how they learnt English and how they felt about the process.

2. How does a small group of adults explain the difficulties they faced with GCSE English at school?

The aim of this research question is to get the participants to reflect on the difficulties they had, and to discover at what point they were aware they were having problems and why they think that might have been.

- 3. In what ways do these early experiences shape later life experiences?
  This research question is designed to find out where the participants are in life at the moment, and where they wish they could have been, if they had better literacy.
- 4. What has been the motivation to return to education and study GCSE English?

The purpose of this question is to ascertain the drive behind returning to study and the reasons for it.

5. What are the participants' views on how the education system could be improved to avoid others having their experiences?

As the research focuses on the participants' experiences of learning GCSE English at school, this research question is designed to analyse the participants' specific experiences of what happened to them and how they have been affected by those experiences. It does this by asking them how they explain and make sense of the difficulties they faced.

#### 1.6 Methodology

# 1.6.1 The type of study

This study is a narrative inquiry which uses one-to-one interviews to explore how the participants describe their experiences of literacy acquisition and its effects on their lives. The research methods are designed to gain a greater understanding of how the participants see themselves as individuals and how they view their position within society (Bell 2006). I began the process by planning the research design using Robinson's (2014) four-point method of qualitative sampling. I used a convenience sample, that is, I enlisted people into the study who were predominantly local and easy to access, but a drawback of convenience sampling is that any data found cannot necessarily be generalisable. I selected all the prospective participants who met the criteria and who agreed to take part. My methodological approach is qualitative and it uses methods, such as semi-structured interviews, to portray and analyse the participants' own understanding of their experience. My ontological position is that I believe each person's reality is individual to them, since it can be argued that an individual's role in society is derived from and gives meaning to how they perceive the world (Grix, 2004). The epistemology is interpretivist and views meaning as arising from social situations.

#### 1.6.2 Data collection and analysis

The data was collected by carrying out a semi-structured, face-to-face narrative interview with 12 of the participants and telephone interviews with the three participants who live out of the area. All interviews took place at a time which was convenient for the interviewees and were either recorded electronically or by making written notes at the time. The interview questions

were designed so that the participants could talk freely about their experiences and what was important to them and to give them the opportunity to tell their stories. The information from the interviews formed the basis for the analysis of the research data.

# 1.7 The status of the findings and their significance

This research offers greater understanding of the life experiences of participants who have not reached their desired level of literacy. Literacy is not a fixed set of skills – it changes over time and people's requirements and choices are likely to change over time too (Burnett et al., 2015). However, I believe everyone has the right to, at least, a minimum level of literacy. Many of the students I taught found learning English problematic and often felt ashamed of, what they saw as, their own failings. This lack of self-worth can affect every area of life: family, education, social, work et cetera. The research highlights some of the reasons for literacy inequalities, offers some suggestions for change and also provides an opportunity for ordinary people to have their voices heard.

This thesis makes four original claims to knowledge, which are:

- 1 For the participants the emotional effects of having inadequate literacy do not just occur while they are at school, but last a lifetime
- 2 The participants became aware of problems with literacy when they are at secondary school
- 3 Even getting extra help at school did not necessarily help them very much because it could become a source of humiliation and shame

4 It was important for the participants to get support both at school and at home

#### 1.8 Areas for further research

The findings strongly suggest that it would be beneficial to carry out further research in a number of areas – particular areas to focus on are: early intervention in the education of children who are starting to fall behind or who are likely to do so; finding methods to teach English in more practical ways; looking into how many adults actually take part in schemes which aim to improve their learning; and investigating failings in the English education system.

# 1.8.1 Early intervention in the education of children

Research (COPE, 2017; Department for Education, 2015; EPPSE 3-16+, 2015; Field, 2010) has indicated that such early intervention is the best way to improve literacy levels and provide children with the literacy levels they need to get the qualifications that will enable them to have fulfilling careers and to live their lives with adequate literacy.

### 1.8.2 Teaching English in more practical ways

Teaching English in more practical ways seems to provide real benefits to students. It allows them to become more physically involved in what they were studying (Posner and Pantoine, 2009; Donnelly and Lambourne, 2011; Golding et al., 2016; Malvilidi et al., 2018). Such research has indicated that for many students a hands-on approach to learning is beneficial and

preferable to just sitting at a desk. More differentiated methods of teaching could be investigated to see what effect they have on the students.

1.8.3 Investigating the importance of targeted literacy intervention for adults

Being taught literacy in isolation may not be enough for adults to improve
their skills sufficiently as they may lack motivation because of negative
experiences at school and may not want to learn in a classroom setting. An
answer to this could be to offer literacy provision in places which are more
relevant to them, such as in the workplace. This should help identify and focus
on those who would benefit.

# 1.8.4 Weaknesses in the English education system

Many of the conversations with the participants suggest that there are particular weaknesses in the education system which should be dealt with. For example, the participants spoke of how they felt the system was not necessarily aware of their problems and so did not pay sufficient attention to their individual needs. Thus, it is important that those who are dissatisfied with the education they received have an opportunity to say how they think the education system could be improved. Whenever changes in the education system are proposed young people and adults should be asked for their opinions, as it is essential to ask those affected and not just depend on the views of policy makers.

### 1.9 Thesis structure

The thesis is divided into six chapters in total and this section provides an outline of the subsequent chapters.

Chapter 2 looks at the existing literature in this area and is in two sections.

The first section explores the definitions of literacy and on the numbers involved. This section shows how much of the literature is concerned with the technical aspects of defining and measuring literacy but there is little on the emotional effects on adults who lack adequate literacy. The second section of this chapter is concerned with the reasons adults can lack adequate literacy and describes the three theoretical lenses which inform this research.

Chapter 3 explains the methodology used in the thesis and gives an overview of the research design and an explanation of the choice of research questions. It then describes the type of study being carried out and explains in detail the decisions reached to arrive at the research design. It then goes on to describe how the data was collected and analysed. Finally, it covers the theoretical perspective used, and considers the ethical position.

Chapter 4 begins the discussion of the findings. It shows the ways in which the participants describe their experiences of learning GCSE English at school and the difficulties they faced, while also giving them the opportunity to explain why they think they had problems with learning.

Chapter 5 continues the discussion of the findings and explains the ways in which the participants have been affected by having insufficient literacy for

their needs and investigates what has motivated those who have returned to study. The final section of this chapter asks the participants to reflect on ways in which the education system could be improved so that others may avoid their experiences.

Chapter 6 is the conclusion which discusses how the findings answer the research questions. It clarifies the contribution this thesis has made to increasing knowledge in this area and how it fills in the gaps in the existing literature. It also offers some suggestions for further research in this area.

#### 2 Literature Review

#### 2.1 Introduction

This research is concerned with the experiences of adults who feel they do not have adequate literacy skills for their needs and, on the impact this has on their lives. There is a lot of literature on the way literacy is defined, the number of people involved and on how literacy levels are measured, but there is little literature on the ways in which individuals may be affected by the emotional aspects of a life with an inadequate level of literacy.

The chapter is divided into two main sections - the first section considers the ways literacy can be defined and measured. It begins by explaining the current definition of literacy used in England and then explores the existing literature on different definitions of literacy and demonstrates why literacy is important. It then looks at how approaches to literacy have varied historically and it also considers how the number of people affected by not having adequate literacy for their wants or needs is calculated. It shows that there is far less written about the emotional impact of literacy issues on adults, in comparison with the amount that has been written on the more technical matters of defining and measuring literacy. This establishes the need for this study, as there is a lack of literature regarding the emotional impact. Having discussed the different reasons behind the lack of literacy, the second section of this chapter then goes on to consider why the attempted current solutions have not been wholly adequate in getting to the root of the problem. It investigates different reasons behind why there have been, and still are,

problems in improving literacy. It offers alternative solutions to certain of the issues by outlining three theoretical lenses which inform this thesis.

# 2.2 What is literacy?

The current definition of literacy, from the website of the National Literacy Trust (2017a, What is literacy?), is that 'literacy is the ability to read, write, speak and listen in a way that lets us communicate effectively and make sense of the world'. I decided to use the definition above for this study, as I felt it was the most useful for the participants sinc it was the closest match to what they wanted to use literacy for. However, defining literacy is not completely straightforward, as no definition can be considered separately from its significance for individuals and society. The concept of literacy is created by society and its meaning changes over time depending on who is defining it, Rintaningrum (2009). It can be argued that literacy is not just an individual skill which a person may have, but also requires different kinds of knowledge about what is being read in order to have a context in which to understand it. This socio-cultural approach to literacy argues that becoming literate is not an isolated action but takes place within the wider social groups that an individual belongs to (Schieffelin and Ochs, 1986). Such groups have their owns ways of communicating and interacting and also their own value system. The literacy practices of a group are woven into the wider practices of their regular interaction and so cannot be seen in isolation (Gee, 1992).

Indeed, as the thesis shows, the participants (although none could be classified as lacking literacy entirely) had been considerably affected by

having a level of literacy which was not adequate for what they wanted or needed. In addition, as the National Literacy Trust (2017b) points out, thousands of children continue to complete their school education without the literacy skills necessary for getting a decent job, which reduces their ability to do well in life and the way in which they interact in society.

# 2.3 Why literacy is important

Not having the necessary literacy skills can have a negative impact on a person throughout their life (National Equality Panel, 2010; Field, 2010). The National Literacy Trust (2017a) points out that without adequate literacy a child will not be able to succeed at school, will not have full access to jobs, and as a parent, will not be able to support their own children in their education. This cycle has an effect on social mobility and makes it harder to achieve a more just society. A person with poor literacy skills may not be able to read newspapers, understand road signs or bus timetables, or fill in forms or use the internet. They may be unable to access a range of employment options, and this will limit their ability to take a full and active part in society. As the findings in the data analysis chapters show, literacy difficulties can have profoundly negative effects on adults' feelings of confidence and self-worth.

Research by the National Literacy Trust (2017a) on the importance of reading found the following: there are increased academic benefits the longer children keep enjoying reading, for example a keen reader at age 10 has a reading age 1.3 years higher than other children in their age group who do not enjoy

reading. The difference in reading ages is 2.1 years higher at age 12 and 3.3 years higher at 14. The research also showed that children who enjoy reading are generally happier and are three times more likely to have good mental health than children who do not like reading. Thus, many of the participants in this study were already at a disadvantage by the time they came to sit their GCSEs, if they had a below average reading age.

Hamilton and Pitt (2011) also highlighted the extent of the problem and used the term, *literacy inequalities*, to describe the position of those who make up around 10% of the UK population (Hamilton and Pitt, 2011, p.596). Few adults or young people leaving school are illiterate as such, but for 10% of the population their literacy skills are not adequate for the demands of everyday life and work. It is worth noting that it can be argued that what is regarded as literacy 'inequality' is dependent on who has the power to define what counts as literacy, and so 'inequality' is not a given but a construct (Street, 2011). The opinions of those receiving literacy are relevant because if they feel their literacy is inferior to formal literacy practices (as they have accepted the dominant view of what literacy is) then others have defined literacy and imposed inequality on them (Gorard et al., 1998; Duckworth, 2014). However, the figure of 10% takes no account of the feelings of those involved and any damage to their self-worth they may experience.

### 2.4 How approaches to literacy have changed over time from the 1940s.

This literature review begins with an overview of definitions of literacy and the number of people affected, in order to give an idea of the extent and nature of

the problem. I show how limited attempts to get to the root of the problem began in the 1940s but were only systematically organised into a workable solution in England, when the government's Department for Education and Skills published Skills for Life: *The national strategy for improving adult basic literacy and numeracy skills* (2001). This report summarised the extent of the problem and explained how the government would tackle it. I have emphasised the historical aspects of literacy to show how it had been such an insurmountable problem for many decades. Much of the existing literature in this area is, by its nature, descriptive both in terms of the numbers of people who lack a satisfactory level of literacy for their needs and on the levels of literacy they have reached (Barakat, 2016; Hamilton and Pitt, 2011; Robinson (2005), but it is difficult to find literature on the feelings adults may experience due to their initial, and on ongoing, literacy experiences. The chapter offers definitions of literacy over time to the present day and considers their importance.

#### 2.4.1 The historical position

Discussions about what literacy actually is have been examined at various times from the 1940s onwards (Brooks, 1997). Here I show how these definitions have developed and changed over time to the present day. Literacy was never seen as having a fixed, definite meaning but a concept which could change depending on who did the defining and the time period it occurred in.

Going back to the 1950s, Madge (1955) was asking whether it was necessary to have a specific standard of literacy and questioned the nature of a society

which demands a particular standard of literacy and asked: 'Who are 'we'? And what is 'society' which requires a given standard of literacy from its members?' (Madge, 1955, p.4). There was no general consensus about what literacy was or how it should be measured. Later, writing in 1994 about the situation in the 1970s, Withnall (1994), argued that literacy success may be defined in different ways and that it is necessary to consider what it means to be literate and how to measure levels of literacy. He referred to a conference, held by the British Association of Settlements (BAS) in 1973, which considered the importance of literacy and reflected on its meaning. BAS then published 'A Right to Read: Action for a Literate Britain' 1974 in Withnall (1994), which asserted the link between literacy, rights and active participation in society. The paper argued that in order to participate and exercise certain rights, such as to choose between alternatives and to solve problems, people need the basic skills of listening, talking, reading and writing. BAS promoted 'A Right to Read: Action for a Literate Britain' (1974) through the setting up of a larger group of interested people and this eventually became known as the National Committee for Adult Literacy (Withnall, 1994).

Writing in the 1970s, Kedney (1975) was also concerned about how literacy should be defined, and he argued that establishing a definition of literacy would need to take into account aspects of the nature of literacy both as a collection of learnt practices and as a tool to be used. Kedney (1975) devised the following classification of the type of statements used to define literacy, although he acknowledged that such definitions also had limitations. They are not precise or particularly detailed, but there appears to have been little else

available at that time.

- Statements which use quantitative terms, for example, in terms of years of schooling or levels of reading attainment.
- Statements based on needing literacy skills to carry out certain tasks
   expressed in either specific terms such as the ability to read newspapers or
   complete forms; or based on functional tasks expressed in general terms,
   such as being able to read and write for daily life.
- Statements concerned with an analysis of the operations involved in acquiring literacy skills, such as reading, or reading, writing and/or spelling.

By the 1970s literacy had come to be seen as necessary, both for the individual and for a country's economic growth and development, as it weakens a country's ability to compete economically (National Literacy Trust 2017b) and this led to the development of the concept of *functional literacy*. In 1978, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) gave this definition of functional literacy: 'A person is functionally literate who can engage in all those activities in which literacy is required for effective functioning of his group and community and also for enabling him to continue to use reading, writing and calculation for his own and the community's development' (Education For All Global Monitoring Report 2006, p.154).

I was surprised to find there was so little clear information about how literacy was defined and measured historically and how there was no precise

chronology. Not only was it difficult to establish a clear-cut definition of literacy, but it was not possible to discover how many people lacked adequate literacy and what level of intervention was needed. It was not until the late 1990s, that the British government acted decisively in order to determine the extent of the problem and to do something about it, by implementing a national policy (Skills for Life, 2001), which I pick up again later in section 2.8.

### 2.5 The number of people affected by not having adequate literacy

Attempting to determine the number of people affected by not having adequate literacy has been a long slow process to get to the present day and the literature shows how the process was long and involved. Historically attempts were made to estimate the number of people needing help with literacy, but it has always been difficult to assess accurately (Brooks, 1997). This was not helped by the fact that the samples taken of people studied tended to focus on the groups which were easiest to sample, such as school leavers, those in prison or army entrants, et cetera. It is necessary to be very cautious before generalising about the population as a whole as a result of these tests (Kedney, 1975). They were not standardised, or consistently applied and different criteria were used in the reading tests, which might vary from individual tests of word recognition or group tests of reading comprehension. There was also a considerable variation in ages and sexes taking part in the tests (Kedney, 1975), which again made it difficult to get an accurate picture of the situation. However, Kedney (1975) did point out that the samples of the adult population taken showed that between 10% to 30% of adults were classified as 'backward' readers, having a reading age of a nine to twelve-year-old and that, whatever

standard of literacy was used, other than complete illiteracy, there was a considerable problem. Brooks (1997) also commented that surveys of literacy skills have been carried out in the UK since 1948 and the main findings from them were that literacy levels had changed little from that time to the present day and that a significant proportion of the population have low literacy skills.

In 1999 the government determined to get a more accurate and definitive understanding of the extent of the problem and requested that Moser (a statistician) carry out a review of adult literacy in England. Moser (1999) found that approximately seven million adults (one in five of adults in England) were effectively illiterate in terms of their ability to function successfully in society and could not, for example, find the page reference for plumbers in an alphabetical directory. He compared the adult results with the reading levels of schoolchildren and concluded that this meant that one in five adults had less literacy than an 11-year-old child. I suggest that this does not account for the fact that adults have greater life experience than children and may well have found many ways to adapt to and overcome their problems of inadequate literacy. Moser acknowledged that the figures, although based on official surveys, were estimates but that, nevertheless, there was a significant problem (Moser, 1999). He published a simple table at that time (Table 2.1 below), giving the following example taken from the Office for National Statistics data in 1997, which showed a startlingly low rate of literacy in Britain, indicating that there had certainly not been any improvement in the problem since efforts were made to assess the extent of the problem in the 1940s. It was at this point that the government decided to act and published Skills for Life (2001).

Germany	12%
Canada	17%
Britain	23%

Adult Literacy in Britain, ONS, 1997 in Moser (1999, p.8)

<u>Table 2.1 Percentage of adults with low literacy 1997 (identical questions in all countries)</u>

The Skills for Life (2001) policy advocated the importance of measuring an individual's level of literacy precisely in order to be able to provide good support so, in addition to efforts to determine the numbers of those who lack adequate literacy, a system of levels was devised in England (which could be used with both children and adults) to determine the precise level of literacy an individual has reached has been devised by the National Literacy Trust (2017c). This classification is used as a national standard and is explained in 2.6.1 below.

# 2.6 How literacy levels are measured currently and how success and achievement in literacy are defined

The importance of an accurate way of measuring literacy is vital for determining the extent of effective intervention and the funding support necessary to bring any intervention about (Patrinos, 2016).

# 2.6.1 The way in which literacy is measured in England

Literacy can be measured in different ways although, whichever method of measuring literacy is used, a significant proportion of the population in England has literacy skills which are insufficient for its needs (Moser, 1999). In England adult literacy is usually measured using the framework formulated by the National Literacy Trust (2017c) which considers the levels of reading, writing and communication skills a person has achieved, which equate to the age at which a child is expected to reach that level. There are five levels which are:

- Entry Level 1 is equivalent to literacy levels at age 5-7. Adults below
   Entry Level 1 may not be able to write short messages to family or read a road sign.
- Entry Level 2 is equivalent to literacy levels at age 7-9. Adults with below Entry Level 2 may not be able to describe a child's symptoms to a doctor or read a label on a medicine bottle.
- Entry Level 3 is equivalent to literacy levels at age 9-11. Adults with skills below Entry Level 3 may not be able to understand labels on prepackaged food or understand household bills.
- Level 1 is equivalent to GCSE grades D-G. Adults with skills below
   Level 1 may not be able to read bus or train timetables or understand
   their pay slip.
- Level 2 is equivalent to GCSE grades A\*-C. Adults with skills below
   Level 2 may not have the skills to spot fake news or bias in the media,
   (National Literacy Trust (2017c).

The first section of this chapter examined the nature of literacy and established

that inadequate literacy is still a significant problem in England. Therefore, if there are clear definitions of what literacy is, a reasonably accurate idea of the number of people who do not have adequate literacy, and ways of measuring the levels people have reached, the only thing missing is a solution to the problem.

# 2.7 The reasons people may find themselves without adequate literacy for their needs

As explained in 2.8 below, the government believed the answer was going to be found by applying the remedies in their policy document *Skills for Life* (2001), but this has not happened as there are various issues involved which reduce the chances of adults accessing the literacy provision they need. Therefore, the following section explains different aspects of the challenges involved, in order to explore alternative ways of looking at adult literacy issues. It provides a foundation for considering solutions and does this by focusing particularly on the work of three theorists Sen, Bourdieu and Bernstein who each offer new approaches to looking at different aspects of the reasons behind having inadequate literacy. This section of the chapter considers the following reasons for a lack of adequate literacy:

- Lack of individual motivation
- The way a person is positioned in society
- How an individual may accept a lack of literacy as something to be tolerated
- The role of class inequality in accessing literacy

- The lasting effects on children when their attitude to school does not conform with what is expected of them
- The way in which literacy is taught
- How the type of language used affects a child's readiness for school

#### 2.8 Lack of individual motivation

As outlined above, the first attempt in the twenty-first century to offer a solution was Skills for Life (2001). In this document David Blunkett, the Secretary of State for Education and Employment, wrote 'We are tackling underachievement in schools. Today children are reading, writing and using numbers better than at any time in the past. Adults must be able to make the same progress. Our mission is to give all adults in England the opportunity to acquire the skills for active participation in twenty-first century society and to engage their energy and commitment ...' Skills for Life (2001, p.4). Thus, the government had put a strategy in place which would finally tackle the inequity of literacy deficit. However, when a review of Skills for Life (2001) was carried out in 2008 by the National Audit Office - Skills for Life: Progress in Improving Adult Literacy and Numeracy (2008) it discovered that since Skills for Life (2001) focused on improving qualifications, this had led to many people joining the courses who found them easy to complete. They were often people who had the necessary skills to be counted as literate but, did not have a certificate to prove it (2008, p.9). Fewer enrolled on the lower-level courses and many of those with poor literacy skills were the least likely to attend classes. The review considered the reasons people might not join the classes and found that they were generally not motivated by getting qualifications. Being a better parent

was the main reason they gave for returning to education to improve their skills, as they wanted to be able to help their children with homework, et cetera and to support them to succeed in life. The motivation was essentially personal and so without specific motivation they did not take up the opportunity to enrol in the classes. As explained below, this is demonstrated by Sen's concept of the capability approach: people want to be the best they can for a reason. If they have no reason to improve a skill, they can ignore that capability (Sen 2005).

Sen's theory of the capability approach (Sen, 2005) can be seen as offering a different way of viewing the issues concerning a lack of literacy as it shows the effects of inadequate literacy on the quality of a person's life and how their wider freedoms may be limited by an inability to fulfill educational goals and achievements (Maddox, 2008). The focus of the capability approach is on whether someone may choose to do something and also whether they are actually in a position (have the capability) to act. It can also be used as a basis on which to examine how a lack of capabilities causes adults to experience the effects of literacy inequalities. The theory goes to the heart of the problem, since adults should have been able to acquire literacy as children and not be placed in the position, after the age of sixteen, where they are trying to make up the lost ground. Sen believes every person has the right to flourish and be the best they can be, and the capability approach argues that we should look at each person, not as a means to economic growth or social stability, but as an end in themselves.

He uses the concepts of 'functionings' and 'capabilities' to demonstrate the

difference between actual achievement and the freedom or opportunity to achieve. The concept of functionings concerns the various things a person may value doing or being, whereas capabilities are the actual opportunities or freedoms to achieve the things an individual considers to be valuable. Norwich (2014) clarifies this by explaining how the capability approach encompasses human progress on a global scale since its emphasis is on social justice which embrace different forms of diversity. Norwich writes: 'For Sen, a capability depends on a *functioning* which he defines as 'an achievement of a person: what she or he manages to do or to be' (Norwich, 2014, p.17). Therefore goods (or what Sen terms *commodities*) are the resources available to the person, which support them to enable functionings. Commodities need to be converted into functionings to be of use, so even if people have the right to the same resources, they need to be able to access them to gain equal benefit. If a person is less able to access the commodities this lack of ability will not enable functionings.

This distinction that Sen makes between functionings and capabilities emphasises the difference between the aspirations a person may have and the actions they may need to take to achieve them. Thus, this implies that people may have capabilities that they can choose not to use. This does, however, raise the question of how to account for the values that people place on the commodities which lead to functionings. Sen (2005) also points out that a functioning will not come about without the means to achieve it, so a person could have a right to be free from hunger, but this is of no use if they do not have any food. This is relevant to this research because, even if a child lives in

a country where there is a right to education, what Sen termed 'unfreedoms' can stop the child benefitting fully from receiving the education they are entitled to. The social and economic conditions into which a child is born and brought up are likely to determine whether or not the child has access to a suitable education.

For Sen education is a capability which allows people freedom to achieve the things (functionings) which are valuable to them. The capabilities approach helps to understand the way literacy affects well-being because seeing literacy as a functioning enables it to be viewed as a social practice, which embodies literate social identities. Sen argues that people need to have the agency and freedom to decide for themselves about the benefits of their education and to be able to convert what they want from their education into achievements that they value (Unterhalter, 2003). This highlights the importance of having sufficient literacy for your needs in order to be able to make choices (Wolff and de-Shalit, 2013). Therefore, if a child struggles with literacy when young, and the means to intervene and reduce any difficulties are not there, that child is likely to be left disadvantaged.

Thus, Sen (2008) advocates the importance of adult literacy provision both because it is of benefit in itself and also because it enhances people's capabilities. However, it has been argued that literacy capabilities indicate the set of functionings available in the future, as they are concerned with what a person might use literacy for (Maddox, 2008). Having both reasons can be seen as ambiguous since it raises the question of whether the function of

literacy is to provide benefits or whether it is a fundamental good (Sen, 2008). Nussbaum (2006) also endorses the capability approach but sees literacy as crucial for living a good life and lists it as one of her ten essential capabilities. Unlike Sen she views literacy as essential in itself and not necessarily because of the benefits it may bring. In her work Nussbaum takes a more humanities-based approach than Sen, in order to take into account individuals' hopes and motives rather than Sen's more empirical economics-based approach (Robyns, 2006). Both Sen and Nussbaum argue for the importance of sufficient adult literacy provision because having adequate literacy allows for people to have a fulfilling, worthwhile life and increase their capabilities. Education policies need to ensure that adult literacy provision is sufficient and provided effectively, as children may not have benefitted from school education and need to be placed in a position where they can overcome this (Maddox, 2008).

Using the capability approach allows for the assessment of equality of opportunity for people and not just access to resources. Tikly and Barrett (2011) suggest that Sen sees education as having an important role in income generation, satisfactory lifestyle, individual self-confidence and as having intrinsic worth as a capability in itself. It is therefore necessary to overcome the barriers to success that a child may encounter and be aware of the social practices which can cause those barriers. Only then can children access the educational resources they should have and convert them into capabilities and functionings. This concept sums up the situation of the participants in this research, who did not gain the capabilities they needed at school to achieve a level of literacy that would enable them to make many choices of career as

adults. They may then be positioned within society as a disadvantaged group from which it is difficult to escape (Nesbit et al., 2006). This situation is considered more fully in the next section.

# 2.9 The way a person is positioned in society

The way adult learners of literacy are positioned in society is indicative of the way they are viewed, that is, as a problem to be addressed (Nesbit et al., 2006). Ideally, adult education is seen as a means to improve disadvantages but, may unintentionally highlight the disadvantages without really improving them (Nesbit et al., 2006). This can lead to a situation where certain groups continue to be marginalised and their voices not heard. Research carried out by Rabušicová and Oplatková (2010) considered a hypothetical model of an adult who lacked adequate literacy skills. They concluded that their subject used coping strategies in their daily life and that not having adequate literacy skills meant it was only possible to access a limited choice of careers (van Bergen et al., 2016). Also, their lack of literacy skills caused them to avoid placing themselves in positions where they might fail. This situation may then be repeated by their children and grandchildren throughout the generations and thus, the cycle of inadequate literacy skills would be perpetuated (Boeren and Holford, 2016).

Bourdieu (1986) in considering this issue, took the approach of considering why certain adult learners are placed in a position where they can become trapped in a cycle of being unable to get what they want and need for success in life. His approach has similarities with Sen's as it concerns not having an

opportunity to access what someone wants or needs. It does, however, consider wider societal attitudes about who should profit from advantages in life. Certain groups in society, such as adult learners of literacy, have been viewed in different ways by societies which often allocate them roles as distinct 'types' to be classified in certain ways to suit the needs of society at a particular time (Collins and Blot cited in Cutler, 2006). The dominant policy view in society currently is that inequalities of opportunity cause an individual to have literacy deficit and that literacy deficit reinforces those inequalities of opportunity (Hamilton and Pitt, 2011).

Literacy inequality has often been seen in terms of socio-economic status, which assumes an unequal society where there is a disadvantaged group with literacy needs. Those adults are still constructed as a particular type of citizen within national policy documents in the UK (Brown, 2003; Dunne and Gazeley, 2008; Hamilton and Pitt, 2011) and, even though there has been higher educational achievement generally in recent decades, there has been little social mobility (Francis and Wong, 2013). *Skills for Life* (2001) had the effect of giving the impression that those with literacy inequalities were deficient in some way. The policy explicitly states it is designed to deliver: 'A prosperous and fair society, in which all individuals have an opportunity to fulfil their potential' (Skills for Life, 2001, paragraph 6), but then goes on to define the priority groups for literacy intervention as those who tend to have negative classifications for example, the unemployed, single parents, benefit claimants, the low-skilled, and prisoners et cetera. This has the effect of making it appear that the individuals in those categories have a duty to make the effort to

become literate rather than literacy being seen as an inherent right. The targeting of specific groups allows the government to both control and to support them. This underlines Bourdieu's (1986) concept of cultural capital which put forward the theory that, without the necessary cultural capital, certain groups can be put in a position where it is difficult for them to access what should be theirs by right. Bourdieu used the concept of cultural capital to explain how the unequal educational achievement of children from different social classes is due to the way cultural capital is distributed between classes.

Cultural capital has three forms: embodied, objectified, and institutionalised (Bourdieu, 1986). Embodied cultural capital is the knowledge that is gained over time through socialisation and this includes linguistic cultural capital; objectified cultural capital which are the cultural goods, such as books, pictures, instruments, which can be sold for economic profit and which suggest the owner's cultural capital; and institutionalised cultural capital which is formal recognition of someone's cultural capital, such as academic awards or professional qualifications. The importance of the effect of the unequal distribution of cultural capital goes against the idea that academic success is a result of natural ability and Bourdieu (1986) stated that it is the dissemination of cultural capital in the home from the start of socialisation which determines educational achievement. The education system contributes to the reproduction of the social structure by endorsing the inherited cultural capital of certain students. Academic 'ability' and 'talent' are actually the result of the cultural capital invested by the family which leads to the child being able to benefit from education. Cultural capital may be acquired unconsciously, but it always

remains recognisable through its earliest origins. These more or less obvious features it passes on (such as the particular pronunciations characteristic of a class or region), help to give it its value. Bourdieu (1986) argued that any sought-after cultural competence leads to it having a value because of its rarity and this then leads to the holder having access to material and symbolic profits, that is, both in financial and status terms. Children from families who have strong cultural capital have the advantage of being able to accumulate it straightaway from birth. They have the opportunity to have a lengthy time period to acquire the cultural capital free from the need to start earning money at the earliest opportunity. By not having the economic and cultural capital to enhance and extend their child's education beyond the minimum, the child, when it reaches adulthood, is fated to enter the labour market at a low level and only have access to low paid and low status jobs (Bourdieu, 1986).

Bourdieu's concept of cultural capital may nonetheless, be challenged, as it can be argued that, as access to qualifications has increased, there is greater competition for jobs and it has become more difficult for the middle class to use their cultural capital in ways which give them the advantage over others (Brown et al., 2014). This then questions the importance of the relationship between cultural capital and economic success in the present day because of the changes in class composition (especially the expansion of the middle classes) and the opening up of higher education.

2.10 How an individual may accept a lack of literacy as something to be tolerated

However, the individual who only has access to low paid and low status jobs may accept their situation as inevitable and unalterable. The literature suggests that there is also a strong link between problems accessing literacy and acceptance of other forms of inequality (Flemmen, 2013; Sullivan, 2001). It appears that those who have problems accessing literacy often find themselves in a position (from the start of school onwards) where, although highly aware that their literacy skills are behind those of their peers, they accept the inequality as something they have to put up with (Bourdieu, 1986). They do not challenge the status quo because of the entrenched behaviours and practices they have acquired through their life experience, what Bourdieu (1986) calls habitus. Habitus is an important part of social reproduction, which allows the reproduction of social inequalities through the generations, as it plays a central role in governing the practices making up societal relationships (Brown et al., 2014).

The way in which people live is a reflection of those relationships and the surroundings they live in. People are predisposed to what they are exposed to and thus their cultural and social preferences are influenced by what is available to them Bourdieu (1986). A society's class structure is influenced by the distribution of different forms of capital, economic, cultural and social and the relationships between them. Thus, an individual's position in society is related to their different cultural tastes, preferences and viewpoints and these differences and inequalities can form the bases for the formation of classes (Flemmen, 2013). As Sullivan (2001) explains, having familiarity with the dominant culture, and especially being able to use and understand the type of

sophisticated language used in education, gives automatic advantages. One of the most effective ways of continuing the class structure in a society is through education because education acts both to justify and to reinforce the existing social structure. Education has a strong influence on the way someone develops both as an individual and socially (Nesbit et al., 2006). The extent to which people in society possess cultural capital differs, but it is taken for granted within the education system. This results in the children who have the most valued cultural capital in a society being able to succeed at school because they know how they are expected to act (Sullivan 2001). Whether or not a person is successful in terms of education, employment and social status is highly dependent on their social class but, as argued by Nesbit et al., (2006), class is difficult to define, and it is only by looking at the effects it has on people that it can be analysed and categorised.

#### 2.11 The role of class inequality in accessing literacy

Because certain groups are excluded from the decision-making processes in education, they are unable to decide what the goals of education should be.

These goals are influenced by social class and control how and where education is delivered and who participates in it (Nesbit et al., 2006). Research carried out by the Sutton Trust and the Social Mobility Commission (2019) reinforces the importance of class, as it reported that social mobility in the UK is low and is not improving. The report looked at the backgrounds of more than 5000 people in important and influential positions in society. It found that these positions are dominated by the 7% of the population who attend independent schools, and the approximately 1% who graduate from Oxford and Cambridge

universities. The report found that:

- Two fifths (39%) of the elite group as a whole were privately educated,
   more than five times as many as the population at large, while a quarter
   (24%) had graduated from Oxbridge.
- Politics, the media, and public service all show high proportions of privately educated in their number, including 65% of senior judges, 59% of civil service permanent secretaries and 57% of the House of Lords.
- Thirty-nine per cent (39%) of the cabinet were independently educated,
   in stark contrast with the shadow cabinet, of which just 9% attended a private school.
- Findings reveal a 'pipeline' from independent schools through Oxbridge and into top jobs. An average of 17% across all top jobs came through this pathway, but this figure rises as high as 52% of senior judges, and one third of regular newspaper columnists.
- Sport (particularly football), the arts and local government were areas
  with the lowest numbers of those coming from socially exclusive
  educational institutions, (Sutton Trust and the Social Mobility
  Commission, 2019, *Elitist Britain*, report overview p.1).

These figures give some indication of the significance and importance of the roles played by the privately educated within society. The report argued that encouraging social diversity would enable everyone, not just a small minority, to use their skills for the benefit of society and, in order to do this, various forms of positive discrimination would allow a more level playing field. It recommended that employers should collect information on the socio-economic background of their employees, as they already do on gender and ethnicity, to monitor the situation. They should also be aware of candidates who come from disadvantaged backgrounds and make allowances for that. Employers should be mindful of any barriers to progression within their organisation and best practice should be shared. At the same time, it is necessary to prevent financial barriers to entry to certain careers and so unpaid internships or very low wages have to be examined. The report also suggested that universities should contextualise admissions to recognise the applicants' different situations and that high performing schools should admit more children from lower socioeconomic backgrounds. Comprehensive careers advice from well qualified advisers was also considered vital for the benefit of young people (Sutton Trust and the Social Mobility Commission 2019).

Such social and educational inequality are shaped by what Francis and Wong (2013) term, material and social capital. Material capital being the means to pay for enhanced educational opportunities over those of state education, such as private schooling or tuition, educational resources, the financial means to move into the catchment areas of good schools et cetera. Social capital means both having an understanding of what is needed to support a child through the

education system and having the confidence to negotiate it. It also means having networks and connections to others who can offer support such as internships. Whether or not a child's family has access to these capitals can make a vast difference to the child's life chances. There are other reasons for the socio-economic gap, such as gender, ethnicity, et cetera, and these may all interact to affect attainment, but they mostly relate to matters of material and social capital and the way these interrelate with the organisation of the education system. However, a child's socio-economic background is the main predictor of achievement (Francis and Wong, 2013). They give the example of a working-class child starting school who is already behind the middle-class children: the child may struggle to keep up and soon sees themselves as not as good as the others, which may affect their whole future learning and aspirations. In order to benefit from the school curriculum children need to have sufficient literacy and numeracy, but about one fifth of children fail to reach level 2 in literacy and numeracy (Clifton and Cook, 2012). Poor literacy skills affect the capacity to succeed in all subjects and there needs to be a concerted effort in primary schools to ensure children have a basic proficiency in literacy before they start secondary school (Cassen and Kingdon, 2007).

This educational inequality starts in the first years of a child's life; the existing social and financial environment into which they are born affects how they develop and how ready they are for school (National Equality Panel, 2010; Field, 2010). Children in the UK from the poorest one fifth of families are on average already 11.1 months behind those children from middle income families in vocabulary tests by age 5, when they start school (Waldfogel and

Washbrook, 2010). Family characteristics are strong predicators of exam success and the greatest influence on GCSE scores is the qualification levels the parents (especially mothers) have achieved (Waldfogel and Washbrook, 2010). Socio-economic status and family income were found to be important, but not as important as parental education (Waldfogel and Washbrook, 2010). However, socio-economic status was still found to be highly important in exam results, since students from poorer families achieved lower GCSE grades in English and maths than those better-off families; those living in poorer areas had more anti-social behaviour; and family was the main source of guidance for students deciding what path to take post-16 (Effective pre-school, primary and secondary education project, EPPSE 3 -16+, 2015). Children who were encouraged by their parents to take part in extracurricular learning had greater success generally (EPPSE 3 -16+, 2015). Thus, unequal learning opportunities are there at birth and often increase as a child grows up. Differences in families' abilities to help their children (such as getting them into good schools) affect the children's achievements. Children from higher income families generally gain better skills at reading and problem-solving and are more likely to complete post compulsory education (COPE, 2017).

In the UK the concept of social mobility supposes that people may move up or down within society depending on what they have accomplished and therefore any existing inequality is based on merit (Morrison, 2018). Thus, in the ideal meritocracy, society benefits from a system where people take up employment which is suited to their ability. Those deemed less able will take the less-skilled jobs and those deemed most able take the highly skilled, influential jobs.

People can move up or down depending on their achievements or lack of them. Even in the light of changes in class and the growth of access to higher education in the UK (Reay, 2004) social inequality has increased while social mobility has reduced, and the reason for this is the extent of the deprivation of those from low socio-economic groups compared to the considerable privilege of those from higher socio-economic groups (Francis and Wong, 2013). The education system is meant to prepare young people with the knowledge and abilities they need to be productive members of society and the workforce (*Skills for Life,* 2001) but children themselves may be disinclined to conform to what school expects of them.

# 2.12 The lasting effects on children when their attitude to school does not conform with what is expected of them

A factor influencing the extent to which children do well in the school environment is their attitude towards it. A study of working-class boys found that they had no interest in school and did not intend to put any effort into their time there, as they expected to get jobs in areas of work which did not need qualifications (Willis, 1978). Their identity was bound up with showing that they did not care about school, as it had no relevance to their lives (Willis, 1978). Research has also shown how not only did the boys' laddish behaviour make them appear cool, but the behaviour was a way of dealing with any possible failure so that, if they actually failed, they would not lose face (Jackson, 2006).

In a study of how boys see themselves, Frosh et al., (2001) found that, generally, boys could not be both popular and do well academically. Further

research has been carried out to investigate why some children respond to the school system better than others, such as that of Smith and Wilhelm, reviewed in McGlinn (2003), who carried out a study on teenage boys' use of literacy and found that boys like activities which they can be successful at and also that social relationships are very important in the way that they act. The researchers found that the boys had different ways of being literate, but all valued reading and school education for their significance in the future. They spoke with enthusiasm of their music, sport, hobbies and art, but they saw reading at school as a task that had to be carried out to get on in life. Also, the boys distinguished between different forms of literacy: literacy at school, which they did not feel competent doing and literacy at home, which was immediate and dealt with the present. Literacy at school was seen as something to be used in the future and as a means to an end, but it had no connection to their current lives. Literacy at home was seen as something for the here and now and so the boys read at home with a goal in mind. When they found what they wanted in a text they felt competent and were often supported in their reading by their friends, who shared information and resources (Smith and Wilhelm, reviewed in McGlinn, 2003).

These social relationships influenced the boys' choice of reading material, as they wanted to read books recommended by their friends which they could discuss together. Unlike the literature they had to read at school, what they read socially was not viewed as something to be studied for some obscure reason but had a purpose. Smith and Wilhelm, reviewed in McGlinn, (2003) argue that all students (male and female) want to be involved in the type of

learning that means something to them and so schools should reflect this to achieve better outcomes for the students. In addition, research (Zarrett et al., 2009; Fraser-Thomas and Côté, 2009; Gadbois et al., 2019) stressed the importance for students' development of the group interaction which occurred in certain non-academic lessons. This has implications for literacy as it is vitally important to find ways for young people to be fully engaged in their learning.

# 2.13 The way in which literacy is often taught

# 2.13.1 Combining literacy with physical activity

Combining literacy with physical activity may offer a solution to the way literacy is often taught, but the underlying problem is that literacy is too often taught in isolation in the curriculum. If it were delivered in the wider curriculum, it may be of much greater benefit for students. The idea of combining literacy with other activities is linked to research which has found that sport, like literacy, is generally seen as a discrete subject which is taught separately. A series of studies carried out in primary schools in the USA explored the relationship between physical activity, body mass index and academic achievement (Donnelly and Lambourne, 2011). The studies found that taking short breaks for some type of physical activity in academic lessons led to positive changes in classroom behaviour, such as increased attention to academic work, greater time spent on the work and better concentration. The studies suggest a link between physical activity, academic achievement and cognitive function and did not find any evidence that increased physical activity at school decreases academic performance or achievement (Donnelly and Lambourne, 2011).

It can be argued that, as less time is devoted to physical education due to the demands of the academic curriculum, students spend more time in the classroom which could allow them the opportunity to increase their physical activity in that setting (Donnelly and Lambourne, 2011). Other research has shown that taking part in regular physical activity can have considerable cognitive and intellectual benefits for young people and is considered beneficial for their physical and mental health (Mavilidi et al., 2018). Yet in schools, physical activity and intellectual activity are usually viewed as unrelated activities, although Mavilidi et al. (2018) suggest it would be possible to integrate physical activities into academic settings and so improve educational practice. This echoes the results of a 2016 study by Golding et al., into whether dance classes at school accelerated learning found that movement helped cognitive development and that developing physically has a link to the development of the brain. The study found that enjoying the lessons plus the multi-sensory nature of the activities played a part in the children having positive learning outcomes and recommends that dance and movement activity be part of an integrated curriculum. There are potential benefits for dance to improve attainment levels because of the time and concentration necessary and that this has particular relevance as arts provision has been reduced in the core curriculum (Golding et al., 2016; Posner and Pantoine, 2009).

It is not just physical activity which is valuable for improving meaningful learning but also the social relationships which develop at school, and these social relationships also play a large part in particular areas of learning (Zarrett et al. 2009). Research found that these areas of learning were in physical or creative activities such as sport, music, drama, dance and art. A study by Zarrett et al. (2009) looked at the psychological effects on a group of young people who were taking part in various non-academic activities. The students all described how the activities promoted social interaction and had a positive emotional impact, such as a reduction in stress and an increase in self-confidence and self-esteem. Other subject areas were looked at and researchers, such as Gadbois et al. (2019), found that being involved in sport, in particular, has more positive outcomes than not being involved and Zarrett et al. (2009) talked of how involvement in sport was more strongly linked to developing competence and character. Research also found that young people's involvement in sport enabled the growth of many positive developmental skills, such as meaningful adult and peer relationships, initiative, challenge, and a sense of community (Fraser-Thomas and Côté, 2009). This suggests that a different, less formal, approach to teaching literacy could lead to an increase in enthusiasm for studying the subject and, in fact, formal education could be integrated into more informal ways of learning.

A study was carried out of an after-school programme for teenagers which explored whether learning through play could be as successful for their age group as it is in early childhood education (Honeyford and Boyd, 2015) The programme found that creative, visual play had significant implications for teenagers' literacy practices. The students were encouraged to develop their literacy practices through the use of multiple media, such as advertisements,

realia, texts, film, art, music and drama. The students were involved in the design of the project and how the learning goals would be achieved, and they worked collaboratively interacting with each other. The researchers found that opening up the classroom to multiple literacies, combined with the active involvement of the students, allowed literacy to be supported and valued. They argued that what tends to happen in schools is that there is little time or space for such activity and the focus of the curriculum is on acquiring skills such as the decoding and comprehension of selected texts with a particular vocabulary and structure.

Rather than using simplified texts, literacy needs to be expanded into creative and critical spaces where students can play, experiment, and learn using rich materials and texts (Honeyford and Boyd, 2015). The way in which English is taught is often largely desk bound and not physical enough for students who prefer a more hands-on approach. The research carried out has shown how taking part in physically active subjects such as sport, art, music, dance and drama can have cognitive and intellectual benefits and improve attainment in all subjects (Golding et al. 2016; Posner and Pantoine, 2009; Malvilidi et al. 2018; Donnelly and Lambourne 2011). Thus, how literacy provision is delivered needs to take account of the differences between the children being taught.

2.13.2 The importance of early intervention in literacy provision

It has been found that to improve their chances, investment in human capital for all children before the age of five seems to have long-lasting and positive effects (Goodman and Sianesi, 2005). Early education leads to improvements

in cognitive tests, including both maths and reading at age seven; these effects diminish in size but remain significant throughout the schooling years up to age 16 (Goodman and Sianesi (2005). In comparison, research suggests that most North American students who start school significantly behind their peers can never close the gap and in fact, the gap tends to widen as they move through school (Goodman and Sianesi, 2005). (Lee and Burkman, in Engle and Black, 2008) found that children from very low-income families have lower cognitive and academic performance and more behavior problems than children who are not exposed to poverty, partly because of a lack of stimulating behaviors and home experiences among poor families. They emphasise (p.244) that 'School readiness has been shown to be predictive of virtually every educational benchmark (e.g., achievement test scores, grade retention, special education placement, etc). The consequences of early school failure are increased likelihood of truancy, drop out, and unhealthy or delinquent behaviors' (Lee and Burkman, in Engle and Black, 2008). Thus, early years' education appears to be vital in helping to escape a cycle of poverty and I suggest that some children are disadvantaged in the school situation from the beginning and that if they begin behind, or fall behind, they are likely to stay there if there is no intervention. This then limits their life chances to have a fulfilling and well-paid career as they are not able to have the capabilities to do so (Sen, 2005).

A UK government policy on childcare and early education states: 'Providing children with good-quality education and care in their earliest years can help them succeed at school and later in life. This contributes to creating a society where opportunities are equal regardless of background' (Department for

Education, 2015, p.1). This echoes Field's report on poverty and life chances (Field, 2010) which found overwhelming evidence that children's life chances are determined by their development in the first five years of life. The report concluded that if a child has a supportive family background, parental education, good parenting and opportunities for learning and development in the early years it will have a greater significance to children in achieving their potential in life than money does. This reinforces the argument made by Bourdieu (1986) that the way cultural capital is distributed between classes leads to children having unequal educational achievement and they may thus be unable to access the rewards that society can confer on others.

One particular area where cultural capital may be noticeably inadequate is that of language use, as language which is deemed inadequate in some way can have a profound effect (Bernstein, 1960). Differences in language ability affect both how a child is able to participate in the taught curriculum and how comfortable they feel in the school environment, (Bernstein, 1960). He was instrumental in changing the way the significance of language was viewed (Denzin 1975; Nash 2006). Thus, children's early experiences influence the extent to which they identify with the school system and may also influence how teachers perceive the children themselves and their abilities (Hamel, 2003). The subject of language use, demonstrates the difficulties a child may face if their language is different from the accepted norm. If they lack the requisite cultural capital to fit in with the school environment, they may find themselves alienated from the culture of the school.

2.14 How the type of language used affects a child's readiness for school Different groups in society may use language differently from each other and this can affect how they are perceived and treated (Bernstein 1958; 1971). He argued that there are two types of language: a *formal* language and a more simplified *public* language. A *formal* language uses standard English with complex sentence structures and greater vocabulary, and it does not use informal, casual language. It is the language of governance and authority, however, certain groups in society use a *public* language. These groups, such as unskilled and semi-skilled workers, criminal subcultures, rural groups and teenagers, may find it hard to gain full access to certain parts of society and this limit to access may begin from the moment they start school. The differences in speech types are most noticeable where there is the largest variance in socio-economic status. Our society sets great importance by what people do for a living and their economic status, so the effects of language are highly significant. Such language is characterised by:

- 1. Short, grammatically simple, often unfinished sentences, a poor syntactical construction with a verbal form stressing the active mood.
- 2. Simple and repetitive use of conjunctions (so, then, and, because).
- 3. Frequent use of short commands and questions.
- 4. Rigid and limited use of adjectives and adverbs.
- 5. Infrequent use of impersonal pronouns as subjects (one, it).
- 6. Statements formulated as implicit questions which set up a sympathetic circularity,
- e.g. 'Just fancy?', 'It's only natural, isn't it?' 'I wouldn't have believed it.'

- 7. A statement of fact is often used as both a reason and a conclusion, or more accurately, the reason and conclusion are confounded to produce a categoric statement, e.g. 'Do as I tell you', 'Hold on tight', 'You're not going out', 'Lay off that'.
- 8. Individual selection from a group of idiomatic phrases will frequently be found.
- 9. Symbolism is of a low order of generality.
- 10. The individual qualification is implicit in the sentence structure; therefore it is a language of implicit meaning (Bernstein 2010, p.53).

These different elements interact in *public* language and allow verbal responses to experiences that are appropriate within a particular social group. Thus, it may appear that the vocabulary used is limited, but this is because the user is consciously or unconsciously reacting to their experience. Depending on their social group the speaker may use only a *public* language or may have access to both a *public* language and a *formal* language. Language is an important way of reinforcing ways of thinking and behaving which are associated with the user's social group. Certain ideas are enabled by the language used and a *public* language is identified by the form of the language or the way it is used, rather than the actual vocabulary used (Bernstein, 2006, 2010). A *public* language does not have to have a common vocabulary but does have a common linguistic style within its group, for example particular dialects. Language is one of the main ways of reinforcing thoughts, feelings and behaviour which are related to the social group. It does not in itself limit the communication of particular ideas, but it means that certain ideas are more

valued than others and thus the language used encourages development in a specific way.

The problem with a *public* language from a literacy acquisition point of view is that it does not fit with the mainstream way of teaching which uses formal language as using short, simple sentences does not help with the communication of ideas which need to be expressed precisely and may affect the length and type of finished idea (Bernstein, 2010). The use of inappropriate verb tenses and vocabulary (nouns et cetera) may make meaning unclear and if an individual has never learnt another way of speaking or thinking they may be unaware that their speech is not precise enough to convey the meaning they want to convey. If an attempt is made to impose a formal language on the speaker, they will try to reduce the formal language to their public language. They may feel a formal language is unnecessary, irrelevant or confusing. Since the *public* language has a limited vocabulary with simple sentence constructions, it tends to emphasise things rather than processes and this then affects the nature of the completed thought (Bernstein, 1971, 2010). Using a public language to explain what the speaker wishes to say may lead to them not being able to describe adequately to the listener what they want to say. because a *public* language has implicit meanings rather than just spoken ones. A public language allows immediate communication by the use of simple language construction and this may then limit the user to descriptive thoughts rather than analytical ones. Whereas a formal language allows for subjective meanings to be explained verbally and made clear. A *public* language reinforces the identity of the group using it and may have the effect of excluding

the user from other groups which have a different type of language.

The form of language a child learns is reinforced by a mixture of their environment, surroundings and family (as described in Bourdieu's concept of habitus) as soon as they start to speak Bernstein, 2010). This linguistic form influences what is learnt and also influences future learning and behaviour. Language is intrinsically part of the social structure and the social structure is part of an individual's experience. Trying to change an individual's language from *public* to *formal* means imposing a different type of language, often more impersonal and logical than a more simple, *public* language, which may have the effect of cutting an individual off from their established relationships (Bernstein, 2010). There needs to be a way to keep *public* language, but to find a means for an individual to use formal language since society places a greater value on it. Changing their language use may mean that the user has to change the way they relate to others and how they see themselves. What it means to use a particular form of language is likely to have been reinforced from before the beginning of speech. Once a child has become familiar with a particular type of language it is continually reinforced, and this influences what is learnt and how it is learnt and so the user's own experience of how language is used affects their relationship to the social structure. To try and impose a formal language can isolate the individual from their established social relationships, as the form of language used affects the nature of those relationships and their own view of themselves (Bernstein, 1971, 2010).

Bernstein argued that seeing certain children as lacking in some way takes

attention away from any failings in the school and puts those failings on to the child. If the child is labelled as linguistically or culturally deprived, it reflects on their parents too (Bernstein, 1971, 2010). What is important to the child and their family outside school is reduced in value and teachers have lower expectations of the child. The child is expected to behave in the way the school expects and so, when at school, has to leave their social identity behind. Although Bernstein's theories are a valuable way of describing the situations a child can find themselves in, they do not in themselves offer solutions and have been challenged by other theorists such as Sadovnik (1991), who argued that it is necessary to examine the relationship between the social class composition of schools, their teaching practices and how these relate to social class advantages. In order to do so he advocates constructing a model to see how the current practices could be used to bring about social change. Nash (2006) stated that Bernstein's theories must be examined critically, particularly with regard to how inequality of educational opportunity arises. Denzin (1975) argued that Bernstein did not take account of the situated elements of speech, that is how people act in response to the changing situations in which they find themselves. It does not show how children from varying class backgrounds accept and adapt to the social world of school and their position in it.

# 2.15 Chapter conclusion

The aim of this research is to study the effects of literacy inequalities on a group of adults who did not achieve their desired level of literacy at school in order to have a deeper understanding of what the participants experienced.

After an examination of the literature, this review offers an alternative way of

looking at the literature regarding adult literacy and it argues that the emotional effects on adults of not having adequate literacy for their wants and needs may often be overlooked. This literature review does this by beginning, in the first section, with a standard overview of definitions of literacy, the numbers affected by not having adequate literacy and how literacy levels are measured. It maintains that the current literature is more focused on the technical aspects of the numbers and measurements involved, rather than the emotional effects of living a life without having adequate literacy and that there is a gap in the literature in this area. In the second section, the review considers the reasons adults may find themselves having inadequate literacy and focuses particularly on the research of three theorists, Sen, Bourdieu and Bernstein, who each offer alternative and, to some extent, complementary theories of how literacy difficulties can affect adults.

The methodology was designed to investigate the emotional impact on a group of adults of a life without adequate literacy. The literature review provides a framework for the data obtained to be integrated into the existing knowledge in this area and to present a greater understanding of the participants' experiences. It is centered around the research of three theorists: Sen, Bourdieu and Bernstein who, I believe, encapsulate many of the reasons for, and the possible solutions to, a lack of literacy. In summary, Sen is concerned with the individual and how their personal freedoms are affected by not having adequate literacy. Bernstein emphasises the importance of family, school and the immediate social setting for language development and class position, whereas Bourdieu concentrates on the wider society and how habitus

influences peoples' outcomes in life. Thus, I was able to consider alternative ways of viewing the issue of adult literacy which offer insights into the nature of the problem. In these ways the literature review contributes to meeting the gap in the literature in this area.

# 3 Methodology

#### 3.1 Research overview

This study examines the life experiences of two groups of adults educated wholly or partly in English states schools, who have left school without reaching the level of literacy they would have liked to have reached. It asks in what ways, if at all, have their feelings about themselves been affected by any perceived lack of literacy as they have gone through life. It also asks those who have returned to education to take GCSE English, why they are motivated to do so. It then invites them for their thoughts on how the education system could be improved. This is an in-depth qualitative study which allows me to examine their experiences in detail.

Those included in the study population had either failed to pass GCSE English at school or, if they had passed, had voiced disappointment and dissatisfaction with their experience of learning English at school. Thus, although the groups could be divided into those who had passed GCSE English and those who had not, both groups were united in their emotional experiences. This gave a richer selection of participants as all had been deeply affected by their experiences.

I conducted one-to-one interviews with the two groups: one a group of post-16 students who attend GCSE English language classes at a further education college in England and the other a group who, although most had passed GCSE English at some point (either during or after compulsory education),

were dissatisfied with their school experience. The literacy level of the students attending the classes at the college has been assessed as being below Level 2, which is equivalent to GCSE English language grade C/grade 4 (that is, a pass).

	Name (pseudonym)	Age range: 17-29	Age range: 30-39	Age range: 40-59	Age range: 60+	Gender	GCSE English passed at school	Occupationa I category (as determined by parental occupation)
1	Debbie	Χ				F	No	5-9
2	Anna	Χ				F	No	5-9
3	Thalia		Χ			F	No	5-9
4	Stevie			Χ		F	No	5-9
5	Marie	Χ				F	No	5-9
6	Mia	Χ				F	No	1-4
7	Rachel			Χ		F	No	5-9
8	Leon	Χ				М	No	5-9
9	Jane				Χ	F	No	5-9
10	Claire		Χ			F	Yes	5-9
11	Julie		·	Χ	·	F	Yes	5-9
12	Joe		Χ			М	Yes	5-9
13	Dale		Χ		·	M	Yes	5-9
14	Stuart	Χ			-	M	Yes	5-9
15	Toby	Χ				М	Yes	5-9

# Table 3.1 The participants

The final column, which shows occupational category, uses The Office for National Statistics (ONS) classification system for categorising occupations, which it ranks from 1 to 9 as follows:

- 1. Managers, directors and senior officials
- 2. Professional occupations
- 3. Associate professional and technical occupations
- 4. Administrative and secretarial occupations

- 5. Skilled trades occupations
- 6. Caring, leisure and other service occupations
- 7. Sales and customer service occupations
- 8. Process, plant and machine operatives
- 9. Elementary occupations

(Office for National Statistics, 2010).

# 3.2 Research questions

An explanation of the research questions and the reasons for their choice may be found in the introduction on page 7, point 1.5.

# 3.3 The type of study

This study is a narrative inquiry which uses participant interviews to investigate how the participants felt about their experiences of literacy acquisition and its effects on their lives. I used semi-structured narrative interviews as they allow a relationship between the researcher and the participant to develop rather than the participant being expected to answer rigid predetermined questions. I avoided a primarily dialogic approach because I felt my personal knowledge, having shared some of their experiences as a child, could intrude into conversations, whereas I was consciously being empathic, but as neutral as possible, as it was the participants' stories I wanted to record. I did not want to take the approach of an active interviewer by introducing any elements which could challenge what they told me. I wanted them to feel I accepted and valued what they said.

The research methods are designed to gain a greater understanding of how the participants see themselves as individuals and how they view their position within society (Bell 2006). The questions use qualitative methods as the research is of a broadly subjective nature, for, as Bell (2006 p.5) says: 'Researchers adopting a qualitative perspective are more concerned to understand individuals' perceptions of the world. They doubt whether social 'facts' exist.' I want to learn more about the effects on an individual who has not achieved the level of literacy they wanted or needed by the time they left school. I am interested in how this affects their perceptions of themselves and their position within society and whether they feel their life could have taken a different course if circumstances had been different.

As the study uses a convenience sample based on participants who meet the required profile it allowed the selection of participants who were available to take part but is not specifically representative of a group (Frey 2018). The advantages of convenience sampling are practical in that it does not necessarily require a large study population and it has benefits with regard to travel, cost, and time, as the participants can be geographically close and can be accessed quickly and easily. The disadvantages of such a sample are that its characteristics, such as the participants' age or socioeconomic level, may be different from the whole population. Further, since the participants had already been told of the nature of the research before I interviewed them and they had agreed to speak to me, it is likely they had distinct views on the topic rather than if they had been selected at random.

The research is based on a small-scale qualitative study whose objective is to capture the voices of the participants so that they can tell their particular stories of what it was like for them to experience literacy inequalities and this is the value to research, as the findings challenge teaching practices and educational thinking for developing learning.

# 3.4 The research design

The design uses the four-point approach to qualitative sampling put forward by Robinson (2014). This approach is as follows:

- 1. Define a study population who to include and/or exclude.
- 2. Decide on a sample size which is a combination of what is ideal and what is practical.
- 3. Devise a sample strategy determine how to carry out the sampling.
- 4. Source the sample recruit participants from the target population.

  I used a convenience sample, and I selected all the participants who met the criteria and who were available to take part.

# 3.4.1. Defining the study population

The study population comprised two groups: one a group of students at a FE college and the other a group not connected with the college. All the study population have been educated wholly or predominantly in England under the state system and are above school leaving age, which for the majority of participants, was 16, the age at which GCSEs are usually taken. The students at the college have enrolled on the course for a variety of reasons, but all are there by choice, for example, to improve their job prospects or to gain a

qualification which has previously eluded them. The class comprises a mixture of students born and educated in England and students born and educated abroad who are living in England now. The study includes only those students who were educated wholly or largely in England (students educated entirely abroad will be excluded). Everyone who came within the criteria and who wished to take part, was included in the study. I chose the local further education college as the location to carry out the interviews with the students. All students who met the criteria I had set, and who wished to take part, were accepted.

# 3.4.2 Deciding on the sample size

This was determined by what was a reasonable number of participants to interview and the number of participants I had access to. At the start of the academic year 2018/2019, I had intended to draw a sample of 15 to 20 adult participants from my local further education college in the south of England where I had previously taught Level 2 English and was familiar with the English classes. The intended participants attend one of several weekly GCSE English classes for post-16 students who have an academic level in literacy which has been assessed as being below Level 2, which is equivalent to GCSE English language grade C/grade 4 (that is, a pass). As the college was running fewer classes than in previous years due to lack of enrolments, the number of participants who fitted the sample criteria, and who were willing to take part, was eight. I was fortunate that a further seven participants, who were either known to me, or who had heard about the research, were also willing to take part. The extra seven external participants drawn from the wider

population, gave the research a greater cross-section of society and a greater geographical dimension.

It could be claimed that a small sample size may be a limitation to the research, however, it has been shown that, in qualitative research, the first six in-depth interviews often produce the majority of new data, (Guest et al., 2006). My intention was to keep the sample small enough for the individual voices to stand out, as is demonstrated by Robinson (2014 p.29): 'Interview research that has an idiographic aim typically seeks a sample size that is sufficiently small for individual cases to have a locatable voice within the study, and for an intensive analysis of each case to be conducted'. I felt that keeping the sample small allowed each participant to have a clearly recognisable voice.

The intention of this research was to gather the rich, personal experiences of the participants' literacy journeys and it did not attempt to quantify these experiences, but rather provide a voice for those who have experienced feeling that they have not achieved a satisfactory level of skill in English for their needs.

# 3.4.3 The sample strategy

All participants were given both a written and a verbal explanation of the research project and they provided signed consent before being interviewed and their responses recorded. These interviews took place in October and November 2018 and the participants were encouraged to share experiences

only if they felt comfortable doing so. In addition, interviewees were informed that at any time they could stop the interview. An additional group of seven adults were interviewed: six were known to me and had expressed their disappointment with their educational experiences in previous general conversations and one, who was unknown to me, had heard about the research I was conducting at the college and wished to be interviewed. They were interviewed between December 2018 and May 2020. All participants were asked their names (pseudonyms have been used), age, and their current occupation. They were then encouraged to talk about their upbringing when they were young, for example, where they lived, where they went to school and what their parents did for a living.

Active listening techniques were used to give the participants an opportunity to be heard, to ensure they felt at ease when talking about their experiences and were able to feel the listener was empathetic with regard to what they were talking about. Weger et al., (2014) describe active listening as having three main elements, the first is by showing that the listener is interested in and understands what the speaker is saying, this may be by a combination of nodding, facial expression or using affirmative words or expressions, such 'yes' or 'I see'. The second element is to reflect what the speaker is saying by paraphrasing what they have said without making any judgments about what they are saying. The third element may involve asking questions so that the speaker can give more detail about their views or experiences.

#### 3.4.4 Sourcing the sample

I contacted the local further education college, where I had previously been a teacher, explained to the ex-colleague teaching the English GCSE course about the research I was carrying out and that I would like to interview some of her students. She agreed and initially she approached the students on my behalf to ask if they would be willing to be interviewed and eight agreed to take part. I then proceeded to obtain the necessary approvals from the college and from Lancaster University and dates were arranged to interview those who had agreed. Ethical issues are addressed more fully in 3.8 Ethics below.

All participants in the study happen to be white English living in small towns or rural areas. There are 15 participants in total, comprising five men and ten women and they range in age from 17 to 60+. The participants from the college were recruited at the beginning of the academic year 2018/19. Some of the participants have enrolled on the GCSE English course for the first time while others have returned after attending in the previous year(s). The other seven participants were drawn from the wider population in 2018 to 2020. I informed all the participants that I am carrying out research into why people do not always achieve the level of literacy they would like at school. I explained to the eight participants at the college that I would like to carry out some interviews individually with the participants during lesson time and would be grateful if anyone would be willing to answer my questions. I chose to carry out the study at this college because I taught literacy and numeracy there for over 18 years and am familiar with the way courses are run. Thus, I can ensure I keep any disruption to their studies to the minimum by carrying out the interviews at suitable times during the academic year. The other seven

participants were interviewed separately.

I gave each participant, who said they would like to take part, an information sheet outlining the purpose of the research and their role in it (Appendix 1) and a consent form to sign (Appendix 2). I stressed that the interviews would take place in private, would be completely anonymous and that the participants would not be identifiable. I reassured all the participants that they may withdraw from the study at any time before or during participation in the study and at any time within two weeks of taking part in the interviews. Ethics approval was obtained from both Lancaster University and the college authorities as explained in the ethics section 3.8 below.

#### 3.5 Data collection methods

I conducted one semi-structured, face-to-face narrative interview with each of the 12 participants, which I recorded electronically as well as taking notes. For the three telephone interviews I wrote down much of what the participants said as we talked. Eight of the participants chosen for the study had already enrolled on a part-time GCSE English class for adult learners at the college. The college interviews took place during lessons, which was more convenient for the participants, as they would not be required to meet at a separate time. The other seven participants are all in full or part-time employment and four of these interviews took place either in the participant's homes or cafes. Three interviews were carried out by telephone because of the geographical distance of the participants. Each interview lasted approximately one hour. Interviews are an effective way to explore a subject in depth and I encouraged

the participants to talk freely about their experiences of any difficulties they may have encountered with their acquisition of literacy.

The advantages of face-to-face interviews over telephone interviews are that they offer such rich data, both because of what is actually said and because of the body language used. Non-verbal communication is important because it allows exploration of areas that would not necessarily have been picked up by, for example, questionnaires. Non-verbal communication reveals itself in the tone of voice used and the intensity of the speech rather than just the words used; it shows in facial expressions which can add more information for the interviewer; eye contact is also important as maintaining eye contact gives the impression of credibility whereas avoiding it can indicate discomfort with the topic of conversation (Ganguly, 2017). I did feel, however, that the telephone interviews went well as all three participants spoke easily and were keen to talk about their experiences. I used a lot of affirmative words to convey agreement and encouragement as the participants could not see me nodding or smiling. I was aware that they could have felt distress when recalling things that had happened in the past, but fortunately they did not. Indeed, as Carr and Worth (2001) point out, the use of telephone interviews is increasing as they are time and cost effective and allow for flexibility.

When I interviewed the participants, I began by first outlining that the purpose of the study was to find out the reasons why people do not always acquire the level of literacy they want or need at school. I explained that by investigating their experiences I hoped the research would offer more information on both

their views and feelings about acquiring literacy, and on the reasons why some people experience literacy inequalities. I wanted to draw the participants out so that they would talk freely about their experiences, and interviews are a recognised way of acquiring qualitative information. I advised them I would be recording the interviews and/or taking notes while we talked and assured them that any information they gave me would be anonymised.

Initially I asked general introductory questions to use as the starting point for discussion with all the participants. The questions encouraged them to talk openly and to gain confidence in me and so allowed me to investigate interesting and valuable areas more fully. The questions (Appendix 3) were designed to be open-ended, in order to facilitate the participants talking frankly regarding their experiences of literacy acquisition. I began the interviews by making general enquiries about where they lived; the sort of occupation their parents had; where they went to school and for how long; whether they had enjoyed being at school; if they could remember learning to read and whether that was a straightforward process for them; whether their parents had helped them, et cetera. I also wanted to know what they thought were the reasons they struggled with GCSE English and any ways that this had affected them. In addition, I asked the college students about their motivation for gaining English GCSE now, at this stage in their lives. Finally, I asked all of them for their views on any failings in the education system and how, in the light of their experiences, it might be improved in the future so that others could have greater success.

By putting the participants at ease, I hoped they would open up to me and that this would enable them to tell the stories of their literacy journeys. I wanted to know how not having adequate literacy skills felt for them, for example, not being able to understand what was written on the board; always being in the bottom set; perhaps experiencing a combination of feeling stupid, frustrated, angry, bored, isolated et cetera. As is apparent from the start of this paragraph, I will always be somewhat of an 'insider' in this research because I cannot completely separate my early experiences from those of the participants. This naturally influenced how I designed the research and how I interpreted what the participants said to me. However, I was aware of the importance of reflexivity, that is, thinking about the way we form and revise our opinions as we gain new knowledge and how this then influences how we carry out the research (Symon, G. and Cassell, C (2012). I was conscious that both the participants and I affected each other throughout the research process and my way of seeing the world has influenced how I have interpreted the data I collected. I recognise that whatever I have found cannot be seen that as an absolute truth, but I did endeavour to make sure that I considered my position in the process. I did this by making contemporaneous notes about what the participants said and about their body language as I recorded the interviews and I also recorded my thoughts and then consciously reflected on the assumptions I had made.

I decided that I would interview students more than once if any responses needed clarifying or expanding after the initial interview. I believe a qualitative approach is best for this type of research as it is flexible and allows for

change. As Cohen et al., (2017) p.288 state: 'The social and educational world is a messy place, full of contradictions, richness, complexity, connectedness, conjunctions and disjunctions. It is multilayered, and not easily susceptible to the atomisation process inherent in much numerical research. It has to be studied in total rather than in fragments if a true understanding is to be reached.'

Semi-structured interviews enabled me to explore areas which are of particular concern to the participants and to investigate them in greater detail. The information I ask for is personal to the individual. 'A narrative approach to inquiry is most appropriate when the researcher is interested in portraying intensely personal accounts of human experience. Narratives allow voice ... and in this sense they can have the ability to develop a decidedly political and powerful edge' (Gray, in Bell 2006, p.19). I used open questions where appropriate as they can encourage rich and full replies, some of which may not have been expected (Gray, 2004). These then allowed for probing questions, which I could refine and develop throughout the interview process, to gain further understanding and thus I hoped to get a fuller picture of each participant's journey. Semi-structured interviews allow the participants to take the interview in directions which are important to them, rather than it just being a set of questions already devised by me. Such interviews allow for adaptability, as fuller exploration and understanding of responses are part of the process. It was important that I clarified any points the participants made which I was not sure of, so that I could get to the exact meaning of what they were saying.

There are some disadvantages with narrative interviews in that they are time-consuming, and the sample chosen may be unrepresentative of the target group as a whole (Anderson and Kirkpatrick, 2016; Thunberg, 2021). In addition, the sample size is likely to be small and so it may be difficult to compare the results of in-depth and unstructured interviews in that they may be very specific to the particular interaction taking place, that is, the research interview itself. However, I found, as I had hoped, that a narrative approach with semi-structured interviews allowed me to discover rich personal data about the participants and really allow their voices to be brought to the forefront.

# 3.6 Data analysis

The raw data from the interviews recorded what had happened to the participants and how they understood and dealt with the circumstances in which they found themselves. It also noted their opinions on how the education system could be improved. I transcribed the interviews into a Word document and colour-coded them by theme. All the themes were then organised into a table corresponding to the research questions. Had any new themes arisen they would have been added to the table. I used pattern coding, which is a practical way, as recommended by Bennett et al. (2019), to refine how the data was organised, so that I was able to see any patterns and understand more fully the significance of the data in order to note both any similarities and interesting differences between the participants. The process is shown below. I had grouped the interview questions (Appendix 3) into four

main sections shown in Table 3.2 below:

A Their reasons for attending the class/expressing concern about their literacy acquisition. What they did after school.

B Their memories of learning to read and whether they had support at home and at school.

C Their thoughts on how not having sufficient literacy for their needs (including lacking GCSE English, if applicable) has affected them.

D Their opinions on how the education system could be improved.

# Table 3.2 Interview question groupings

To carry out the process of analysing the data from the interviews I began by reading through the first five interviews and looked to see which themes appeared in all or most of them. As Basit (2003, p.143) states 'The analysis of qualitative data... is a dynamic, intuitive and creative process of inductive reasoning, thinking and theorizing.' By using different colours to highlight new themes I was able to add additional themes as they arose. I initially used a deductive framework to analyse the data based on the research questions, as I had an idea of some of the likely responses to the questions. However, I anticipated that this was likely to change with the responses to the interviews, thus the approach became a combination of a deductive and inductive framework, as discussed in Rejnö and Berg (2015). Twelve main themes arose which I grouped into four sections. The twelve most commonly

occurring themes grouped into four sections taken from the questions in Table 3.2 above:

- 1. Needing qualifications for a career
- 2.Feelings
- 3. The importance of support: getting help with reading, especially from the mother; remembering learning to read getting help with homework; reading schemes; lack of help at home; lack of help at school; dyslexia
- 4.Schools expecting a lot from children; lack of satisfaction with education; enjoyment of and satisfaction in practical subjects like art

# Table 3.3 The twelve most commonly occurring themes

I then highlighted each separate theme with a different colour. After colour coding I used the patterns to gain a deeper understanding of the significance of what has been said in order to comment on any generalities and interesting differences between the participants.

### 1. Needing qualifications for a career

#### 2 .Feelings

3. The importance of support; getting help with reading, especially from the mother; remembering learning to read;

getting help with homework; lack of help at home; lack of help at school;

# dyslexia

4.Schools expecting a lot from children; lack of satisfaction with education; enjoyment of, and satisfaction in practical subjects like art

# Table 3.4 The twelve most commonly occurring themes highlighted with a different colour

Initially I used the first five interviews to look for recurring themes which gave me a structure so that I could add in new themes as they arose in subsequent interviews. In fact, the same themes occurred repeatedly in the different interviews. To illustrate the process I used part of the interview with Debbie, one of the participants studying GCSE English, as an example. I highlighted the answers to correspond with the table above. The interview questions are in black and white.

1. Why did you decide to come to this class?

I didn't get GCSE English at school. I missed out by one grade and I want to do nursing.

And are you working at the moment?

I am working as a Health Care assistant at the community hospital down the road.

Where would you do the nursing qualification?

At work they have been talking about doing an apprenticeship. I would do exams and they would send me out on placements wherever they were wanted.

That sounds like a really good way of doing it. How long does it take?

# I think it's about four years. Hopefully, if I get my grades. Fingers crossed.

2. And do you ever think you would have chosen differently from being a Health Care assistant if you had more, or different, academic qualifications?

I probably would have gone on to nursing if I had had better grades. Um,

think when I left school hairdressing and things like that were the only things

I could get into with my grades ... Nursing was never thought of when I left

school. I just wouldn't have been able to get in.

Do you think it's affected you in other ways?

Not really, but it has made me realise how difficult GCSES are

Do you remember learning to read when you were young?Not really.

Could you already read when you went to school?

Oh gosh! I remember doing a little bit with my mum, nothing more than at school, I think school was probably the main.

You found it OK learning to read? Was it quite effortless?

Yeah, I've not really had any major problems with English and spelling and stuff.

It has been in the secondary school I think it was lack of attention, I just lost focus for a couple of years. In secondary school the first couple of years were OK, but when we got put to into our bands A B and C, I was in C. And in those classes there is still higher achievers and lower and I think the school concentrated on the higher achievers to get the grades. If I struggled I would ask, if I still didn't get it, then it was like 'oh, you'll pick it up. So then

I got stuck and the following week I was still trying to pick it up from the

previous week ... I think that was when I switched off.

Was that in all subjects, or just certain ones?

I think it was maths definitely and English a bit. My teacher was brilliant

having so many students it was difficult.

How many were in a class?

I think maybe 20 to 30. Other classes such as art and textiles were more

relaxed and a bit more free.

What grade did you get in English when you left school?

I think it was a D. I enjoyed English but I don't think I concentrated as much

as I should have done.

Did you get other GCSEs at school?

I think I did, I think I got Cs in science and art and textiles, but not much

academically.

Is this the last course you have done since you left school?

Straight after school I did hairdressing at college.

Did your mum help you with your homework?

Yeah, we'd go through it together. She was pretty good at English. Yeah

that was fun [laughing].

Do you think homework is important, the structure of it?

I think it is, as it keeps you with it. It sort of refreshes you... I think definitely,

when I was at school it felt like I had a bit too much. You've been at school

and then you have to come home to do it. It just seems like a bit too much. I

can see why now you do homework and it does make a difference.

secondary school, are you satisfied with the sort of education you got. I mean, do you think you were well taught? You said you felt you switched off, so could the school had done more to keep you engaged?

Yeah, primary school was good. In primary school it's more of a game. It's not so much paper and words, you make games from it. You could ask the questions and the teacher had the time. Definitely, I didn't get what I needn't from the academic side.

4 When you look back on your own time going through primary school and

Thinking about your son now, how do you think education could be improved? [Debbie's son is at primary school]. Do you think it's changed much in the way he is taught?

I think there needs to be more for the less academic. If I could have had more hands on, the is physical way of doing things, I could have got on so much better. There was never really any option and I think that was why I took textiles and things like that. It wouldn't really get me anywhere outside of school. I enjoyed it [textiles] and I learnt.

So much more in the way of practical subjects?

I got a good grade in science and that is much more practical.

### Table 3.5 Interview highlighted to show recurring themes

Once I was able to allocate the interview data into different categories I chose which of the participants' quotes I would use to exemplify the findings. I picked quotes which epitomised the themes revealed by the analysis of the data and

used them throughout chapters 4 and 5, wherever they best illustrated the findings.

The findings make no claims to generalisability, but this was not the purpose of the research. The aim was to record and discuss the emotional effect of a lack of literacy throughout a person's life and this is revealed and described in chapters 4 and 5. I cannot claim that everything the participants told me was true, as, even if they believed what they told me, it is possible that they had to some extent falsely remembered what had happened to them,

(Roediger, McDermott, 2000; Brainerd, Reyna, and Forrest, 2003). However, the passion with which they told me their stories led me to believe that what they said was authentic. The participants' personalities, the way in which they spoke, their directness and openness all made what they told me sound reasonable and credible and lent authenticity to what they said.

### 3.7 Ontology and epistemology

My ontological approach is that I consider people's realities to be individualised. As stated by Marsh et al., (2017) p.178 the main ontological question is 'what are the form and nature of reality and, consequently, what is there that can be known about it?' My epistemology is interpretivist as I am trying to understand more about how the barriers to learning have affected these adults, because I believe, as suggested by Cohen et al (2017), that meaning arises out of social situations and is explained by interpretive methods. Thus, behaviour is socially situated and, in order to understand a situation, researchers need to understand the context because 'situations

affect behaviour and perspectives and vice versa; realities are multiple, constructed and holistic; knower and known are interactive, inseparable;' (Cohen et al, 2017, p219).

How people behave cannot be separated from their cultural context (Hamilton and Pitt 2011) and a person with poor literacy skills may have a negative or shameful view of themselves. Bourdieu (1986) used the concept of 'habitus' to show how people construct their own reality from their position in society from birth onwards and, although this reality is subject to change, it may always be limited and restricted by the society they are in (Wagner and McLaughlin, 2015). Thus, my methodology is qualitative and uses methods such as semi structured interviews to describe and deconstruct people's personal understanding of their experience.

#### 3.8 Ethics

I obtained ethical approval through both Lancaster University and the FE College's appropriate channels, and also obtained the requisite written consent from the participants involved. I ensured all the participants understood what was involved by explaining carefully what the study was about and what their involvement would be. The participants' details were anonymised and I allocated each one a pseudonym which has been used throughout. The resulting data is stored securely on the university website. I ensured that the participants were given the opportunity to confirm and validate the data throughout the interviews, so that the interviews show the participants' experiences of their literacy acquisition correctly.

As Warin (2011) points out, it is vital to be aware of the importance of informed consent, that is that the participants understand fully what they are being asked to do and why. It is important to be sensitive to the participants' needs which may affect how the study is conducted. Warin (2011) has said that this type of narrative research has potential problems from an ethical point of view, such as in this research participants' being reminded of unhappy times or having painful memories. I had carefully chosen the questions I asked and was very flexible throughout about what I would ask, as I was mindful that interviews can go in unintended directions. From many years of teaching, I was aware that a seemingly innocuous turn in a conversation could lead to a student feeling uncomfortable because of associations with past or present events. I felt that my prior experience led to me being able to be sympathetic and reassuring to the participants.

Etherington (2007) warns that the researcher must remember their obligations to the participants. I am aware of the need to ensure the participants tell their own stories and that I do not 'lead' them. I have allowed time for my own self-reflection as I am conscious that my values will influence how I carry out the research. I made sure that the participants fully understood why I am carrying out the research and what it is about. This should ensure that all those who take part do so willingly, with a full understanding of the purpose of the research.

With regard to the college students, as a teacher (although I do not teach

these particular students) they may feel I am an authority figure and that they are under some sort of obligation to respond in a way. I want or expect them to. However, I carefully explained to the participants the reasons I was carrying out the research, so they would understand my general aims as recommended by Saldana (2011). The ethos of the college encourages trust and respect between staff and students, and it is a friendly, easy-going and respectful environment, which I believe fosters good relationships. Mertens cited in Lapan, et al., (2012) suggest that researchers can take a transformative perspective to research, which emphasises the belief that there are different ways to interpret reality and that some of those ways may form barriers to promoting human rights and social justice. This perspective recognises the necessity of using research methods which are culturally responsive in order to be aware of the lived experiences of those who face discrimination and oppression in society, such as those with literacy inequalities. The research was designed to be carried out in a way which was respectful and supportive so that I could be flexible and adapt how an interview was conducted at any point. The perspective also emphasises an awareness of the differences in power relationships between the researcher and the participants and how the research may be used to further social justice. I addressed this by assuring the participants that the research would not be onerous or interfere with their lives. I want to make certain the participants recognise that their experiences are relevant both for themselves and may also be important to others now, and in the future, as the research offers insights into how it feels to have literacy inequalities and how those inequalities have come about.

# 3.9 Chapter conclusion

This chapter describes in detail how the study has been designed to answer the research questions. It explains the process of the research design and how the data was collected and analysed. It also details the theoretical position of the study and the ethical considerations involved.

4 Findings and Discussion: Part I

#### 4.1 introduction

This research encouraged the participants, who had all expressed difficulties or disappointment with learning English, to describe their experiences of learning GCSE English at school and then to explain any difficulties they faced. It explores the effects this may have had on their lives and asks those who have now returned to education what their reasons were for returning. It then asks the participants their opinions on the education system. I am arguing that certain groups are disadvantaged at school and this disadvantage begins from the moment they start school and may continue long after leaving. Once they are behind, it can be difficult to extricate themselves and catch up, if they do not have appropriate parental and/or school support. The targeting of specific groups, as happened in Skills for Life (2001), which is explained more fully in chapter 3, section 3.6.1, allows the government to both control and to support them. This classification of particular groups links to the concept of cultural capital (Bourdieu, 1986) which maintains that without the cultural capital they need, certain groups may find themselves in a position where it is difficult for them to access what should be theirs by right.

The distribution of the three different forms of capital and the relationship between them influences a society's class structure. Any cultural ability, which is desired by others, leads to it having value because of its scarcity and this allows the holder access to both financial reward and status within society.

Bourdieu (1986) argued that it is not natural ability which determines

educational achievement, but the dissemination of cultural capital in the home, which occurs from the start of socialisation. Children in families with strong cultural capital are in the position of being able to accrue it from birth. They are also in the position of being able to stay in education beyond the minimum leaving age and increase that capital, both cultural and economic. A child in a family which does not have the economic and cultural capital to enrich and lengthen their education beyond the minimum is likely only to have access to low paid and low status positions (Bourdieu, 1986). The education system then reinforces the reproduction of the social structure by endorsing the cultural capital which certain children have inherited.

Bourdieu maintained that academic ability and talent are actually the result of the cultural capital provided by the family which leads to the child being able to benefit from education. This cultural capital may be learnt instinctively and can always be identified by its characteristics, such as the distinct pronunciations of a class or region. Thus, certain children are born into a position where they lack the advantages of more privileged children, and this can adversely affect almost everything they do in society. The main argument, which arises from the data, is that all the participants had wanted to do well at school, not one set out to fail, overwhelmingly they tried to do their best, and yet the system was such that it worked against them. I explore the reasons behind what they perceived as a disappointing and, in some cases, a damaging school experience.

This chapter explains the findings in more detail and is illustrated by the participants sharing their own experiences. The interview questions were

grouped into five main areas which corresponded to the research questions.

Each participant is referred to by a pseudonym throughout.

# 4.2 How does a small group of adults describe their experiences of learning English at school?

What I found really interesting was the intensity of emotion expressed by the participants when they described their experiences of learning English at school, which were still vivid in their memories. I had expected them to feel disappointed or perhaps embarrassed by not achieving what they hoped for, but in fact, many of the participants vehemently expressed their anger and resentment about what they had experienced.

They highlighted how they often had negative memories of feeling stupid in certain classes and the impact this had on their sense of self-worth. In addition, they also stated how their difficulties in learning English impacted on other non-practical subjects, because they were hard to access without adequate reading and writing skills. However, in contrast to the negative feelings expressed about learning English at school, many participants spoke positively of their feelings about taking part in the more practical subjects they had studied, such as art, drama and sport, as opposed to English. These more practical subjects gave participants a chance to excel at something and to a certain extent counteracted their less pleasant experiences. Although the participants viewed their experiences of learning English at school largely in negative terms and despite many having dispiriting experiences of more academic subjects, they had good memories of the freedom and creativity of

practical subjects.

These four main themes that arose from describing their experiences of learning English were: feeling less intelligent or able than other students; being aware that what they had undergone had been damaging to their sense of self-worth; the impact their experiences had on other subjects; and finally, how practical and creative subjects can build confidence. These themes are discussed in more detail below.

# 4.2.1 Feeling less intelligent or able

When asked to describe their experiences of learning English at school it emerged that the majority of the participants talked about having negative feelings in relation to learning English. They described how they believed those experiences had caused them to feel less intelligent than other students, to feel less able, to feel less smart. Participants spoke with emotion of their experiences, which were still vivid in their memories. For example, Thalia said she wished that she had not been made:

to feel that I was stupid ... which was very embarrassing. I hated [secondary school] ... I was made to feel like a really, stupid child. You had to go to 'the unit' to get help from a particular teacher. My needs weren't terrible, but I needed some help, I was kind of in no-man's land. I'll always remember that [being called out of lessons to go to the unit]. I started to actually hate the school. Thalia

These comments were echoed by Toby who was taken out of class three times a week to have extra help with English.

I hated it, it was horrible, I was treated like I was lesser. What I had wasn't celebrated or positively acknowledged. They thought I wouldn't do well. At 14 I worked out I'd have to do a job with my hands. My biggest setback was bullying from year 5 onwards, I felt like the dumbest kid – always my fault for not listening. I still remember as a kid thinking this is just me, my reality, I have to get used to it. Toby

The negative feelings associated with learning English, as felt by the majority of the participants, are consistent with the literature previously discussed (Rabušicová and Oplatková, 2010); (Norman and Hyland, 2003); (McGivney, cited in Norman and Hyland, 2003); (Lave and Wenger, in Hutchins, 1993). The comments of Thalia and Toby were echoed by Joe who spoke disappointedly about how he tried hard to do well all the way through school but was unsuccessful in spite of his best efforts. Even the extra help at school did nothing to lift him out of the bottom sets.

I had extra help at some point [at primary school] like a session once a week to help me with anything I was struggling with. I was in the bottom set from the age of eight or nine. And that carried on pretty much until I left school at 16. I just did everything wrong [at school], but I wasn't trying to do it wrong. I was forgetting something or doing something wrong. The extra help I had [at school] made me feel a bit of a loser really. I know it's not meant to be, but it

felt a bit demeaning. You feel quite pathetic. Joe

Like Joe, Rachel (who left school at 14), was very unhappy with her education and, in addition, suffered from anxiety while at school:

I think, up until the age of thirteen, I didn't read stuff I was interested in and I think it was confidence, there was such anxiety, even if there's a newspaper on the table and somebody is like 'Oh, have you seen that?' The panic and like, am I going to be able to read what that says? Things like that, it definitely created a massive amount of anxiety, not being able to do something which feels like it almost comes naturally to everyone else. You feel like instantly put on the spot. It feels like those lessons... English, and in particular, in secondary school, they would go around the class and ask everyone to read like a page or a paragraph. Yes, it's the only time in my school life when I was disruptive, as I would have to be removed from the class before it got to me.

# 4.2.2 Damage to sense of self-worth

Not only did many of the participants have negative feelings regarding learning English at school, what they had undergone had been damaging to their sense of self-worth which continued to affect them as they went through life. The negative impressions of feeling less intelligent or able, as discussed in the theme above, were experienced by the majority of the participants.

None of the participants had enjoyed secondary school and for many, the negative way they felt about school was deepened by a sense of on-going

damage to their own self-worth, which they still had as adults. For many of the participants this feeling of damage had the effect of limiting their ambitions in life in relation to careers and aspirations and made them feel that they would not measure up. Often, they felt humiliated at secondary school if they were finding the academic work difficult and could not get the help they needed. These comments are also reinforced by studies carried out in English schools over 25 years, which found that working-class children often said how they felt stupid or rubbish at school and did not feel they had any importance. For them, the classroom often became a place where they were on the receiving end of humiliation and mortification, which then lead some to feelings of disaffection with school and resentment about their experiences (Reay 2017).

Julie also had also been made to feel less intelligent, but, in contrast to Thalia and Joe, this was mainly due to the specific experience of having to learn the Initial Teaching Alphabet (ITA) method of reading. Julie expressed extreme dissatisfaction with her experiences of learning English at school. She was part of what was, in effect, an experiment which took place in the 1960s and 1970s to teach children to read in a very different way. The ITA used the 26 letters of the alphabet plus 14 characters to represent certain sounds such as 'oo' and 'th'. The children were expected to change to the usual alphabet and spellings when they reached seven years old (that is, year 3 or 1st year juniors). ITA was designed to enable children to learn to read and spell using a logical way of spelling, in which words consisted of the sounds they made when spoken out loud. Thus, ITA would supposedly avoid the difficulties children may have found in learning to read and spell words that are not spelt

the way they sound. The idea was that once children were fluent in ITA they would move on to the normal alphabet, but many children found great difficulties with the transition and struggled to master the regular way of spelling. At the age of seven many of the children were left permanently confused by having to change, which had meant needing to learn to read and write all over again (Lane 2001). Some children (such as Julie) had been taught to read and write by their parents before they started school but, when they started school, were told that their way of spelling was incorrect. This led to much confusion and for some, like Julie, a profound lack of confidence throughout their lives in their ability to spell:

So, I never got to learn, so I remember my first day [aged five] with new children and they would be chanting the alphabet and I didn't know it, I was looking at the wall thinking how do I chant like everybody else? Thinking I can do that because it's up there, but it wasn't an alphabet I recognised because of the ITA system but nobody in the school thought what it might be like for me, I suppose. They decided to develop a pattern of spelling then, and what was interesting was that at the second top year [aged 7] they changed again I think [to the traditional alphabet] and they kept me back a year. I had to go back a year. The education was just repeated for a year and I was really bored. And that's when I got the idea that I couldn't understand it ... by the time I got to the second year before secondary school my spelling was not very good and I started to think I was not very bright... By secondary school it was becoming even more noticeable that my spelling was strange. I just couldn't spell, I can see words, but I can't spell them, I was quite articulate, but

interestingly I've been reading up about it since and a lot of people say they can't spell words beyond five letters. Because [with the ITA] you never progressed beyond five letters. I think it was just a way to get people reading early on, so if you don't get through the transition you were left. So yeah, its blighted me, I think. Julie

Interestingly, Stuart was disappointed when he only passed four GCSEs, but eventually went on to take an access course at a further education college which enabled him to go to university. He feels he has to appear knowledgeable at all times, so that people will think he is smart and intelligent. When explaining how he likes to be seen as someone who knows a lot, it is interesting that he only used the word 'adequate' to describe how it can make him feel, as he never sees himself as more than that, not able or clever.

I'm good at trivia. I show off trying to prove I am worthy, I am clever. Why do I do it? Am I trying to prove a point so I can feel adequate? Stuart

Some of the participants spoke of how, in addition to feeling a low sense of self-worth as a result of their negative experiences, they also experienced the effect that it was difficult to access certain subjects without an adequate level of English. This often led to a feeling that many lessons were pointless – they did not feel confident about their ability plus they felt that unfulfilled with what they were required to study which they did not have adequate skills to access easily.

4.2.3 The impact of the participants' experiences on other subjects

For many of the participants their negative experiences of learning English
had an impact on other subjects. They spoke of feeling that much of what they
did at school bore little relevance to their lives because they were struggling
with academic work, which was often taught in a rigid, inflexible way. The
situation seemed hopeless to them, as they had no control over what was
happening to them and so it was tempting to switch off and not apply
themselves. Finding English difficult affected other subjects because they
were hard to access without adequate reading and writing skills.

This is exemplified in the comments of Marie and Jane below: Marie spoke of school in terms of something imposed on her, over which she had no choice and which she did not have the skills to take part in sufficiently. While Jane felt demotivated throughout her school career, particularly from the first day at secondary school as she believed she had already been written off as someone who would not be a high achiever. When asked if her school could have motivated her more and made her feel more engaged with learning, Marie said:

Yeah I do think so, I know it's difficult because teenagers are so hard, they're very stubborn and that. When I was at school I don't remember it being very much fun, it seemed like a chore, it was just something you had to do. I think they probably could have made it better, I just remember it being quite strict. Maybe if it was more inviting, a bit more laid back. Marie

Jane also had a strong sense that school was something she had to take part in and not something that would be particularly beneficial to her. Now in her 60s, she remembered how it felt to be told by a teacher at her primary school, just before she sat the 11+ exam, that she was not expected to pass and then, when she arrived for her first day at the secondary modern school, she was also told that the school did not expect much from her as she had a summer birthday. Her overriding memory of school was of one of low expectations and little incentive to achieve very much. She would have liked to study more than just basic level science but did not have the opportunity as the school did not have the resources. She had no choice but to study the subjects the school deemed suitable even though they did not reflect her interests.

Their comments are reinforced by research (Furlong and Cartmel, 2006) which investigated why some children respond to school better than others and found that the relevance of what the children were doing was very important to their level of engagement. If they were engaged and absorbed in what they were doing and they could appreciate the usefulness of it, they tended to get on with it more readily. For example, Smith and Wilhelm, reviewed in McGlinn (2003), carried out a study on teenage boys' use of literacy and found that boys enjoy activities where they can succeed and also that social relationships are very important in the way that they act. The researchers found that the boys had different ways of being literate, but all valued reading and the education they were receiving at school for their significance in the future. They spoke with enthusiasm of their music, sport, hobbies and art, but they saw reading at school as something that had to be

carried out in order to get on in life. The boys also distinguished between different forms of literacy: literacy at school which they did not feel competent doing and literacy at home, which was immediate, dealing with the present. Literacy at school was seen as something to be used in the future and as a means to an end, but it had no connection to their current lives. Literacy at home was seen as direct and relating to the present and so when the boys read at home, they had a goal in mind. The researchers argued that all students (male and female) want to be involved in the type of learning that means something to them and so schools should act on this, in order to achieve better outcomes for the students. This study exemplifies the contradiction between school and personal life with regard to literacy. If what is being taught in school has little apparent relevance to the lives of the students and is of little interest and they are struggling to access it, it is not surprising that they fail to be engaged in a subject, as is confirmed by the comments of Marie and Jane. It seems more likely that a student's learning will progress if they are enjoying what they are doing and have the necessary skills to access the curriculum fully. Debbie spoke of how she had enjoyed the easy-going approach of her primary school, but when she had to take part in the more formal lessons at secondary school, she said she felt she had 'switched off' in class, as she could not keep up in the lessons with the other students. Once she fell behind in English it affected most other subjects and she could not catch up:

... primary school was good. In primary school it's more of a game. It's not so much paper and words, you make games from it. But in secondary school the first couple of years were OK, but when we got put to into our bands A B and C, I was in C. And in those classes, there is still higher achievers and lower and I think the school concentrated on the higher achievers to get the grades.

If I had struggled, I would ask, if I still didn't get it then, it was like 'oh, you'll pick it up'. So then I got stuck and the following week I was still trying to pick it up from the previous week ... I think that was when I switched off. Debbie

4.2.4 How practical and creative subjects can build confidence
In contrast to the negative feelings expressed about learning English at school, I was surprised to discover the extent to which taking part in practical and creative subjects generated such enthusiasm among the participants and how even the tone and body language used when they were speaking changed from matter of fact to more animated and livelier. Many participants spoke extremely positively of their feelings about taking part in the more practical subjects they had studied, such as art, drama and sport. These more practical subjects gave participants a chance to excel at something and, to a certain extent, counteracted their less pleasant experiences with academic subjects where they often felt inferior. Debbie discussed her thoughts on this further by describing how she enjoyed taking part in certain more hands-on subjects.

Art and textiles were more relaxed and a bit more free. If I could have had more hands on... the physical way of doing things, I could have got on so much better [in other subjects]. There was never really any option and I think that was why I took textiles and things like that. It wouldn't really get me

anywhere outside of school. I enjoyed it [textiles] and I learnt. I got a good grade in science too and that is much more practical. Debbie

Interestingly Debbie used the words 'more free', which appears to indicate her need to be more practically and actively involved in what she was doing rather than be limited both physically and creatively. Debbie's views about practical subjects were echoed by Thalia, who had not enjoyed academic lessons, but had a love of sport:

Sport was why I went to school and I was very good at sport, kind of. I did everything - netball and rounders, hockey, karate. I would have studied something to do with physical education [at 16], but hindsight is a great thing. Thalia

Some participants had passed GCSEs in these subjects, but not in English.

When asked if they had passed any GCSEs at school participants talked about how they had been successful in more practical subjects:

I think I got Cs in science and art and textiles, but not much academically.

Debbie

Yes ICT, art, design and technology. Anna

Yeah, art, drama, ICT and science, I think. Marie

It is interesting that some of the participants had achieved GCSE passes in these more practical, creative subjects rather than in English. When asked why this was, the participants talked particularly about the enjoyment they found in the more non-academic subjects. In addition, Debbie highlighted that the physical way of doing things suited her best and, she believed, would have helped her progress when learning English if there had been a way for her to study academic subjects in a more practical way. Thalia's liking for sport was the one thing at school she looked forward to in an otherwise dispiriting day. When talking about sport her demeanor changed from looking uncomfortable, as she talked about her experiences of learning English, to smiling when she remembered the sports lessons. This ties in with the comments of Anna, Marie and Leon who had all happy, satisfying memories of taking part in nonacademic subjects such as art and drama, where they could express themselves freely without the constraints of more formal lessons. These subjects were seen as positive and rewarding by the participants, whereas English was often seen as rather boring and irrelevant.

Research confirms that taking part in subjects considered to be non-academic, such as sport, art, music, dance and drama can have significant beneficial effects. These included promoting social interaction and they also had a positive emotional impact, such as reducing stress and increasing self-confidence and self-esteem (Zarrett et al., 2009). With regard to sport specifically, Zarrett et al. (2009) talked of how involvement in sport was

strongly linked to developing competence and character. Gadbois et al. (2019) found that being involved in sport had more positive results than not being involved. Fraser-Thomas and Côté, (2009) found that involvement in sport for young people was linked to a growth in positive development skills, such as meaningful relationships with adults and peers, use of own initiative, meeting challenges and a feeling of a sense of community. Golding et al (2016) researching into whether dance classes at school accelerated learning, discovered that movement helped cognitive development and that developing physically had a link to the development of the brain. This study found that enjoying the lessons plus the multi-sensory nature of dance played a part in the children having positive learning outcomes and recommends that dance and movement should be part of an integrated curriculum.

Golding et al (2016) also suggest that there are potential benefits for dance to improve attainment levels in all areas and that this has particular relevance since arts provision has been reduced in the core curriculum. The connection between music, dance et cetera and an improvement in attainment was endorsed by Posner and Pantoine (2009) who argued that finding an art form which appeals to a child, whether music, dance or other arts, has potential for improving their cognition generally because of the time and concentration they spend on it. This is echoed by Malvilidi et al. (2018) and Donnelly and Lambourne (2011) who argued that participating in regular physical activity can have considerable cognitive and intellectual benefits for young people and is considered to be valuable for their physical and mental health. These studies reinforce the comments by Debbie, Thalia, Anna, Marie and Leon

above regarding how enjoyable and positive more practical subjects made them feel.

Yet, physical activity and intellectual activity in schools are usually seen as unrelated activities, although, Malvilidi et al. (2018) suggest, it would be possible to integrate physical activities into academic settings and so improve educational practice. These studies all reinforce the participants' comments about the enjoyment they found in sport and creative activities. The participants who stated that they get more enjoyment from certain less academic and more practical subjects may prefer a more 'hands on' way of learning. Such students may benefit from approaches which allow for less formal ways of learning, such as a programme set up by Honeyford and Boyd (2015) to consider the effects of combining formal education with more informal ways of learning. They found that creative and visual play had significant implications for teenagers' literacy practices. The students in the programme were encouraged to develop their literacy practices through the use of multiple media, such as advertisements, realia, texts, film, art, music and drama. The researchers discovered that opening up the classroom to multiple literacies plus the active involvement of the students, allowed literacy to be supported and valued. They argued that, by contrast, what tends to happen in schools is that there is little time or space for such activity. This is because the focus of the curriculum is on acquiring skills such as the decoding and comprehension of selected texts with a particular vocabulary and structure. They argued that rather than using simplified texts, literacy needs to happen in other areas, such as creative spaces which would allow students to

enjoy the environment they are in and to experiment and learn by using a variety of materials and texts (Honeyford and Boyd, 2015). This may have been a better way to learn for students such as Marie who felt a lack of engagement in the more academic subjects and for Debbie who liked the physical involvement of practical subjects.

#### 4.2.5 Conclusion

The majority of the participants had very negative feelings about their experiences of learning English at school. Throughout their lives many have carried with them damaging memories which still have the power over them to have a negative effect on their sense of self-worth and on their confidence in their ability. Their difficulties with English often led to them struggling with other academic subjects because they could not access them easily. For many of the participants the only bright points in their schooldays were the active, practical subjects, such as art, drama and sport, and as Thalia said, sport was the reason she came to school. Many of the participants would have had a better overall experience of education if they could have had more creative opportunities available to them when learning English. This suggests that they could have achieved more in the more academic subjects if they had had a greater sense of enjoyment and fulfilment in what they were doing. In that way their memory of learning English could have been of satisfaction and pleasure instead of frustration and humiliation.

## 4.3 How do the participants explain the difficulties they faced with GCSE English?

The participants stated that they believed a range of different problems, both at school and home, caused them to have difficulties with GCSE English and so there has to be a greater awareness of these problems which need to be addressed. These problems included lack of help and support at school, lack of parental support at home and the double effect of both little support at school and at home. This is because without sufficient help and support at school a child may struggle to the extent where they fall behind the other children and then do not catch up, while lack of support at home means what is being taught at school is not reinforced or valued. However, the greatest impact is on those who undergo the double effect of both little support at school and at home. This lack of support at school, coupled with inadequate support at home, often left the participants in a situation where they were trying hopelessly to succeed without much prospect of having anyone to help them. This can have a detrimental effect on learning English which may lead to difficulties attaining the GCSE. These three themes are further discussed and analysed below.

### 4.3.1 Lack of support at school

A major source of difficulties for the participants lay in the lack of support they felt they received at school, especially once they were teenagers. Many of the participants had appreciated the more relaxed atmosphere at primary school, which they felt was easy-going and enjoyable, whereas at secondary school the focus was on working hard and passing exams. The participants did not feel they received the support they needed at secondary school which led to them feeling let down and, as a consequence, more likely to switch off and

become disaffected. This indicates that teaching practices and attitudes need to be more sensitive to students who are finding the work particularly demanding and discover ways both to help them academically and to encourage and motivate them.

Some of the participants had very strong views on the lack of support at school, for example, when asked if she was helped at school Jane replied vehemently '*Never*'.

Claire also spoke of how she felt she was just left on her own to get on at school, as best she could:

I wasn't prodded, I wasn't helped. Claire

Anna said she wished she had received more help at school and found it particularly difficult in her final year to keep up:

The work got a lot harder and I always found it difficult, on reading, and difficult to focus. I'm more of a practical kind, and sometimes I find it difficult to take things in. And I have to re-read it over and over again. Anna

She added that she felt she had needed more support in the classroom:

I think more support in the classroom, LSAs for the amount of children. You could have one LSA helping two children, but if the others in the class are struggling, they don't get the support. Anna

These comments by Claire, Jane and Anna endorse research which argues that not giving a child adequate support at school can lead to their failing to keep up with other children and being unable to catch up (Francis and Wong, 2013); (Cassen and Kingdon, 2007). Other research shows how demotivating it is for children to feel they are lacking in the skills they need to thrive like other children (Archer, Halsall, and Hollingworth, 2007; Francis and Mills, 2012; Osler, 2006). The way children are viewed can affect the way they behave at school and if they are seen negatively, it can lead to them switching off and disengaging with education.

## 4.3.2 Lack of support at home

Another significant problem for many of the participants was lack of support at home and they all expressed strong views on this, despite some having pleasant memories of their parents helping them others had disappointing memories of how their parents were either unable or unwilling to help. Stevie, for example, spoke of how her parents were not able to help her with her schoolwork and had little or no interest in her progress at school. Other participants did speak of their parents helping them with learning to read, when they started school, but any help seemed to decrease, and the participants had few memories of parental involvement as they grew older. This decrease in help could be for a variety of reasons such as the parents may not be able to help with schoolwork as the child gets older and the work gets harder, or the parents may assume the school has sole responsibility for the child's education and that it is best not to interfere. Also, as children

become teenagers, they are likely to be growing away from their parents' close influence and stop feeling the need to ask for much help.

It may be that support needs to be a constant throughout a child's education and indeed, as argued in chapter 3, their social and financial situation at birth affects their development throughout their lives, (National Equality Panel, 2010); (Field, 2010). When given vocabulary tests at age five UK children from the poorest families are already behind children from behind better off families Waldfogel and Washbrook, 2010). The qualification levels of parents have the largest impact on a child's GCSE scores followed by the socio-economic position of the family, as students from poorer families received lower grades at GCSE in English than those from more well-off families (EPPSE 3 -16+, 2015). In order to improve the outcomes for all children intervention has to take place before the age of five. Early education has positive effects, such as improvement in both maths and reading at age 7. These effects continue to be significant to the age of sixteen (Goodman and Sianesi, 2005).

The research above is echoed by Stevie's comments as she spoke rather resentfully of her negative memories of her parents' seeming lack of interest in her education:

I wouldn't have said I needed support, but encouragement, actually.

Sometimes I just think you've got to get yourself in the right mindset. My parents said 'What you do at school is up to you'. They didn't take any interest or anything. They hadn't a clue what I was up to, but I don't really blame

myself now, I used to. I half blame myself. I had the potential, but nobody could be bothered. I've always had this little gremlin sitting on my shoulder saying - you'll just be an average. And my parents, because they weren't interested, it was definitely more my parents than school. I told my mum once, 'You shouldn't have had children', she's very insular. My dad is quite illiterate. Stevie.

Her early experiences made her determined to bring up her own children differently because she believed that positive parental involvement would have made a difference to her education. When she had children of her own, she kept closely involved in what they did at school, so that she could reinforce it at home:

I can remember [learning to read] at infant school because I wasn't very good at reading, as I didn't see the point in fiction. My parents didn't spend any time with me at all and I noticed that the pre-school [where the participant had worked] if you had parents that were involved in the education you got on much quicker. I did the same with my two, so that when they went to school they had a second dose of it. My parents, no, we were seen and not heard. They worked a lot of hours, and they felt it was important to supply us with stuff. They were born in the '40s and didn't have much, so they thought stuff was more important than attention. They worked Monday through Saturday but had two afternoons off and also worked three nights at a night club. My father asked me about what I was doing when I was at college, sometimes. But not before then, we discussed it a little bit, but other than that, no. I always

Studies have shown that whether or not a family are in a position to help their child affects the child's chance of success which confirms the research, described in chapter 3 carried out by Field (2010); EPPSE 3 -16+ (2015) and COPE (2017) on the importance of parental support and influence on a child's development. The participants who did not receive support at home had to rely wholly on their school to give them what they required to succeed there. The majority of the participants identified themselves as coming from backgrounds where one or both parents were semi-skilled or unskilled and thus likely to be from a lower socio-economic background than middle class children. Social and educational inequality are made by material and social capital. Material capital is the ability to pay for enhanced educational opportunities in addition to or instead of state education, such as private schooling or tuition, educational resources, the financial means to move into the catchment areas of good schools et cetera. Social capital entails both having an understanding of how to support children through the education system and having the confidence to negotiate it. It also means having networks and connections to others who can offer support, such as internships. Whether or not the family can access these capitals can make a vast difference to the child's life chances. There are other reasons for the socio-economic gap, such as gender, ethnicity, disability, et cetera and these may all interact to affect attainment, but they mostly relate to matters of material and social capital and the way these interrelate to the organisation of the education system (Francis and Wong, 2013).

The participants' comments in this section support recent research which shows that an important indicator of exam success are the characteristics of a child's family and that the characteristic which has the strongest influence on GCSE results is the qualification levels of the parents, especially the mother (Waldfogel and Washbrook, 2010).

For some of the participants learning was made even more difficult as they experienced the double effect of having little support at home in addition to not receiving the help they needed at school. This double effect, which meant it was difficult, if not impossible, to resolve problems with their English schoolwork, is considered more fully below.

#### 4.3.3 The double effect

The greatest difficulties for participants occurred when they underwent the double effect of finding schoolwork difficult, but not getting adequate help at school and not having parents who were in a position to help them. Schools need to investigate why an individual student is having difficulties academically, for example, Thalia had been diagnosed with dyslexia at school and believed she did not have enough help with this condition. Her parents did not have the knowledge or skills to help her, and the school offered only limited support. She spoke vividly of the shame and embarrassment she felt being singled out for extra help at secondary school:

I used to find it very difficult [learning to read] and it took my parents a long time to get me tested for dyslexia. And it came back that I was borderline and

so I was offered no help. I was just kind of left to it. My parents didn't have the education [to help]. I was probably a tiny bit behind [at primary school] but nothing major. A late developer, it was more when I started senior school that I felt it. I hated it ... I was made to feel stupid. Thalia

On the other hand, Rachel's needs were not picked up at school and she soon realised that she was not learning in the same way as the other children. The school did not appear to have the knowledge or resources to meet her particular needs and she left school at fourteen without qualifications. She felt she was constantly criticised at school and became frustrated:

When I started school I didn't like it from day one, not because I didn't like it, but because I knew it wasn't going into me like everyone else. I found reading very difficult. I just remember that whatever we did, and whatever subject, even if I liked it, it didn't make sense. And I remember things like, in secondary school, when they set homework they'd say allow half an hour and, I mean, it would take me three hours. And I would sit there and do it and I would be so tired. On the school report it would be like 'effort in class 10, effort in homework 10, actual ability to do it none'. And this was the crunch point, I said to my mum 'I'm not putting myself through this anymore. It doesn't matter how hard I try, I'm not getting it ...' And I just refused to go to school then, after that, which at the time caused massive amounts of arguments and fights, though now my mum says to me 'You did make the right decision'.

And it was things like careers interviews, they know your ability and are trying

to help you choose the path on what they think, based on what you can get down on paper, you know, and they come up with something stupid like an undertaker. Anything I said I wanted to do, at that time I wanted to be a social worker, and they said you can't do that because you have to write reports. I could write really well, but when it came to reading ... I didn't fit the typical dyslexic bracket because I could write. Rachel

Rachel's mother tried to help her at home, but she did not have the knowledge or the resources to support her daughter. By the time Rachel had children of her own she had worked out she needed to intervene at the earliest opportunity to prevent her son, who was showing signs of dyslexia, struggling with education as she had done:

And my mum would try and read with me at home, and my mum is fantastic at English, she would just get so frustrated with me and then she couldn't do it because she was banging her head against a wall. I would make the same mistakes all the time, I couldn't get anywhere. And I have two children, my son is seventeen and very dyslexic. When he was nine, I had him privately statemented [a statement of special educational needs] and I paid for three hours extra help a week through school. I knew it was the only way and it worked, he got his GCSEs. My son did so well, and the odds were against him, but his school were the opposite to mine, they provided for every need that was in his statement. And didn't just focus on his weaknesses, they focused on his strengths as well: there was none of that when I was at school. There were things I could do, like play the piano. I found I could learn things if

I did other things at the same time. They taught my son like that, so he learnt his times tables while bouncing a ball. These techniques weren't really known then. But I'm really enjoying it now, I'm learning, but even if I had been able to take in the information then, this time is better. Rachel

Like Rachel, Anna's dyslexia was not discovered at school and she found school work increasingly difficult as she got nearer to sitting her GCSEs.

When asked if her parents had helped her at this time, she said that, although they were supportive, they had not been able to help very much as they did not have the knowledge to do so:

... some of the things they really couldn't grasp. I think towards the end [of school] like towards year 11, I struggled and found things hard. And when I came here [FE college] they picked up that I had a bit of dyslexia. They said they may not have caught it while you were at school and so I didn't get the help I needed. The work got a lot harder [in year 11] and I always found it difficult, reading, and difficult to focus. I'm more of a practical kind, and sometimes I find it difficult to take things in and I have to re-read it over and over again, which is what the lady here [FE college] picked up on. Anna

The above participants all spoke of how inadequate support at school coupled with a lack of sufficient help at home meant they faced their GCSEs at a disadvantage. Parental education is more important than both socio-economic status and family income, but socio-economic status is important for exam results as students from lower income families achieved lower GCSE grades

in English and maths than those from higher income families (EPPSE 3 -16+, 2015). Disparities between children in different socio-economic groups often increase as a child grows older. Differences in families' abilities to help their children (such as getting them into good schools) also affect the children's achievements. Children from more economically advantaged families generally gain better skills at reading and problem-solving and are more likely to complete post compulsory education than children from poorer families (COPE, 2017).

Studies emphasise the importance of early intervention in a child's development even before they start school if they are to have an equal chance of success (Feinstein, 2003; Field, 2010). This must then be continued throughout primary school so that they do not lose ground against other more privileged children. Francis and Wong (2013) argue that a child's socioeconomic background is by far the main predictor of achievement. They give the example of a working-class child starting school already behind middle class children, the child may struggle to keep up and soon sees themselves as not as good as the others, which may affect their whole future life. To be able to benefit from the school curriculum, children's literacy and numeracy skills need to be adequate, however, about one fifth of children fail to reach level 2 (equivalent to GCSE grade C/grade 4) in literacy and numeracy (Clifton and Cook, 2012). Poor literacy skills affect the capacity to succeed in all subjects and there needs to be a concerted effort in primary schools to ensure children have a basic proficiency in literacy before they start secondary school (Cassen and Kingdon, 2007). In order to improve their chances, it is

necessary to be involved in children's development before the age of 5 as this seems to have long-lasting and positive effects. Early education leads to improvements in cognitive tests, including both maths and reading at age 7; these effects reduce in size but remain significant throughout the schooling years, up to age 16 (Goodman and Sianesi, 2005); (Lee and Burkman, in Engle and Black, 2008).

Thus, early years' education appears to be vital in helping to escape a cycle of poverty which can follow the child throughout their life. This is echoed in a recently published UK government policy on childcare and early education which states: 'Providing children with good-quality education and care in their earliest years can help them succeed at school and later in life. This contributes to creating a society where opportunities are equal regardless of background.' (Department for Education, 2015, p.1). This confirms Field's report on poverty and life chances (Field, 2010) which found overwhelming evidence that children's life chances are determined by their development in the first five years of life. The report concluded that family background, parental education, good parenting and opportunities for learning and development in the early years have greater significance for children achieving their potential in life than financial advantages.

Thalia, Rachel and Anna, who all have dyslexia, illustrate how a school failing to recognise or investigate why a child is struggling and then failing to deal effectively with any difficulties they may have, can lead to long term problems which may have been avoided if they had been picked up earlier. When this is

coupled with a lack of parental support the child experiences the double effect of neither school nor home offering the support they need. This is such a waste of opportunity as the negative effects can last a lifetime.

#### 4.3.4 Conclusion

The difficulties the participants described when dealing with GCSE English were of three types. The first, lack of support at school, often left the participant frustrated and disheartened, unable to keep up with the other students. The second, lack of support at home, meant that what was studied at school was not reinforced or extended in the home, as their parents were either unable (through lack of education) or unwilling to help. The final theme, lack of support at both home and school, shows how the participants who had experienced the double effect of both no support at school and at home, struggled with passing GCSE English. Of the three themes, participants saw lack of support at school as the principal reason they struggled, but if they had sufficient support at home, which reinforced and encouraged what they were learning at school, the effect of lack of sufficient support at school could be ameliorated. Those participants who experienced the double effect of lack of support both at home and at school were left on their own trying to cope with studying GCSE English without the help they needed. Therefore, there needs to be a greater awareness of the importance of support systems at home and at school for effective learning to take place. Students cannot be expected to be left to try to study alone without a support system.

## 5 Findings and Discussion: Part II

#### 5.1 Introduction

This chapter continues the discussion of the findings and looks at the effects on the participants of not having sufficient literacy. It then considers the motivations behind those who have returned to study as adults. Finally, the participants discuss how the education system could be improved.

## 5.2 In what ways do the participants' experiences of learning English shape later life experiences?

The extent and to which the participants' experiences of learning English continued to affect their lives after they left school was remarkable and they described four main ways in which their experiences of learning English had affected them long term. The first of these themes concerned their lifelong lack of confidence in their own ability and feelings of being inadequate intellectually, which the majority of the participants felt held them back. The second theme was that some of the participants were determined to get on with their lives and do well despite their lack of confidence. The third theme was not recognising, whilst they were still at school, the importance of qualifications for later life. The fourth theme which arose, for some of the participants, was the realisation of how the type of language they speak and the accent they use can affect how they are perceived by others.

5.2.1 How their experiences have affected their confidenceThe extent to which the participants' confidence was still being affected by

their earlier experiences came as a surprise. They spoke of how they had been left with a general feeling of a lack of confidence in their own ability, which applied to both their school experience and carried on affecting them in their adult life. The negative memories of studying English GCSE and many other subjects at school had continued to trouble them as they went through life. All the participants felt disappointed with school, as they had not achieved the qualifications they would have liked to achieve and they did not feel school had set them up to lead the sort of fulfilled lives they could have led.

They described having continuing feelings of the anxiety they had felt at school and a constant worry of being judged and found wanting, even now. Their school experiences had repercussions throughout their lives, for example, when asked if her difficulties with English had affected her in other ways in her life, Thalia replied:

It's affected my confidence. Even now, the fact is, I don't have my English - I find it embarrassing to say I can't go to college because I don't have my English because, you know, GCSEs are such a big focus now... on having GCSEs and, you know, don't get me wrong, because I like reading, and writing is an everyday thing. But if it still makes you feel a little bit... yeah... I feel terrible, I feel people are going to judge me, it does knock my confidence... and in jobs and things as well. You don't have a 'C'... before it didn't matter what grade. Thalia

Thalia explained how her lack of English GCSE had affected her in many

areas of life: if she went to the pub with friends and talk turned to school and qualifications, she always felt uncomfortable and hoped the conversation would change direction so that she did not have to admit her lack of qualifications. She felt that when applying for jobs the emphasis was on the grades someone had achieved, not the actual person they were, so she always believed herself to be at a disadvantage. Now, as she was working as a teaching assistant, I asked her if she would like to go further and train as a teacher, she looked horrified and said she did not believe it was something she could aim for. In effect, she felt limited by her early school experiences which, instead of enabling her to flourish, had shut her down and led to her feeling excluded from careers she might have had.

Thalia's comments are representative of many of the participants who do not have the confidence to grasp the opportunities life has to offer them as adults. This confirms research that confidence has a large part to play in determining whether adults are able to take up any opportunities that are available to them (Norman and Hyland, 2003). They found that barriers to learning fall into three groups *situational* which concerns having time to attend courses and sufficient income to pay for them; *institutional* where the system does not adequately consider the teaching and learning needs of adult learners; and *dispositional* which relates to adults' negative perceptions of previous learning experiences and their expectations and goals, (McGivney, pp. 17–22 in Norman and Hyland, 2003). A vital aspect of the dispositional barriers is the extent of the adult learners' confidence and whether it aids or impedes learning. So many of the participants spoke of lack of confidence and how it had hindered them

in their adult life. The idea of confidence may sometimes be used inaccurately and vaguely when, in fact, it can be central to the learners' chances of success when returning to education. (Norman and Hyland, 2003).

It has been suggested that social interaction may be seen as an important factor in increasing confidence and several of the participants mentioned how much they enjoyed coming to the adult English classes, where they felt that both teachers and staff were supportive. Working and interacting together as a group can improve confidence and levels of achievement and so learning as part of social practice should be encouraged (Lave and Wenger, cited in Hutchins, 1993).

However, some of the participants were determined to do well despite their early experiences. They wanted to put those experiences behind them and get on with their lives.

5.2.2 Determination to succeed in spite of the impact on confidence

All the participants said that school had made them have negative feelings

about their own ability. For example, Rachel believed she had been written off

by the school and needed to get away from that environment in order to

succeed. She described how not having learnt to read at school made her

feel:

It knocked my confidence, but luckily, I'm such a person that I thought I'm not putting myself through it and I still stand by that to this day [leaving school at

fourteen], it was the right decision. It didn't stop my life, I mean, by the time I was twenty I was earning more than everyone I knew. So it didn't... all the things they had tried to make me feel, not intentionally I think, but given they were working on what was written down on a piece of paper, they thought I was going to fail, that I wouldn't succeed in anything. That was how I was made to feel. Rachel

Similarly to Rachel, Marie, working as a health care assistant, was determined to make the best of things and when asked if not having passed English GCSE has affected how she felt about herself, replied:

Yeah, kind of, but I think there's not much point thinking about it, and just make the best of things. That's just my way of thinking though I can imagine, my god, it's worse for others, it has impacted my life really, because if I'd have got it... I couldn't just, you know, it would have made my life easier as a whole, if I had got it at school, of course. Marie

Julie, now a lecturer in a further education college described her discomfort in having to write on the board as she is never confident that she has spelt words correctly:

It makes me feel so small if I haven't spelt something right, it knocks you back.

It only takes a little thing like a student commenting on my spelling and I'm right back again, or a particular colleague saying something about my spelling.

It didn't matter how great my lessons were, she'd pick me up about my

spelling. I never caught up and that's what this did to me, I never caught up.

Throughout my secondary education I just assumed I wasn't very bright. Julie

These participants appeared to have personalities and strength of character which allowed them to put to one side what had happened to them, without forgetting their experiences. They were able, to a certain extent, to put their past experiences behind them and were determined to progress in their careers and look to the future. The participants' comments are reinforced by a study by Archer and Yates (2016) on career confidence, indicating that those who took part in a career coaching course had a higher degree of positivity after coaching to change cognitive processes and that this led to an increase in confidence. It is possible that Rachel, Marie and Julie have characters that allow them to have sufficient self-belief and confidence largely to overcome their early experiences and while not forgetting their past are able to make the best of their current circumstances.

Conversely, some of the participants said how they had just not realised, how important it was to gain qualifications when they were at school. They were now left having to try to make up lost ground and spend time studying for examinations they could have taken at school.

5.2.3 Failure to recognise the importance of qualifications when a teenager

One of the elements that had the greatest impact on the participants' lives was
their lack of qualifications and several of them felt they had really not
understood the consequences of not getting adequate qualifications while still

at school. Several of the participants spoke of how education at secondary school seemed to have been largely about gaining qualifications, but they had not realised the importance of those qualifications and now regretted not putting in the effort to do well at the time. When asked if she felt pressurised at school, when she was a teenager, because of the coming exams, Marie, who has now returned to education as an adult, said she had not appreciated the importance of GCSEs when she was at school:

I just don't think I was really that bothered. How I didn't realise how important it was, like, for the future. I don't think I ever really tried. I can't remember revising like I'm revising now for things [English GCSE]. Marie

Leon felt that schools give too much irrelevant information to students and then, when it is time to choose which subjects to study with a view to a career, young people do not have the knowledge to make an informed decision. They do not see the point of why they are learning certain things. In addition to Leon's experience, Anna, when asked when she started having problems at school and why she thought she fell behind the rest of the class, said:

It had been in the secondary school, I think it was lack of attention, I just lost focus for a couple of years. Anna

Joe, who is now taking a part-time distance learning degree while working fulltime, echoed the comments of Marie and Anna in feeling that he lost focus: I think that in some places, teachers who can, should give you more attention but, some places can't because they have too many children. I think all the extra activities by the schools are important, but that is voluntary and I'm glad I went to the ones which gave the extra help. A lot of it [what happens to a child] is circumstantial. A lot is going on in your life and you're not focusing on school because of these other things. And a lot is down to you and how focused you are as an individual. If I am honest, I don't think I was motivated enough when I was younger and then now it's the opposite. I've got to a point where I want to make those changes so, it's easy for me to make time in the evening to study... and I don't mind doing it. Joe

Thalia, Rachel, Marie, Anna, Joe, and Leon's comments confirm the findings of a study by Rabušicová and Oplatková (2010) which looked at a hypothetical model of an adult with inadequate literacy skills in order to discover what life was like for such a person. In their study the information was collected through a biographical interview with a respondent whose characteristics corresponded to those of a hypothetical person who was likely to show signs of low functional literacy. Characteristics, such as gender, age, parental education achievements and job history of this hypothetical person have been derived from the results of research into adult functional literacy. The analysis of the qualitative data focused on three areas of the respondent's life, which were her family life, her time at school, and her lifestyle. The study identified how the person used coping strategies in her daily life. It found that lack of adequate literacy means it is impossible to gain the qualifications necessary for a wide range of career opportunities and Rabušicová and Oplatková

(2010) found that insufficient literacy skills were often the result of the low socio-economic status of the family, which consisted largely of unskilled parents with limited education and financial insecurity, which is similar to the families of most of the participants. The lack of skills could also result from having a combination of unemployed family members, an absent parent, lack of interest in culture or education, parents with low expectations of their child's ability and an indifference to their child's individual development. All these issues were found to influence whether, and to what extent, a person used their literacy skills.

Adults with inadequate literacy skills may not necessarily value the skills gained at school as important for their everyday lives, whereas schools should make an effort to motivate pupils, especially those from socio-economically disadvantaged families, to use their literacy skills in order to meet their individual needs, which the participants did not feel had happened for them. If an adult lacks adequate literacy skills it can lead to a negative self-image and thus, they avoid putting themselves in situations which they think may set themselves up for failure. The study argued that the adult's lack of goals and expectations is connected to a lack of self-confidence. This passive attitude to life then allows decisions to be made because of external circumstances and it is this which dictates the direction life takes, rather than the individual making informed, independent choices. Such a position then has the potential to be reproduced through subsequent generations and so continue the cycle of inadequate literacy skills, Rabušicová and Oplatková (2010). This

diminished by their experience at school. These experiences counted against their attempts to learn and then they felt left behind, they could not keep up and felt out of place.

A further way the participants' experiences of learning English shaped their later life experiences was the awareness for some students that the way they spoke set them apart from others and led to them feeling judged as somehow less than others.

## 5.2.4 The significance of language use

Two of the participants told me how they had become aware that the language they used every day was influencing how certain people perceived them. They used the informal language they had been brought up to speak and not the formal language used in school and felt this counted against them in many situations. Similarly to the other participants, Joe also struggled academically all through school, but his negative experiences at school were compounded by his awareness that he spoke differently from the other students and teachers and was treated differently by them. This confirms research which found that how a child uses language affects both how they are able to take part in the taught curriculum at school and how well they feel they fit into the school environment. (Bernstein, 1960). A child's early experiences influence the extent to which they identify with the school system and their behaviour and actions may also influence how teachers view the child and their abilities (Hamel, in Francis and Wong, 2013). Participants with regional accents commented on the difficulties they faced because of feeling that they were

judged and positioned within society by the way they spoke. For example, Joe was born into a working-class environment and has never forgotten changing schools at thirteen and the unpleasant teasing he received for speaking in a way which was not deemed appropriate by his new peer group who used received pronunciation. This led to him feeling uncomfortable and out of place and he is still wary of peoples' reactions to the way he speaks.

As an adult, Dale, brought up in the west of England with a distinctive regional accent and dialect, took action and decided he would change the way he spoke completely. On moving to London for work, he put a great deal of effort into affecting the well-modulated accent and appropriate language of an educated southerner. He described how sometimes he is aware that a word has not sounded quite right as he said it and he makes a mental note that it was not quite right. However, he has been successful in giving the impression of being an educated, middle-class person from the south. He feels that to have kept his former accent would have marked him out as less intelligent and less well educated. In contrast, he said that when he goes back home and sees his 'mates,' he reverts back to his childhood accent and way of speaking in order to fit in with, and be part of, his old crowd. Both Dale and Joe became aware that the way they spoke affected how others saw them and they both determined to modify how they spoke in order to avoid being judged and found wanting. This confirms the findings of Bernstein (2010), in chapter 3, section 3.9, who argued that particular groups in society may use language differently and this can affect how they are seen by others. The comments made by Dale and Joe exemplify this as they felt judged negatively by the way in which they spoke.

Bernstein maintained that there are two types of language used in society which are a *formal* language and a simpler *public* language. He argued that the use of a *public* language by certain groups in society, such as unskilled and semi-skilled workers, criminal sub-cultures, rural groups and teenagers, may result in their finding it difficult to fully gain admittance to certain areas of society and that this may begin as soon as they start school. These differences in the types of speech spoken are most evident where there is the largest disparity in socio-economic status. Within English society great emphasis is placed on what people do for a living and how much money they have, and this is closely tied to language. The effects that language have in society are significant because using language that is deemed not to be ideal, that is not using received pronunciation, may limit the progress someone can make in their choice of occupation and so affect their socio-economic status.

The type of language and speech patterns a child learns is determined, from the moment they begin to speak, by a combination of their environment, surroundings, and family. The linguistic style used influences both what is being learnt and future learning and behaviour. Language is part of the social structure and a child's social structure is part of their experience of life. To try to make a child use a *formal* language when they have been born into a culture which uses a more simple *public* language may lead to them being isolated from their usual relationships, (Bernstein, 2010).

When *public* language and responses are in accordance with the experiences of the group of speakers and listeners the vocabulary used may be limited, but this is because the user is reacting to their own experience of that social group. The speaker may use only *public* language or may use both *public* language and *formal* language. The language used reinforces patterns of thought and acting which are used by the speaker's social group and it also reinforces group identity. Using a particular form of language allows for certain ideas and concepts to be expressed and a *public* language is the nature of the language or the way it is used, rather than the actual vocabulary used (Bernstein, 2006, 2010). A *public* language used by a group does not have to use a common vocabulary, but does have a common linguistic style, such as a particular dialect. 'A dialect is a form of a language that is spoken in a particular area', (Collins, 2019a).

The problem for the users of *public* language, as both Joe and Dale found, is that when society uses *formal* language they are put at a disadvantage if they are perceived to be using the wrong language or dialect. In the case of literacy acquisition, the conventional way of teaching in schools uses *formal* language. The short, simple sentences used in *public* language are not adequate for expressing complex ideas, while using incorrect grammar and vocabulary can make the intended meaning uncertain. In a *public* language meaning may be implied and this can result in the child not being able to describe adequately what they want to say to a teacher, whereas a *formal* language allows for subjective meanings to be explained clearly. Joe and Dale both realised at an early age that it was in their interest to change how they spoke at school in

order to fit in. The comments made by Joe and Dale exemplify the way people may be influenced by the class system to judge others by their accent.

The language used by a particular group is one of the main ways it reinforces the opinions and behaviour of that group and this can have the effect of favouring certain ideas more than others. An individual needs to be able to use *public* language but also use *formal* language when necessary. Trying to impose a formal language on a child can take them away them from their usual social groups because the change in the language used affects those relationships and how the child sees themselves (Bernstein, 2010). Unfortunately, with regard to literacy acquisition, a *public* language is not consistent with the mainstream way of teaching which uses formal language. Using a *public* language may not be adequate to express complicated ideas and concepts and the type of language used may not be able to communicate the meaning they want to express (Bernstein, 2010). Differences in language will affect the extent to which a child is able to access the curriculum (Bernstein, 1960) and their early experiences are likely to influence the extent to which they identify with school. Language use may influence how teachers view the child and their ability (Hamel, in Francis and Wong (2013).

As Joe and Dale discovered the distinct pronunciation and dialect of a particular group may be considered undesirable by certain parts of society since the accent spoken by those holding positions of power in society, for example politicians, the judiciary, doctors et cetera, is frequently what is known as 'received pronunciation' which is 'a way of pronouncing British

English that is often considered to be the standard accent' (Collins, 2019b). Tikly and Barrett (2011) highlight the importance of education in enabling an individual to have a sufficient level of income to provide for an adequate standard of living. Such education also has an inherent value in itself and allows the individual to feel a sense of self-worth. In order for children to have access to a good education any barriers to success need to be identified and removed.

#### 5.2.5 Conclusion

For the participants, their experience of learning English has shaped their later life experiences in several ways: for some, it has affected their confidence negatively throughout their lives and resulted in them having underlying feelings of anxiety and a worry of being seen to be lacking intellectually in some way. However, other participants, although they were aware that they had not done well at school academically, were determined to succeed in spite of an ongoing lack of confidence. in addition, some of the participants had failed to realise the importance of gaining qualifications when they were at school and were now determined to make up for lost time and obtain the qualifications they needed. One group of participants had realised, as they grew older, that the type of language or accent they use may affect how others see them if they mix with certain groups in society.

# 5.3 What is the motivation of the participants, who have returned to education, to study GCSE English?

What stood out here was the level of commitment and purpose the

participants showed. Whatever the reason for returning to education they expressed absolute determination to succeed this time. Now they intended to make up for what they had missed out on. The overwhelming motivation for participants returning to education to study English now (at this stage in their lives) was to gain qualifications for a particular career. Two main themes emerged here, the first was that the majority of participants said they needed it to progress in their chosen career. For those participants it was the motivation to get a professional qualification that caused them to enrol on the English course. They had specific careers they were aiming for but, they could not access the necessary training courses without GCSE English. The second theme was to prove to themselves that they were capable of getting the qualifications they did not get at school, in spite of their early negative experiences of education at school. Interestingly some of the participants had been left with, what could almost be described as, a compulsion to keep on getting qualifications. They expressed an urge to succeed academically which had never left them. These themes are explored in more detail below.

### 5.3.1 Studying GCSE English to get a particular qualification

Four of the participants were working in healthcare but could not proceed any further in their careers because of their lack of GCSE English. In effect, not gaining that one qualification at school was locking them out of their choice of occupation and all that goes with it: a satisfying and meaningful career, better pay, a defined progression structure and status. For example, Debbie, who is hoping to train as a nurse, explained that her choice of career when she left school was very limited:

I probably would have gone on to nursing if I had had better grades. Um, I think when I left school, hairdressing and things like that were the only things I could get into with my grades... Nursing was never thought of when I left school. I just wouldn't have been able to get in. I didn't get GCSE English at school... and I want to do nursing... I am working as a Health Care assistant at the community hospital down the road. At work they have been talking about me doing an apprenticeship... I would do exams and they would send me out on placements, wherever they were wanted. I think it's about four years. Hopefully, if I get my grades. Debbie

The possibility of doing the nursing apprenticeship was the incentive she needed to retake her exams. This was also the situation with Anna, who had wanted to be a nurse since she was at school but could not, because she did not have English and maths GCSE:

I currently do home care which I have done for five years. I want to get into nursing so I need my GCSEs, English and maths, before I can go any further.

I really enjoy home care and I always wanted to do nursing. Anna

The majority of the participants shared the same overwhelming sense of motivation and they now had a powerful reason to succeed. They either had not had that when they were still at school or were not able to fulfil it, as they did not have the requisite qualifications to be accepted onto the relevant training courses for the careers they have now chosen. This links to the

findings in research question 3, that some students do not realise how passing GCSEs while still at school, means so many more opportunities are available to them. It would seem to be beneficial if there were a greater emphasis in schools on ensuring students understand the necessity of passing certain exams if they have a career in mind. There also needs to be an emphasis on the importance of passing English and maths GCSE as they are so often essential among the entry requirements to a large variety of careers. It is unfortunate that so many of the participants lacked motivation at school and so finding ways to motivate students at school is vital if they are to succeed.

Research confirms that motivation plays a large part in succeeding academically and in a study concerned with motivation to read, it was found that different factors lead to a student learning to read and different factors keep them reading. A student may persevere with a text they find boring or difficult if they perceive it to have a useful purpose for them, (Jang et al., 2015). Although the factors may be related there are significant differences between them and if the teacher knows what the differences are, they can overcome any assumptions that a student is or is not motivated. Thus, the teacher can plan lessons which accommodate the student's particular reasons for being motivated to read. A student's views on reading develop over time and those views determine whether they read or avoid reading. Choosing to read is affected by other issues such as their level of interest in a specific subject. Therefore, a teacher, who knows a students' interests, may help offset a negative view of reading by offering relevant texts. A student's

interests and their attitude to reading may differ depending on the value they place on the importance of what they are reading so, although they may view reading negatively, they may still value the importance of certain texts. This suggests that discovering what the student wants may be key to unlocking disaffection (McGlinn, 2003; Honeyford et al., 2015).

Leon, similarly, spoke with enthusiasm of his work as a carer and was keen to qualify as a nurse too but also needed to pass English:

I'm here to get a C in English. I'm a full-time carer. It's in the community, so I do home care. I want to go to university to study nursing. I want to do mental health nursing. I have worked in special needs and with special needs children and I worked in a nursing home, but the one thing I haven't done is mental health nursing. Leon

Marie, who had left school with few qualifications, had just successfully completed an access to higher education course and was hoping to go to university if she could now pass English and maths:

[I have] just done an access course, I did science. I've got a conditional offer to do paramedic science, but I need English and maths. I'm just about to start a weekend job as a Health Care Assistant. I need to have my English to go to university. Marie

Debbie, Anna, Leon and Marie were all motivated to return to education in order to pass GCSE English (and/or maths) which they had not passed at school. They want to pursue a career in the medical profession and their determination means that they have been able to transcend the experience of not obtaining the qualifications they needed at school and change their employment situation. It can be very difficult for adult students to return to education for many reasons because of the barriers to learning that arise when people leave school, such as work and family commitments, cost and lack of confidence (Department for Education, 2018); (Norman and Hyland, 2003). I am arguing that those who had difficulty acquiring adequate literacy skills will often tolerate the inequality as something they have to accept, even though they are aware their skills are behind those of their peers, whereas the participants who have returned to education all have sufficiently strong motivation to overcome the barriers to learning to enrol on adult education courses to pursue the qualifications they missed out on at school. They may have low self-esteem and low expectations of being able to change their situation, but they are trying to change their situation. Their life experiences indicate that they should not challenge the status quo because that is how things are, and the reasons for this lack of opposition link to Bourdieu's (1986) concept of habitus. Habitus is central in regulating the practices making up societal relationships and so the way in which people live their lives reflects those relationships and the surroundings people live in. They are influenced by their experiences of life and are inclined to choose what they have encountered previously and thus their cultural and social preferences are affected by what is available to them. For the group of participants taking the

GCSE English class, the desire to gain a particular qualification was the spur that drove them back into education. They have not settled with the lower status occupations which they have already but are aiming for prestigious, worthwhile careers they have chosen. In 4.4.3 above, participants speak of how they had not appreciated the importance of gaining qualifications at school.

I asked Toby, who successfully passed an English GCSE resit when he was 20 years old, why he thought he succeeded then, after he left school. He answered:

I wanted it badly. In school I never had a clear goal. When you have such a clear goal you're more driven. I would have been more motivated if I had felt the subjects were relevant. Toby

Toby realised when he started work that he did have a skillset, there were things he was good at, whereas he had always felt he was not good at academic subjects when he was at school. His answer exemplifies the difference between the participants' attitudes when at school and how they felt after they left.

In a meritocracy the argument is that social mobility is based on merit and that people can move up or down within society because of what they have achieved (Francis and Wong, 2013). Therefore, in a meritocracy, society benefits since people work in positions which are appropriate for their skills,

that is, those considered to be less able do the lower level jobs while those considered to be more able do the higher skilled jobs. In fact, social inequality has increased while social mobility has been reduced because those from low socio-economic groups are so disadvantaged compared to the privileges enjoyed by those from higher socio-economic groups (Francis and Wong, 2013). Thus, even though, as stated in *Skills for Life* (2001), the education system is intended to prepare young people with the knowledge and abilities they need to be productive members of society and the workforce, this has not happened. If a student leaves school without English GCSE many career opportunities are closed to them. Debbie, Anna, Leon and Marie have all now decided to aim for careers they really would like to have, but the opportunities should have been available when they left school. They should have been able to leave school with adequate qualifications at GCSE so that they could enrol in suitable courses.

Not gaining suitable qualifications at school had also affected, Thalia and Stevie, who both work in education and need English GCSE to progress in their chosen fields:

I work as an LSA and I need a qualification. I'd like to continue doing that to at least Higher Level Teaching Assistant. I decided that I want a career in a certain area, I want to work in the classroom and want to be with children. I'm learning myself now, but back then [at school] it was a bit difficult. Thalia

But I can't do a PGCE, they said you can't as you don't have GCSE. So, I need both the English and maths. Stevie

They both have specific careers in mind, while Mia has found that the type of work open to her is so limited by not having any GCSEs. All the participants in this section need GCSE English to progress in their career path or, in Mia's case for starting a career:

I felt like I was restricting myself in terms of career if I didn't have any GCSEs, just maths and English. So, I thought now would be a good time, so I can do it while I'm still 21. I have no qualifications whatsoever. Mia

However, some of the participants had a different reason for coming back to education: they wanted to gain qualifications for their own personal satisfaction rather than for improving their qualifications.

5.3.2 Studying GCSE English and/or other subjects to prove to themselves that they can achieve academically

Several of the participants had returned to education to prove to themselves that they were capable of achieving qualifications they had not been able to achieve before. They did not intend to start new careers or use the qualifications to improve their present work situations, they just wanted the personal satisfaction of knowing they could succeed at something that had eluded them in the past. This had made them determined to prove themselves despite their negative experiences of school.

When Rachel was asked what her motivation was to return to education, she replied that she did not need to get English GCSE but, as she had always felt anxious and miserable going to school, she was taking the course for her own satisfaction:

... it was like, I'm going to prove to myself that I can do it. It was more of a 'I'm not scared'. I'm a barber and I had my own business. I didn't need to change careers for financial gain. Even coming to college [currently] was different ... when I walked to school, anxiety began as soon as I started out. Coming to college I was so excited. It's a different atmosphere, the approach to teaching is very different now, in every aspect, it's just different. Whereas now, even though I don't get it right all the time, it doesn't bother me. But it did take a really long time to get to that point. Seeing different clients from all walks of life, I realise now that lots of other people have similar problems. Rachel

Rachel's motivation was similar to that of Julie, in wanting to achieve for the sake of it. However, Julie's went much further as she felt compelled, repeatedly, to take new qualifications, almost as if she was making up for her past. For example, Julie, a college lecturer in her 50s, described how struggling with English had led to her spending time, throughout her life, taking various qualifications to prove that she could pass exams. She felt a continuing motivation to gain paper evidence that demonstrated her academic ability. Her poor spelling still hung over her, despite having left school many years ago, and it continued to affect her at work. She felt she had been

classified as lacking in intelligence by, what she considered to be, her substandard use of English. She said how she never feels comfortable having to write on the board when teaching, as she is never sure she has spelt them correctly:

By the time I got to secondary school I'd been boxed as a person of a particular level of intelligence. They don't know who you are. I still wonder if that's what motivates me. I did three 'A' levels, but I really struggled. I did biology but I had to give it up because of all the spellings. And again, I couldn't do a degree, so I had to do two years at King Alfred's [a local college] to get a diploma and then I went to London to make it up to a degree. Then I got a place to study at Bristol University and I needed that, I needed that to prove that I could do it. Julie

Like Julie, Toby, who works full-time, had enrolled in a distance learning degree.

I felt I had a chip, I wanted to go to uni to prove I could do it. I now got 80% on the essays. I never got any encouragement [at school], just one careers advice chat and I didn't take the careers advice seriously. There was no mentoring, no one to look up to, I never found that 'thing'. Toby

Similarly, Jane, a bright, articulate, semi-retired woman, enrolled on a distance learning degree in her 60s in her favourite subject, science, a subject she had barely been able to study at school. She had many different jobs over the

years but had not let a lack of qualifications stand in her way. Although for Jane, there would always be the thought of how different her life might have been, if she could have had greater opportunities as a child. She might have been able to have a much more satisfying and well-paid career if only she had had more chances at school.

### 5.3.3 Conclusion

Asking the participants about their motivation to return to education revealed the extent to which their negative experiences of learning at school had affected them all in some way, either by them regretting their lack of qualifications and trying to make up for it now or, in the case of Rachel, Julie and Jane, wanting to get qualifications to prove to themselves that they could pass.

## 5.4 What are the participants' views on how the education system could be improved to avoid others having their experiences?

I was interested to discover the participants' views about any failings they saw in the education system and how they might be improved, in order to prevent others having similar experiences to theirs. The participants had all had less than ideal educational experiences themselves and I wanted them to have an opportunity to suggest improvements or alternative ways that schools could act to avoid others going through what they had experienced.

The participants mentioned repeatedly their concerns about the burden of the pressure put on children at school, who feel a relentless anxiety to achieve. All

the participants talked about seeing school as somewhere they felt there were continuous demands on them to achieve. They believed this was unnecessarily harsh and that the pressure must be, so that children could have a more positive learning experience. The participants made various suggestions for improvements to the current system based on their own experiences and, for those who had children, on their children's experiences too. When asked if they had any suggestions on the ways in which the education system could be improved the participants were quick to reply, suggesting various, different ideas which are shown below.

### 5.4.1 Reduce the pressure to achieve

When invited to express their opinions about the way schools' function, all the participants said they thought schools put far too much pressure on young people. The word 'pressure' was mentioned frequently and was linked to school's emphasis on passing examinations. All the participants said they believed that so much of school seemed to be solely about passing examinations. For example, Marie was concerned with young people feeling a sense of failure at 16, if, like herself, they did not do well in GCSEs:

There's way too much pressure on kids at 16, because it's drilled into them that GCSEs are the most important exams you're ever going to do and these define your career path for the future, and then they wonder why these poor kids have anxiety levels through the roof. Because you're drilling into them that if they fail this, they've failed life. Marie

These views were echoed by Thalia, who was dissatisfied with her education to the point of hating school. She also was concerned with the extent of the pressure to achieve by the education system, which was now affecting her child. In addition, she was concerned that her son did not always understand his schoolwork but was being pushed to learn just enough to pass a test:

I was not satisfied with my education the whole way through. I did end up hating school which made it really hard to engage and want to learn... yeah. I think my biggest issue in the education system, at the moment, is pressure that's put on our children. I feel it myself with coming back to do English, it's a lot and they have to do and they're young still, but it's a great big thing. If they don't get them, they're not worthy or something. I think the pressure, and really bad knock-on effect on our children, yes, it's great to have it but, if they're not mentally well that's no good and I think the pressure... makes them feel like if they don't get this, something's wrong with them... I think that's a big problem. My son in year six bringing home SATs work all the time and there are certain things he has to do to get the marks, personally I don't feel that he's comprehended the whole of it at all. He says, 'I just read one line - that's all I have to answer'. Yes, I think there's too much pressure on them... and being made to feel not worthy if they don't get it, they're not good enough and that's not fair. Thalia

Anna also said how she felt schools' expectations were too high when she was at school and those expectations were still as high now. Children feel a constant pressure to achieve, which can take any enjoyment from the

experience:

I think the schools expect a lot from them [children]. Anna

Additionally, Tom felt that schools were often too critical of students because the school felt the pressure of how it would be rated academically, as it wanted results to look impressive.

The comments by Marie, Thalia, Anna and Tom are consistent with research (Pascoe et al., 2019) which found that ongoing stress is a considerable worry for school students. This negatively affects their capacity to learn, their academic performance, employment prospects and physical and mental health. The authors recommended that it is important to find ways to increase students' ability to deal with stress-management. This is echoed by Roome and Soan (2019) whose research emphasised the importance of staff providing support, particularly for students who are susceptible to exam stress. They also recommend that staff should have training to raise their awareness of risk factors which can affect students' ability to cope. It would also be advantageous for staff to have training into how their behaviour can contribute to stress or alleviate it. Additionally, students who need more support in relation to their well-being could be identified and relevant support offered.

As Jackson (2006) points out, contemporary society emphasises individualism and this has led to a culture of competition in education whereby schools have

to publish their results in national league tables which show how successful (or otherwise) they are. Thus, there is much pressure on students to succeed academically at school and, as Reay (2001) states, this can lead to them fearing they will be seen as a failure if they do not succeed academically.

### 5.4.2 Make school more democratic

Certain of the participants argued that they would have preferred a more collaborative way of learning rather than being told what to do all the time. They resented being told what to do and knowing that they had no choice, they had to go to school. Marie spoke of how she much prefers coming to college, which is her own choice.

I felt I was very limited by not having GCSEs. That's why I came here (FE college), and I'll feel so pleased with myself when I get them. I much prefer it as an adult though, the environment is completely different, you come to college, you go to your class, but you don't have to be there, you're choosing to be there. And that, in itself, makes it easier because you know it's what you have decided and not what the government is telling you, you have to do.

Being around other like-minded adults as well, looking at other people and thinking 'you're a lot older than me', makes me feel better. It shows it's never too late to get these qualifications. Everybody is here for their own reasons and I respect a lot of the people in my classes, a couple of them are there because their kids are currently doing GCSEs and they want to be able to help them and I think that's one of the greatest reasons to do it. I really have admiration for those people. Marie

Like Marie, Stevie was also enjoying her college experience and appreciated having clear, written guidance on what was expected from her, which was preferable to her memories of confusing classes. She wants to know what she should be learning and whether or not she has achieved her goals:

I think in English there should always be learning objectives on the board and a plenary session at the end, to say what have you learnt, have you learnt anything? Stevie

Stevie recommended that all school-teachers should behave more like the college teachers and treat everyone as equals, rather than ordering others about:

I think not embarrassing people in lessons, allowing slow processors time to think. Be down to earth with the children, rather than being a teacher at the front. Stevie

She wants to see a more equal partnership between teacher and student, rather than the student always being on the receiving end. The comments of Marie and Stevie are in line with the findings of Roome and Soan (2019) who suggest there are many strategies which could be used in the classroom to improve students' abilities in reducing exam stress. They argue that students, as well as staff, should be aware of their goals and be given strategies to cope with exam stress. They also advocate changes in teaching practice, for

example giving students opportunities to be involved in more investigative learning tasks, to develop thinking and problem-solving strategies, recognise the importance of their own contributions, and to make sure that staff are seen to be supportive and not pressurising. This follows on from the work of Paolo Freire in the 1970s whose 'critical pedagogy' is a teaching approach designed to help students question and challenge both the way they are taught and the beliefs and systems in society. He criticises the practice of the teacher acting as a banker who deposits facts into the students' minds which the students passively accept without making any contribution to the dialogue. Freire's (1970) approach encourages students to think critically about their position within the education system and society as a whole, rather than the teacher narrating and the student passively listening.

5.4.3 Give young people the information they need to make career choices at the right time

Dale argued that there was a lack of guidance on how to find an appropriate career, as he felt schools place too much importance on having a career without really helping students to decide what career is best for them as individuals. More emphasis should be placed on explaining why particular exams are vital for many careers. Thus, they may go into jobs which do not really suit them:

The emphasis is on having a career or job, not how to get it. Dale

Leon agreed with this and suggested that 16 was too young to know what you

want to do in life and he also pointed out that he had friends who had completed degrees and yet were now working in completely unrelated areas:

And it's too early to choose at 16 what you want to do. I want to do this and then I want to do this and I know a few people who have come out of university and they say: 'I don't even do what I studied. I don't know why I studied it', as they don't even do what they studied. So, when they give you the option of what to do, I feel you're really quite young. Leon

Julie, a lecturer at a further education college, made the following comment about her experiences of teaching:

The investment isn't in schools for some young people to rise up. And it starts from primary school that labelling stereotype has happened. And by the time you get to secondary school you're not going to try and change the path that you've been set on. I used to teach the low sets in a secondary school and some of the children were really bright. They would come out with real high order thinking, I might tell them how good it was, but they would go, 'no, no' - and nothing would change. But where is the will to change that? I thought it was going to change but it hasn't, has it? An opportunity is there [in adult education] and I do have a big regret that they are cutting back on adult education because that does give people a chance and an opportunity, doesn't it? Julie

Julie felt that everything has stayed the same, with people locked in their places within society, often without the will to make changes or the knowledge of how to do so. This is echoed in literature discussed earlier in this chapter, in section 4.3.3, such as in (Rabušicová and Oplatková, 2010; Francis and Wong, 2013; Cassen and Kingdon, 2007; Archer et.al., 2007; Francis and Mills, 2012; Osler, 2006).

### 5.4.4 Conclusion

All the participants had strong views on how the education system could be improved in order to ensure others did not have their experiences. The strongest suggestion they made was that there should not be such relentless pressure on students to pass examinations, so that this could lead to a more relaxed and pleasant learning environment. Another popular suggestion was to make schools more democratic, with less of a confrontational relationship between teachers and students. Several participants said it was important for students to be given relevant careers information at the right time, in order to be able to fully consider their future options before they left school.

### 5.5 Chapter conclusion

The different issues raised by the participants all show how long lasting and profound their experiences have been. The negative effects of school have not gone when they reached adulthood and even those participants, such as Julie, Dale and Tom, who now have successful careers they enjoy can be troubled by feelings of inadequacy. The timeframe of when the participants left school, ranges from over forty years ago to one year ago, however, it

emerged from the interviews that the majority of participants had negative feelings in relation to learning English regardless of the period when they received their school education. I had expected the younger participants to have had more positive experiences because teaching methods have changed (and hopefully) improved over the years but, the outcomes for many were similar regardless of age, that is, the damaging effects of having a lower level of literacy than they wanted or needed.

All the participants had been affected by their literacy inequalities, some still had ongoing issues with low self-esteem, others, while very aware of how they felt, were determined not to let their early negative experiences stand in their way. The participants often felt that the difficulties they faced with GCSE English at school were due to lack of support, either from parents, the school or both. Many were working in areas which were not their preferred choice of occupation and were highly motivated to do whatever they needed to change their circumstances for the better. All the participants had strong views on ways in which the education system could be improved to other prevent students having similar negative feelings about their education.

### **6 Conclusion**

### 6.1 Introduction

In researching this thesis, I set out to uncover what it felt like for a group of adults to go through life having experienced a lack of literacy at school. This conclusion comprises the following: it reconsiders the research questions; lays out the original contribution to knowledge made by the thesis and why it is significant; discusses briefly the limitations of the research; and finally, suggests some areas for further research.

I was surprised to find that the effects of inadequate literacy were profound and were still continuing for each one of the participants. The original contribution this thesis makes is to consider the emotional impact of a lack of literacy from the viewpoint of those affected, rather than looking at how literacy is measured or, the level of literacy someone has reached. This research is concerned with peoples' actual feelings rather than with facts and figures. As I wrote in chapter 1, I was taken aback to discover that, in the 21st century, young people could still leave compulsory education without gaining, at least, an adequate level of literacy for their needs. This final chapter shows fully the original contribution the thesis has made and describes the importance and implications of the findings.

### 6.2 Review of the research goal and the answers to the research questions

The goal of this research was to investigate the effects, on a small group of individuals, of the literacy inequalities they faced. The intention was to gain a

better understanding of what they experienced in terms of how they felt about their literacy journeys, and also to examine their opinions on the reasons for literacy inequalities. The research questions were based, in part, on thinking about conversations I had with friends who assumed people with poor literacy were either lazy – they must have messed about at school, or that they were unintelligent. These friends had done well in life and never thought that having insufficient literacy could be due to inadequacies in the education system or in the family situation – it must be the individual's fault. The friends seemed determined not to see the individuals concerned as anything other than a problem. Whereas I could not see them like that, to me the participants were people who had missed out and they should not be blamed for that.

Therefore, the research questions focused on finding out how it really feels for someone to have inadequate literacy for what they want or need. Each of the participants had spoken of the disappointment they felt with what they had experienced at school and were keen to talk about what had happened to them. They had all been affected by not having adequate literacy and the negative way they had felt at school, and these experiences continued to affect them throughout their lives. I tailored the research questions to uncover the participants' feelings and opinions about their experiences. When I interviewed the participants, the questions were subtle and gentle so that I could tease out the answers, rather than asking questions too directly or bluntly. I knew that discussing their childhoods might be emotional for some of the participants and I wanted them to be able to describe their experiences comfortably in their own words. I expected the participants to be smart and

articulate, and they were. They just had not had the opportunity to become good at literacy.

This research does not attempt to recreate other studies that reassert the link between poverty and literacy, but rather to find out what having literacy problems feels like. My impression is that most of the work in this area looks at how having inadequate literacy spoils your chances in the future - how it makes you part of a lower socio-economic group and how you will not do as well as others in life. What is important to me is how people are affected as individuals, and that is what makes this research different.

# 6.3 The original contributions to knowledge made by the thesis In considering the very real effects of literacy inequalities on a small group of adults this thesis makes four original contributions to knowledge, which are:

- 1 The emotional effects of having inadequate literacy last a lifetime2 It is at secondary school that problems became evident to the individualsaffected
- 3 Even getting extra help at school often became a source of humiliation and shame
- 4 The importance of getting support both at school and at home
- 6.3.1 The emotional effects of having inadequate literacy last a lifetime

  The findings are significant because of their focus on the lived experiences of
  the participants and what this has uncovered. The results of the research

highlight the considerable effects of literacy inequalities on the participants, not only when they were at school, but also throughout their lives. It argues that the emotional effects on adults of not having adequate literacy may be overlooked, as so much emphasis in the existing literature is placed on facts about the number of individuals with inadequate literacy and how literacy is defined and measured, for example in Barakat (2016), Hamilton and Pitt (2011) and Robinson (2005), or on the effects of a lack of literacy on income and careers, for example in the Sutton Trust and the Social Mobility Commission (2019), but there is a lack of literature on the feelings adults may have because of the continuing effects of inadequate literacy. Sen (2005) argued that everyone has the right to be the best they can be and to flourish, and therefore they should have the right to acquire the literacy they want and need as a child. It is this that is important to people - what they use literacy for and not just what level of literacy they may have.

Several participants spoke of how they felt, what was almost, a compulsion to be academically successful, and wanted to pass exams to prove to themselves (and sometimes to others) that they were smart. Indeed, certain of the participants had returned to education to study GCSE English as adults, even though they did not need the qualification. Thus, the emotional effects of lack of literacy are evident here, no matter how successful they may be in life now, they still carry around the shadow of inadequacy.

6.3.2 It is at secondary school that problems become evident to the individuals affected

When asked about their experiences of learning English at school, the participants had mostly enjoyed learning at primary school, but felt less happy at secondary school. Some participants had quite a miserable time at secondary school and were still affected by their experiences. Those participants felt that once they were behind it was difficult, if not impossible, to catch up. There was always some sort of trigger point when the participants realised they were getting behind. Sometimes this happened towards the end of primary school and other times at some point at secondary school. But whenever it was, this was when their self-esteem started to plummet, and school started to become a burden which they could not lay aside. Children may, from an early age, have a strong sense that they are falling behind other children in literacy, but accept the situation (Bourdieu, 1986). They need to be monitored closely and asked if there are any problems, so that any issues with learning can be picked up and dealt with straightaway.

6.3.3 Even getting extra help at school often became a source of humiliation and shame

Receiving extra help at school, rather than offering a solution, was often simply a source of humiliation and shame for most of the students, as it often led to them being teased by others. Several of the participants spoke of how they disliked being taken out of lessons to go to a separate room for a one-to-one session as it singled them out, and the other students knew why they were leaving the room. Being taken out of different lessons in rotation meant they could fall behind in those subjects which did not help their overall feelings of inadequacy.

Previous research has indicated that there is a strong link between problems accessing literacy and acceptance of other forms of inequality in later life (Flemmen, 2013; Sullivan, 2001). My findings show that the negative impact on individuals begins when they become aware that they have been singled out, thus suggesting that (as in 6.3.2 above), students need to be asked about how they are feeling, and schools need to be aware that sometimes, apparently helpful, interventions are not always perceived as such by those receiving them.

6.3.4 The importance of getting support both at school and at home Participants who had a good level of support at school but did not have parents who could support them with their education commented that, although the situation was not ideal, having some sort of support was important. The situation was similar for those who had little support at school but did have help at home, because having someone who could help them was beneficial.

However, both groups were in a much better position than those who experienced the double effect of not able to get sufficient support from either school or home. The participants without any support were left to struggle on their own and so there has to be a better understanding of the value of having a support system at home and at school for learning to be successful. There is much research on the reasons behind social and educational inequality (Cassen and Kingdon, 2007; Clifton and Cook; Francis and Wong, 2013; Waldfogel and Washbrook, 2010), but the existing literature stops short before

exploring the emotional effects on those involved.

### 6.4 The limitations of the research

The research set out to investigate the experiences of literacy inequalities in a group of individuals. It has provided a voice for those who have experienced feeling that they have not achieved a sufficient level of competence in English for their needs. The sample size is quite small, and it may be argued that a small sample size could be seen as a limitation to the research, however, it has been shown that, in qualitative research, the first six in-depth interviews produce the majority of new data, (Guest et al., 2006). By keeping the sample size small enough each participant was able to have a recognisable voice within the study, as suggested by Robinson (2014).

### 6.5 Areas for further research

The findings strongly indicate that there are several areas of literacy which would benefit from further research. Particular areas for further research which stood out were: early intervention in the education of children; teaching English in more practical ways; investigating the extent to which adults were taking part in schemes designed to improve their learning; looking into weaknesses in the English education system; making changes in the way education polices are designed and implemented; considering what this would mean for teaching practices in schools and FE colleges and also for Initial Teacher Training and teachers' continuing professional development.

### 6.5.1 Early intervention in the education of children

The thesis advocates for early intervention in the education of children who are already falling behind their expected level of literacy or, are at risk of doing so (COPE, 2017; Department for Education, 2015; EPPSE 3-16+, 2015; Field, 2010; National Equality Panel, 2010; Waldfogel and Washbrook, 2010). This appears to be the most effective way of raising levels of achievement in literacy. Improving literacy levels will give children the literacy skills they need to enable them to both take part fully and confidently in society and to obtain the qualifications they need for successful, meaningful careers. It will also stand them in good stead for the rest of their lives, so they never have to experience having poor literacy skills.

### 6.5.2 Teaching English in more practical ways

As shown in chapter 2 there appear to be real benefits in teaching English in more practical ways, whereby students could become more physically involved in what they were studying (Posner and Pantoine, 2009; Donnelly and Lambourne, 2011; Golding et al., 2016; Malvilidi et al., 2018). Such research has indicated that for many students a hands-on approach to learning is beneficial and preferable.

6.5.3 Investigating the importance of targeted literacy intervention for adults
An adult with poor basic skills may find it difficult to change career paths,
especially as they get older as, even with intervention to improve those skills,
just being taught basic skills in isolation may not be sufficient to change their
career direction. Intervention is vital, but it may be difficult to motivate people

who have had negative school experiences and may not want to learn in a classroom environment. A solution could be to address basic skills' weaknesses in contexts which are more relevant to the individual, such as in the working environment and, where possible, incorporate basic skills in a practical setting. This method should make it easier to find and target the adults who would benefit, and it also offers the prospect of combining improved basic skills with both improved work skills and family literacy.

There has been some research into whether policies designed to encourage lifelong learning have been effective in leading to a 'learning society' society' (Gorard et al., 1998). More research could be carried out into the reasons for participation in particular types of learning. Attempts to increase existing schemes, or lessen the effects of barriers to learning, did not necessarily lead to increased participation (Gorard et al., 1998). Education policies need to ensure that adult literacy provision is sufficient and provided effectively for those who may not have benefitted from school education, and so they need to be placed in a position where they can overcome this (Maddox, 2008).

### 6.5.4 Weaknesses in the English education system

Both the feelings expressed by the participants and their opinions on education, indicate it would be advantageous to address certain weaknesses in the English education system. Many of the participants pointed out weaknesses in the way they were taught, and all felt there was a lack of awareness of their difficulties when they were at school.

One point mentioned repeatedly by the participants was for schools to have a greater understanding and application of differentiated learning, that is treating each student as an individual and not applying a 'one size fits all' approach to a whole group. Certain students find it difficult to learn in the same way as others and this can lead to a minority struggling because the teaching methods do not suit the way they learn. Fundamental to this is having differentiated literacy support because, without this, students may not have adequate literacy for their needs and soon start to fall behind. Removing students from classes for extra help with literacy is not necessarily the answer because it sets them apart from their fellow students. As mentioned in 6.5.2 above, teaching literacy in a practical way can make a positive difference to certain students by allowing them to learn in a way which best suits them.

6.5.5 Making changes in the way future education polices are designed and implemented

The participants said how they wished there had been a way for the education system to show greater sensitivity to their needs. Thus, it is vital that education polices be designed in a more collaborative way that consults with a wide range of people, including those who have been through the education system recently and those for whom the system has not been ideal, rather than just concentrating on the opinions of education experts and politicians. It appears crucial that those who have not wholly benefitted from their schooling be given the opportunity to voice their opinions on how the education system can be improved in order to prevent others having their negative experiences. This would then have implications for teaching practices.

6.5.6 The implications for practice of teaching in a more differentiated way Changing the way students are taught in schools and FE colleges would involve a rethink of, not only, teaching practices, but also of Initial Teacher Training and for teachers' continuing professional development. Teacher education would need to incorporate awareness of the emotional impact on students of any difficulties with learning they may have, and so teachers need to be trained to look for and understand such difficulties. It is not just about students having problems with the mechanics of literacy but also any underlying emotional issues that influence the effectiveness of learning.

### 6.6 Chapter conclusion

This thesis is significant because it is concerned with the importance of the actual feelings and experiences of a group of adults who have faced literacy inequalities. It has uncovered the extent of the profound and the long-lasting effects on the participants, and this is significant because it highlights the magnitude of the impact on them. This thesis looks at the issues involved from the perspective of those affected and that is its original contribution to knowledge. By concentrating on a group of adults in this way it adds to the literature on literacy, as it takes a wholly novel approach by considering the ongoing, emotional effects on adults. It is hoped the thesis will influence future research and methods of teaching literacy, as it indicates that it would be beneficial to address certain failings in the English education system, so that others do not have the same experiences as the participants in this study.

### References

Anderson, C. and Kirkpatrick, S. (2016) Narrative interviewing. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy* vol. 38, pp. 631–634 (2016). Available from: <a href="https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11096-015-0222-0">https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11096-015-0222-0</a> [online] (accessed 5 Oct 2021)

Archer, L., Hollingworth, S. and Halsall, A. (2007) 'University's not for Me—
I'm a Nike Person': Urban, Working-Class Young People's Negotiations of
Style, Identity and Educational Engagement. *Sociology* vol.41, iss. 2 pp. 219237, published April 1, 2007. Available from: <a href="https://doiorg.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1177/0038038507074798">https://doiorg.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1177/0038038507074798</a> [online] (accessed 6
Feb 2020)

Archer, S., and Yates, J., (2017) Understanding potential career changers' experience of career confidence following a positive psychology based coaching programme, *Coaching: an international journal of theory, research and practice.* Taylor and Francis online, vol. 10, iss. 2, 2017, pp. 157-175 | Received 02 Nov 2016, Accepted 05 Feb 2017, published online: 17 Feb 2017Available from:

https://doiorg.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1080/17521882.2017.1292535 [online] (accessed 11 Nov 2020)

Barakat, B., (2016) Improving Adult Literacy Without Improving The Literacy of Adults? A Cross-National Cohort Analysis, *World Development* Volume 87, November 2016, Pages 242-257. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/science/article/pii/S030575

0X15306707 [online] (accessed 3 June 2017)

Basit, T. (2003) Manual or electronic? The role of coding in qualitative data analysis, *Educational Research* vol. 45 No. 2 Summer 2003 143–154.

Available from: <a href="https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/pdf/10.1080/0013188032000133548?needAcces">https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/pdf/10.1080/0013188032000133548?needAcces</a> <a href="mailto:setrue">s=true</a> [online] (accessed 20 June 2020)

Belfiore, M., Defoe, T., Folinsbee, S., Hunter, J., Jackson, N. (2004) *Reading Work: Literacies in the New Workplace*, Mahwah, N.J.: Routledge. 2004. Available from:

http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/login.aspx?direct=true&db=n
lebk&AN=104203&site=ehost-live [online] (accessed 1 Sep 2020.

Bell, J. (2006) Doing your research project: a guide for first-time researchers in education, health and social science, McGraw-Hill Open University Press, Maidenhead, Berkshire, New York, 5<sup>th</sup> ed. Available from:

<a href="https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/reader.action?docID=771407&">https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/reader.action?docID=771407&</a>

<a href="ppg=273">ppg=273</a> [online] (accessed 19 July 2020)

Bennett, D., Barratt, A., and Helmich, E. (2019) How to...analyse qualitative data in different ways, *The Clinical Teacher* vol.16, iss. 1, pp. 7–12. John Wiley & Sons Ltd and The Association for the Study of Medical Education. Available from:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/tct.12973?saml\_referrer [online] (accessed 21 June 2021)

Bernstein, B. (1958) A public language: some sociological implications of a linguistic form, *The British Journal of Sociology*, 2010. Available from: <a href="https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/full/10.1111/j.1468-4446.2009.01240.x">https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/full/10.1111/j.1468-4446.2009.01240.x</a> [online] (accessed 23 June 2018)

Bernstein, B. (1960) Language and Social Class, *The British Journal of Sociology*, vol. 11, no. 3 (Sep. 1960), pp. 271-276 Published by: Wiley on behalf of The London School of Economics and Political Science. Available from: <a href="https://www-jstorgreezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/pdf/586750.pdf?refreqid=excelsior%3Abf66759">https://www-jstorgreezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/pdf/586750.pdf?refreqid=excelsior%3Abf66759</a>

d0f8841051fe2768280c2ba95 [online] (accessed 3 July 2018)

Bernstein, B. (ed.) (1971) Class, codes and control. vol.1. Theoretical studies towards a sociology of language, ProQuest Ebook Central published Feb. 2003 <a href="http://ebookcentral.proquest.com">http://ebookcentral.proquest.com</a> London; New York. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group. Available from: <a href="https://doi/org.10.4324/9780203014035">https://doi/org.10.4324/9780203014035</a> [online] (accessed 3 Mar 2021)

Boeren, E. and Holford, J. (2016) Vocationalism varies (a lot), *Adult Education Quarterly*, May2016, vol. 66, iss. 2, pp 120-142. Available from:

<a href="http://web.b.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vi">http://web.b.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vi</a>

d=2&sid=3110cd86-3043-46fb-aefa-e8d364cd0e00%40pdc-v-sessmgr02

[online] (accessed 22 July 2021)

Bourdieu, P. (1986) The forms of capital, in Richardson, J., (ed) *Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education*, Westport, CT:

Greenwood, Available from:

http://home.iitk.ac.in/~amman/soc748/bourdieu\_forms\_of\_capital.pdf [online] (accessed 7 July 2018)

Brainerd, C.J., Reyna, V.F. and Forrest, T.J. (2003)

Are Young Children Susceptible to the False–Memory Illusion?, *Child Development* Sep/Oct 2003, vol.73, iss.5. pp.1363-1377. Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00477">https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00477</a> online] (accessed 13 Mar 2022)

Brooks, G. (1997) *Trends in standards of literacy in the United Kingdom,*1948-1996, National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER). Paper presented at UK Reading Association conference, University of Manchester, July 1997, and at British Educational Research Association conference,

University of York, September 1997. British Education Index owned by EBSCO Information Services. Available from:

http://www.leeds.ac.uk/educol/documents/000000650.htm [online] (accessed 9 September 2020)

Brown, P. (2003) The Opportunity Trap: Education and Employment in a Global Economy, *European Educational Research Journal*, vol. 2, iss. 1, pp.141-179. Issue published: March 1, 2003

Available from: https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.2304/eerj.2003.2.1.4

[online] (accessed 1 Feb 2020)

Brown, P., Power, S., Tholen, G., and Allouch, A. (2014) Credentials, talent and cultural capital: a comparative study of educational elites in England and France, *British journal of sociology of education*, 2016-02-17, vol.37(2), pp.191-211 [online]. Available from: <a href="https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1080/01425692.2014.920247">https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1080/01425692.2014.920247</a> [online] (accessed 15 Feb 2021)

Burnett, C., Daniels, K., Gray, L., Myers, J. and Sharpe, S., (2015)
Investigating student teachers' presentations of literacy and literacy pedagogy in a complex context, *Teacher Development*, 19 (3), 275-293. Available from: <a href="https://core.ac.co.uk/download/pdf/206414031/pdf">https://core.ac.co.uk/download/pdf/206414031/pdf</a> [online] (accessed 15 Feb 2021)

Carr, C., J., and Worth, A., (2001) The use of the telephone interview for research, *Journal of Research in Nursing*, vol., 6, iss. 1, pp. 511-524, Jan.1, 2001. Available from: <a href="https://doi.org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1177/136140960100600107">https://doi.org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1177/136140960100600107</a> [online] (accessed 20 Jun 2021)

Cassen, R. and Kingdon, G. (2007) *Tackling low educational achievement,*London School of Economics, 2007 First published 2007 by the Joseph
Rowntree Foundation. Available from:

https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/2063-educationschools-achievement.pdf [online] (accessed 17 June 2018)

Clifton, J. and Cook, W. (2012) *A long division: Closing the attainment gap in England's secondary schools.* The progressive policy think tank. Available from: <a href="https://www.ippr.org/publications/a-long-division-closing-the-attainment-gap-in-englands-secondary-schools">https://www.ippr.org/publications/a-long-division-closing-the-attainment-gap-in-englands-secondary-schools</a> [online] (accessed 27 June 2018)

Cohen, L., Manion, L., and Morrison, K., Research Methods in Education, 8<sup>th</sup> edition, Taylor & Francis Group, 2017. *ProQuest Ebook Central*, Available from:

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/detail.action?docID=5103697

[online. (accessed 24 July 2017)

Collins (2019a) *COBUILD Advanced English Dictionary*, HarperCollins Publishers. Available from:

https://www.collinsdictionary.com/dictionary/english/dialect [online] (accessed 15 July 2019)

Collins (2019b) *COBUILD Advanced English Dictionary*, HarperCollins Publishers. Available from:

https://www.collinsdictionary.com/dictionary/english/rp [online] (accessed 15 July 2019)

COPE (2017) The only way is up? Social Mobility and Equal Opportunities,

p4. COPE OECD. Available from: <a href="https://www.oecd.org/inclusive-growth/inequality-and-opportunity/The-Issues-Note-Social-Mobility-and-Equal-Opportunities-May-4-2017.pdf">https://www.oecd.org/inclusive-growth/inequality-and-opportunity/The-Issues-Note-Social-Mobility-and-Equal-Opportunities-May-4-2017.pdf</a> [online] (accessed 24 June 2018)

Cutler, C. (2006) Literacy and Literacies: Texts, Power, and Identity, *Journal of Linguistic Anthropology*; Washington 16.2, Dec 2006, pp.282-283. Available from:

http://search.proquest.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/docview/195126463/fulltextPD F/A2EFA08C17F34004PQ/1?accountid=11979 [online] (accessed 2 June 2017)

Demetrion, G. (2004) Conflicting Paradigms in Adult Literacy Education: In Quest of a U. S. Democratic Politics of Literacy, Taylor & Francis Group, 2004. ProQuest Ebook Central. Available from:

<a href="https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/detail.action?docID=227454">https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/detail.action?docID=227454</a>
[online] (accessed 2 Feb 2021)

<u>Denzin, N. K.</u> (1975) Review [untitled] of "Class, Codes and Control, Volume I: Applied Studies Towards a Sociology of Language" edited by Basil Bernstein - ProQuest (lancs.ac.uk). *The Sociological Quarterly*, vol. 16, no. 2 (Spring, 1975), pp. 281-286. Published by: Taylor & Francis, Ltd. Available from: <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/4105769">https://www.jstor.org/stable/4105769</a> [online] (accessed 1 Feb 2021)

Department for Education (2015), *Early Years Evidence Pack 2010-2015*government-policy: childcare and early education. Available from:

<a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/180884/DFE-00274-2011.pdf">https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/180884/DFE-00274-2011.pdf</a> [online] (accessed 12 September 2016)

Department for Education (2018) *Barriers to learning for disadvantaged*groups. Report of qualitative findings\_August 2018, Learning and Work

Institute, DFE-RR819. Available from:

<a href="https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/">https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/</a>

attachment data/file/735453/Barriers to learning - Qualitative report.pdf
[online] (accessed 10 May 2020)

Donnelly, J. and Lambourne, K. (2011), Classroom-based physical activity, cognition, and academic achievement, *Preventive Medicine* Vol. 52, Supplement, pp. S36-S42. Available from: <a href="https://www-sciencedirect-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/science/article/pii/S0091743511000491">https://www-sciencedirect-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/science/article/pii/S0091743511000491</a> [online] (accessed 1 July 2019)

Duckworth, V. (2014) Learning trajectories, violence and empowerment amongst adult basic skills learners, MIL EAN/ISBN: 9781306150637 Pub e-EAN/ISBN: 9781134089390, Abingdon: Routledge. Available from: <a href="http://lib.myilibrary.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/Open.aspx?id=546314">http://lib.myilibrary.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/Open.aspx?id=546314</a> [online] (accessed 8 June 2017)

Dunne, M., and Gazeley, L., (2008) Teachers, social class and underachievement, *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, vol. 29, iss. 5, pp.451-463. Published online: 17 Sep 2008. Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/01425690802263627">https://doi.org/10.1080/01425690802263627</a> [online] (accessed 28 Jul 2017)

Effective pre-school, primary and secondary education project (EPPSE 3 - 16+, (2015), *How pre-school influences children and young people's attainment and developmental outcomes over time,* Research Brief June 2015, UCL Institute of Education, University College London, Birkbeck, University of London, University of Oxford. Available from:

<a href="https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/">https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/</a>

attachment data/file/455670/RB455 [online] (accessed 17 June 2018)

Engle P. and Black M. (2008) The Effect of Poverty on Child Development and Educational Outcomes, DOI: 10.1196/annals.1425.023 Vol. 1136, Reducing the Impact of Poverty on Health and Human Development: Scientific Approaches pp. 243–256. Available from:

http://digitalcommons.calpoly.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi [online] (accessed 10 September 2016)

Etherington, K., (2007) Ethical Research in Reflexive Relationships,

Qualitative Inquiry, vol. 13 no. 5, July 2007 pp. 599-616, Sage Publications.

Available from:

http://journals.sagepub.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/abs/10.1177/1077800407
301175 [online] (accessed 8 June 2017)

Every Child a Chance Trust (2009) *The long term costs of literacy difficulties*  $2^{nd}$  *edition*. Available from:

https://readingrecovery.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/12/long\_term\_costs\_of\_lit\_eracy\_difficulties\_2nd\_edition\_2009.pdf [online] (accessed 9 September 2020)

Feinstein, L. (2003) How early can we predict future education achievement, LSE CentrePiece Summer 2003. Available from:

http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/CP146.pdf [online] (accessed 14 May 2019)

Field, F. (2010) *The Foundation Years: preventing poor children becoming poor adults*. The report of the Independent Review on Poverty and Life Chances, in (Early Years Evidence Pack, Department for Education).

Available from: <a href="http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/14156/1/poverty-report.pdf">http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/14156/1/poverty-report.pdf</a> [online] (accessed 11 September 2016)

Flemmen, M. (2013) Putting Bourdieu to work for class analysis:reflections on some recent contributions, *The British Journal of Sociology*, vol. 64, iss. 2. Available from:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/1468-4446.12020 [online] (accessed 29 June 2018)

Francis, B., and Mills, M. (2012) Schools as damaging organisations: instigating a dialogue concerning alternative models of schooling, Pedagogy, culture and society, vol. 20, iss. 2, pp. 251-271. Published online: 29 Jun 2012. Available from:

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/14681366.2012.688765 [online] (accessed 21 May 2018)

Francis, B. and Wong, B. (2013) What is preventing social mobility? A review of the evidence. Routledge. Available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272164028 [online] (accessed 17 June 2018)

Fraser-Thomas, J. and Côté, J. (2009) Understanding Adolescents Positive and Negative Developmental Experiences in Sport, *Human Kinetics Journals*, vol.23, issue 1, 3-23. Available from:

https://journals.humankinetics.com/doi/10.1123/tsp.23.1.3 [online] (accessed 20 June 2019)

Freire, P. translated by Ramos, M. B. (1970) Pedagogy of the oppressed Chapter 2 in *Race/Ethnicity: Multidisciplinary Global Contexts*, vol. 2, No. 2, Race and Secondary Education: Content, Contexts, Impacts (Spring, 2009), pp. 163-174. Published by: Indiana University Press. Available from: <a href="https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/25595010">https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/25595010</a> [online] (accessed 27 August 2020)

Frey, B. (ed.) (2018) The SAGE Encyclopedia of educational research, measurement, and evaluation, Convenience Sampling, SAGE publishing.

Available from <a href="https://methods-sagepub-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/reference/the-sage-encyclopedia-of-educational-research-measurement-and-evaluation/i6126.xml">https://methods-sagepub-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/reference/the-sage-encyclopedia-of-educational-research-measurement-and-evaluation/i6126.xml</a> [online] (accessed 7 September 2020)

Frosh, S., Phoenix, A., and Pattman, R. (2001) *Young masculinities : understanding boys in contemporary society,* Macmillan Education UK. Available from:

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/detail.action?docID=3027480

[online] (accessed 6 November 2020)

Furlong, A., and Cartmel, F. (1997) Young people and social change,
McGraw-Hill Education, ProQuest Ebook Central. Second edition (2006)
Available from:

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/reader.action?docID=316276&ppg=6 [online] (accessed 1 Sep 2020)

Gadbois, S., Bowker, A., Rose-Krasno, L. and Findlay, L. (2019), A Qualitative Examination of Psychologically Engaging Sport, Nonsport, and Unstructured Activities, *The Sport Psychologist*, 2019, vol. 33, pp.97-109. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.2018-0032 [online] (accessed 24 June 2019)

Ganguly, S. (2017) Understanding nonverbal cues: A key to success in interviews, *IUP Journal of Soft Skills*; Hyderabad vol. 11, iss. 2, (Jun 2017): 62,64-72. Available from: <a href="https://search-proquest-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/docview/1916950365/BB1A3B6B554FD1PQ/7?accountid=11979">https://search-proquest-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/docview/1916950365/BB1A3B6B554FD1PQ/7?accountid=11979</a> [online] (accessed 23 June 2020)

Gee, J. (1992) Socio-cultural approaches to literacy (literacies), *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics* (1992) vol.12, pp.31-48. Printed in the USA.

Cambridge University Press 0267-1905/92 \$5.00 +. Available from:

<a href="https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/annual-review-of-applied-linguistics/article/abs/sociocultural-approaches-to-literacy-literacies/9308249">https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/annual-review-of-applied-linguistics/article/abs/sociocultural-approaches-to-literacy-literacies/9308249</a>

EA747262E378460494F7AAD08 [online] (accessed 18 Feb 2022)

Golding, A., Boes, C., and Nordin-Bates, S. (2016), Investigating learning through developmental dance movement as a kinaesthetic tool in the Early Years Foundation Stage, *Research in Dance Education*, 2016, vol. 17, iss. 3, pp.235-267. Available from: <a href="https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/full/10.1080/14647893.2016.1204282">https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/full/10.1080/14647893.2016.1204282</a> [online] (accessed 4 July 2019)

Goodman, A. and Sianesi, B. (2005) *Early education and children's outcomes:*How long do the impacts last? Institute for Fiscal Studies. Available from:

<a href="http://www.ifs.org.uk/docs/ee\_impact.pdf">http://www.ifs.org.uk/docs/ee\_impact.pdf</a> [online] (accessed 10 Sep 2016)

Gorard , S., Rees, G., Fevre, R. and Furlong, J. (1998) Progress Towards a Learning Society? Patterns of Lifelong Learning, *Innovations in Education and Training International*, 01 Nov 1998, vol.35(4), pp.275-281. Available from: <a href="https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/abs/10.1080/1355800980350402">https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/abs/10.1080/1355800980350402</a> [online] (accessed 26 Mar 2020)

Gray, D. (2004) *Doing Research In The Real World*, London: SAGE

Publications Ltd, eBook Collection (EBSCOhost). Available from:

<a href="http://web.b.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/ehost/detail/detail?vid=0&sid=966a5393-ca0c-4cbb-87f6">http://web.b.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/ehost/detail/detail?vid=0&sid=966a5393-ca0c-4cbb-87f6</a>

6bf9adfe12a6%40sessionmgr120&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZQ%3d%

3d#AN=251408&db=nlebk [online] (accessed 24 July 2017)

Grix, J. (2004) Foundations of Research, Palgrave Macmillan. Available from:<<a href="http://www.myilibrary.com?ID=86091">http://www.myilibrary.com?ID=86091</a>> 17 November 2015 [online] (accessed 27 May 2017)

Guest, G., Bunce, A. and Johnson, L. (2006) How Many Interviews Are Enough? An Experiment with Data Saturation and Variability, *Sage Journals*, vol. 18, iss. 1, 59-82. Available from: <a href="https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/abs/10.1177/1525822X05279903">https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/abs/10.1177/1525822X05279903</a> [online] (accessed 2 February 2019)

Hamel, E. C. (2003) Understanding Teachers' Perceptions of Children's Home Language and Literacy Experiences, *The Professional Educator* vol. XXV, no. 2, Spring 2003, pp.9-22. Available from: <a href="https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ842379.pdf">https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ842379.pdf</a> [online] (accessed 10 June 2020)

Hamilton, M. and Pitt, K. (2011) Changing policy discourses: Constructing literacy inequalities, *International Journal of Educational Development* 31 596–605. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/science/article/pii/S073805 9311000381 [online] (accessed 1 June 2017)

Honeyford, M. and Boyd, K. (2015) Learning Through Play: Portraits,
Photoshop and Visual Literacy Practices, *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, vol. 59, no.1, pp. 63-73. Published by: International Literacy
Association and Wiley Stable URL. Available from:
<a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/44011218">https://www.jstor.org/stable/44011218</a> [online] (accessed 12 June 2019)

House of Commons Business, Innovation and Skills Committee *Adult Literacy* and *Numeracy. Fifth Report of Session (2014–15)*. Available from:

<a href="http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmbis/557/557.p">http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmbis/557/557.p</a>

<a href="mailto:df">df</a> [online] (accessed 26 May 2017)

Hutchins, E. (1993) Situated Learning: Legitimate Peripheral Participation.

American Anthropologist New Series, vol. 95, no. 3 (Sep.1993), pp. 743-744.

Published by: Wiley on behalf of the American Anthropological Association.

Available at: https://www-jstor-

org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/679683?seq=1#metadata\_info\_tab\_contents

[online] (accessed 31 Mar 2020)

Jackson, C. (2006) Lads and Ladettes in School: Gender and a Fear of Failure, McGraw-Hill Education, 2004. ProQuest Ebook Central, Available from:

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/detail.action?docID=290380 [online] (accessed 4 July 2020)

Jang, B., Conradi, K., McKenna, M., and Jones, J. (2015) Motivation:

Approaching an Elusive Concept Through the Factors That Shape It, *The Reading Teacher* vol. 69, no. 2, 21st-Century Literacy Practices and Engaging Instruction (September/October 2015), pp. 239-247 (9 pages). Published by:

International Literacy Association and Wiley, Available from <a href="https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/24575055">https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/24575055</a> [online] (accessed 21 March 2020)

Kedney, R. J. (1975) (ed.) *The nature and dimensions of the problem* in *The Adult Illiterate in the Community*, Bolton College of Education (Technical), Bolton Available from: .https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED130086.pdf [online] (accessed 25 June 2017)

Kuczera, M., Field, S., and Windisch, H. (2016) Building skills for all: a review of England. Policy insights from the survey of adult skills. *OECD skills studies* 2016. Available from http://www.oecd.org/education/skills-beyond-

<u>school/building-skills-for-all-review-of-england.pdf</u> [online] (accessed 13 Oct 2020)

Lane, M., (2001) *Educashunal lunacie or wizdom?* BBC News. Available from: <a href="http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/1523708.stm">http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/1523708.stm</a> [online] (accessed 16 Aug 2019)

Maddox, B. (2008) What Good is Literacy? Insights and Implications of the Capabilities Approach, *Journal of Human Development*, 9:2, 185-206.

Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14649880802078736">https://doi.org/10.1080/14649880802078736</a> [online]

(accessed 3 Feb 2021)

Madge, C. (1955) Some Aspects of Mass Literacy, *British Journal of Educational Studies* vol. 4, no. 1 (Nov, 1955), pp. 3-14

<a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/3119504?sid=primo&origin=cr">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/3119504?sid=primo&origin=cr</a>
<a href="mailto:ossref">ossref</a> [online] (accessed 30 June 2017)

Marsh, D., Ercan, S., and Furlong P. (2017) A skin not a sweater: ontology and epistemology in political science in *Theory and methods in political science* Lowndes, V., Marsh, D., Stoker, G (eds.) Macmillan Education UK. Available from:

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/reader.action?docID=6234931
[online[ (accessed 26 Jun 2021)

Marshall, E.M., Wilson, D.A., and Mann, V.E., (2016) Attitudes and anxiousness about maths, *Brave New World: Proceedings of the CETL MSOR* 

Conference 2016, Loughborough, UK, pp. 66-74. Available from:

<a href="http://www.sigma-network.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/CETL-MSOR-Proceedings-2016.pdf">http://www.sigma-network.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/CETL-MSOR-Proceedings-2016.pdf</a> [online] (accessed 15 Nov 2020)

Mavilidi, M.F., Ruiter, M., Schmidt, M., Okely, O.D., Loyens, S., Chandler, P. and Paas, F. (2018) Narrative Review of School-Based Physical Activity for Enhancing Cognition and Learning: The Importance of Relevancy and Integration, *Frontiers in Psychology* 2018; 11. Available from: <a href="https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02079/full">https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02079/full</a> [online] (accessed 30 June 2017)

McGlinn, J. (2003) Reading Don't Fix No Chevys: Literacy in the Lives of Young Men by Smith, M., and Wilhelm, J. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, vol. 46, no. 7 (Apr. 2003), pp. 611-613. Available from: <a href="https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/40015470">https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/40015470</a> [online] (accessed 3 June 2019)

Mertens, D. M., (2012) Ethics in Qualitative Research in Education and the Social Sciences in Lapan, S. D., Quartaroli M. T., and Riemer F. J., (eds) [online] *Qualitative Research: An Introduction to Methods and Designs.* ISBN: 978-0-470-54800-4 December 2011 Jossey-Bass pp. 19-40. Available at: <a href="https://www.wiley.com/en-">https://www.wiley.com/en-</a>

<u>us/Qualitative+Research:+An+Introduction+to+Methods+and+Designs-p-9780470548004</u> [online] (accessed 3 Jul 2018)

Moser, C. (1999) *Improving literacy and numeracy: a fresh start*, Education in England, London: Department of Education and Employment. Available from: <a href="http://www.educationengland.org.uk/documents/moser1999/moser-report.html">http://www.educationengland.org.uk/documents/moser1999/moser-report.html</a> [online] (accessed 21 July 2020)

Morrison, A. (2018) Social justice in a market order: graduate employment and social mobility in the UK, *Taylor and Francis Social Science and Humanities Collection* 2018 vol. 61(5), pp 611-626. Available from: <a href="https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1080/17508487.2018.1553794">https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1080/17508487.2018.1553794</a> [online] (accessed 15 Feb. 2021)

Nash, R., (2006) Bernstein and the Explanation of Social Disparities in Education:

A Realist Critique of the Socio-Linguistic Thesis, *British Journal of Sociology of Education* vol. 27, no. 5 (Nov 2006), pp. 539-553. Published by: Taylor & Francis, Ltd. [online] Available from: <a href="https://shibbolethsp-jstor">https://shibbolethsp-jstor</a>
org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/start?entityID=https%3A%2F%2Fidp.lancs.ac.uk%2Fidp
%2Fshibboleth&dest=https://www.jstor.org/stable/30036166&site=jstor [online]
(accessed 17 Feb 2021)

National Equality Panel (2010) *An Anatomy of Economic Inequality in the UK:*Report of the National Equality Panel. Government Equalities Office, London.

Available from: <a href="https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/28344/1/CASEreport60.pdf">https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/28344/1/CASEreport60.pdf</a> [online]

(accessed 17 Jun 2018)

National Literacy Trust (2017a) What is literacy? News and information section, literacy in the UK. Available from:

https://literacytrust.org.uk/information/what-is-literacy/ [online] (accessed 26 July 2020)

National Literacy Trust (2017b) *Policy and campaigning.* What we do section.

Available from: <a href="https://literacytrust.org.uk/policy-and-campaigns/">https://literacytrust.org.uk/policy-and-campaigns/</a> [online]

(accessed 16 Mar 2021)

National Literacy Trust (2017c) What do adult literacy levels mean? What we do section, adult literacy. Available from: <a href="https://literacytrust.org.uk/parents-and-families/adult-literacy/what-do-adult-literacy-levels-mean/">https://literacytrust.org.uk/parents-and-families/adult-literacy/what-do-adult-literacy-levels-mean/</a> [online] (accessed 21 Sep 2020)

Nesbit, T., Rubenson, K., Tett, L., Mojab S., and Newman, M., (2006) *Global perspectives on social class and adult education*, Symposium presented at the 36th Annual SCUTREA Conference, 4-6 July 2006, Trinity and All Saints College, Leeds. Available from:

http://www.leeds.ac.uk//educol/documents/155423.htm [online] (accessed 2 Feb 2021)

Norman, M. and Hyland, T. (2003) The Role of Confidence in Lifelong
Learning, *Educational Studies*, 29:2-3, 261-272. Available from: <a href="https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/abs/10.1080/03055690303275">https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/abs/10.1080/03055690303275</a>
[online] (accessed 26 Mar 2020)

Norwich, B. (2014) How does the capability approach address current issues in special educational needs, disability and inclusive education field? *College of Social Sciences and International Studies Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, vol. 14, no.1, 2014 16–21. Available from: doi: 10.1111/1471-3802.12012 [online] (accessed 29 May 2017)

Nussbaum, M. C. (2006) Frontiers of Justice: Disability, Nationality, Species

Membership APA (American Psychological Assoc.) Harvard University Press.

Press Cambridge, Massachusetts, London, England. Available from:

<a href="http://web.b.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/ehost/ebookviewer/ebook/bm">http://web.b.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/ehost/ebookviewer/ebook/bm</a>

xlYmtfXzl4MjM0N19fQU41?sid=052ee7e8-1baa-495d-be61-5a7e [online]

(accessed 1 Nov 2020)

OECD Skills Outlook (2013) First Results from the Survey of adult skills.

Available from: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264204256-en">http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264204256-en</a> [online]

(accessed 1 Feb 2021)

Office for National Statistics (2010) ONS Standard Occupational Classification (SOC) Hierarchy. Available from: ONS Standard Occupational Classification (SOC) Hierarchy (onsdigital.github.io) [online] (accessed 6 Feb 2020)

Osler, A., H. (2006) Excluded girls: interpersonal, institutional and structural violence in schooling, *Gender & Education*, Nov. 2006, vol. 18, iss. 6, pp 571-

589. Taylor and Francis online. Available from:

https://doi/full/10.1080/09540250600980089 [online] (accessed 6 Feb 2020)

Pascoe, M., Hetrick, S., and Parker, A. (2019) The impact of stress on students in secondary school and higher education, *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth* vol. 25, 2020, <u>iss. 1</u>. Available from: <a href="https://www-tandfonline-">https://www-tandfonline-</a>

<u>com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/full/10.1080/02673843.2019.1596823?src=recsy</u>
<u>s</u> [online] (accessed 13 May 2020)

Patrinos, H., A. (2016) Read this: Why we must measure literacy at an early age. World Bank Blogs 4 Apr 2016. Available from: <a href="https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/read-why-we-must-measure-literacy-early-age">https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/read-why-we-must-measure-literacy-early-age</a> [online] (accessed 13 May 2020)

Posner, M. and Pantoine, B. (2009) How Arts Training Improves Attention and Cognition, *the Dana Foundation*, *Cerebrum*, September 2009. Available from: <a href="http://dana.org/Cerebrum/Default.aspx?id=39419">http://dana.org/Cerebrum/Default.aspx?id=39419</a> [online] (accessed 5 July 2019)

Rabušicová, M. and Oplatková, P. (2010) Functional Literacy in People's Lives, *Journal of Pedagogy* vol. 1, no. 2 (Feb., 2011) DOI 10.2478/v10159-010-0008-3 Available from:

Reay, D. (2001) Finding or losing yourself? working-class relationships to education, *Journal of Education Policy*, 16:4, 333-346. Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02680930110054335">https://doi.org/10.1080/02680930110054335</a> [online] (accessed 1 March 2019)

Reay, D. (2004) 'It's all becoming a habitus': beyond the habitual use of habitus in educational research *British Journal of Sociology of Education,* vol. 25, 2004 – iss. 4 pp. 431-444 | Published online: 19 Oct 2010. Available from: <a href="https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1080/0142569042000236934">https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1080/0142569042000236934</a> [online] (accessed 12 Feb. 2019)

Reay, D. (2017) Miseducation, Bristol University Press, Policy Press.

Available from: https://www-jstor

org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/j.ctt22p7k7m.11?refreqid=excelsior%3A9a0e36
c5572843665b378cef6fe51b90&seq=1#metadata\_info\_tab\_contents [online]
(accessed 1 Feb 2020)

Rejnö, Å. and Berg, L. (2015) Strategies for handling ethical problems in end of life care: obstacles and possibilities. *Nursing Ethics*, vol. 22, iss.7, pp.778-789. Available from:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi:10.1177/0969733014547972 [online] (accessed 12 Feb 2021)

Rintaningrum, R. (2009) Literacy: its importance and changes in the concept and definition, *TEFLIN Journal*, *vol 20, no. 1,* (ITS), Surabaya. Published by the Association of Teachers of English as a Foreign Language. Available from: <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Ratna-">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Ratna-</a>

Rintaningrum/publication/47523879 Literacy Its Importance and Changes in the Concept and Definition/links/5c47ef3c299bf12be3dc7885/ [online] (accessed 17 Feb 2022)

Roediger, H.L. and McDermott, K.B. (2000) Tricks of Memory *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, vol. 9. Iss.4, pp.123-127,

published: Aug. 1, 2000. Available from:

https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00075 [online] (accessed 15 Feb 2022)

Roome, T. and Soan, C. (2019) GCSE exam stress: student perceptions of the effects on wellbeing and performance, *An International Journal of Personal, Social and Emotional Development*, vol. 37, iss. 4 pp 297-315.

Available from: <a href="https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/full/10.1080/02643944.2019.1665091">https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/full/10.1080/02643944.2019.1665091</a> [online] (accessed 14 May 2020)

Robinson, C., (2005) Promoting literacy: What is the record of Education for All? *International Journal of Educational Development*' Volume 25, Issue 4, July 2005, pp. 436–444 <a href="https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2005.04.006">https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2005.04.006</a> [online] (accessed 12 June 2017)

Robinson, O. C. (2014) Sampling in Interview-Based Qualitative Research: A Theoretical and Practical Guide, *Qualitative Research in* 

Psychology, 11:1, 25-41. DOI: 10.1080/14780887.2013.801543 pp.25-41.

Published online:18 Nov 2013. Available from:

https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
[online] (accessed 9 Mar 2021)

Robyns, I. (2006) Three models of education: Rights, capabilities and human capital, *Theory and Research in Education*, vol. 4, iss.1, pp. 69-84. Issue published: March 1, 2006. Available from:

https://doi.org/10.1177/1477878506060683 [online] (accessed 10 Aug 2021)

Sadovnik, A., R. (1991) Basil Bernstein's Theory of Pedagogic Practice: A Structuralist Approach, *Sociology of Education* vol. 64, no. 1, Special Issue on Sociology of the Curriculum (Jan 1991), pp. 48-63.

Published by: American Sociological Association. Available from: <a href="https://www-jstor">https://www-jstor</a>

org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/stable/2112891?sid=primo&origin=crossref&seq=1#m
etadata\_info\_tab\_contents [online] (accessed 20 Feb 2021)

Saldana, J. (2011) Fundamentals of Qualitative Research. [online]. Oxford University Press, USA. Available from:

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com /lib/lancaster/detail.action?docID=665394 [online] (accessed 24 Feb 2021)

Schieffelin, B., B. and Ochs, E. (1986), Language Socialization, *Annual Review of Anthropology*, vol. 15, pp.163-191. Published by: Annual Reviews Inc. Available from: <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/2155759">https://www.jstor.org/stable/2155759</a> [online] (accessed 18 Feb 2022)

Sen, A. (2005) Human Rights and Capabilities, *Journal of Human*Development, pp.151-166 | 17 Aug 2006 Available from: <a href="http://www-tandfonlinecom.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/full/10.1080/14649880500120491?scr">http://www-tandfonlinecom.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/full/10.1080/14649880500120491?scr</a>

oll=top&needAccess=true [online] (accessed 28 May 2017)

Sen, A. (2008) Capabilities, Lists, and Public Reason: Continuing the Conversation, *Feminist Economics* vol. 10, iss. 3, pp 77-80 | Published online: 14 Nov 2008. Available from: <a href="https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1080/1354570042000315163">https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1080/1354570042000315163</a> [online] (accessed 22 Oct 2020)

Skills for Life: *Progress in Improving Adult Literacy and Numeracy*, National Audit Office (2008). Available from: <a href="https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2008/06/0708482.pdf">https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2008/06/0708482.pdf</a> [online] (accessed 25 July 2017)

Skills for Life: *The national strategy for improving adult basic literacy and numeracy skills,* Executive Summary (2001). Available from: http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100210151716/http://www.dfes.g

ov.uk/readwriteplus/bank/ABS Exec Summary 16pp.pdf [online] (accessed 26 May 2017)

Skills for Life: *The 2011 Skills for Life Survey: A Survey of Literacy, Numeracy and ICT Levels in England* Department for Business, Innovation & Skills (2012). Available from: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2011-skills-for-life-survey">https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2011-skills-for-life-survey</a> [online] (accessed 26 Sep 2019)

Statista (2021)in statistics, society, education and science section [online]

Proportion of GCSE entries awarded a C/4 or higher in the United Kingdom between 1988 and 2020. Available from:

https://www.statista.com/statistics/282462/gcse-pass-rates-uk/ (accessed 15 July 2021)

Street, B. (2011) Literacy inequalities in theory and practice: The power to name and define, *International Journal of Educational Development* [online] 31 580–586. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/science/article/pii/S073805 9310001379 (accessed 26 July 2017)

Sullivan, A., (2001) Cultural Capital and Educational Attainment, *British Sociological Association* vol: 35 iss: 4, pp: 893-912. Issue published: Nov 1, 2001. Available from:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0038038501035004006 [online] (accessed 20 Jan 2021)

Sutton Trust and Social Mobility Commission (2019) *Elitist Britain 2019*.

Available from: <a href="https://www.suttontrust.com/research-paper/elitist-britain-2019/">https://www.suttontrust.com/research-paper/elitist-britain-2019/</a>
[online] (accessed 24 July 2019)

Thunberg, S. (2021) Safeguarding personal integrity while collecting sensitive data using narrative interviews – a research note, *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, vol. 21, no. 6. Published by Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group,14 Apr 2021. Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2021.1915981">https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2021.1915981</a> [online] (accessed 4 Oct 2021)

Tikly, L. and Barrett, A. (2011) Social justice, capabilities and the quality of education in low income countries, *International Journal of Educational Development* 31 (2011) 3–14. Available from: <a href="http://ac.els-cdn.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/S0738059310000726/1-s2.0-S0738059310000726-main.pdf">http://ac.els-cdn.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/S0738059310000726/1-s2.0-S0738059310000726-main.pdf</a>? <a href="tid=e94ef9ac-def5-11e6-a63e">tid=e94ef9ac-def5-11e6-a63e</a> [online] (accessed 11 June 2017)

UNESCO, (2006) Education For All Global Monitoring Report (2006) p.154. Available from:

http://www.unesco.org/education/GMR2006/full/chapt6\_eng.pdf [online] (accessed 30 May 2017)

Unterhalter, E. (2003) Crossing Disciplinary Boundaries: the potential of Sen's capability approach for sociologists of education, *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, vol. 24, iss. 5, pp.665-669. Published online: 03 Jun 2010.

Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/0142569032000148708">https://doi.org/10.1080/0142569032000148708</a> [online] (accessed 30 Jul 2021)

Van Bergen, E., Van Zuijen, T., Bishop, D., De Jong, P. (2016) Why Are
Home Literacy Environment and Children's Reading Skills Associated? What
Parental Skills Reveal, *Reading Research Quaterly*, vol. 52, is. 2,
April/May/June 2017, pp147-160. Available from: <a href="https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1002/rrq.160">https://doi-org.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1002/rrq.160</a> [online] (accessed 24 Jul 2021)

Wagner, B. and McLaughlin, K. (2015) Politicising the psychology of social class: The relevance of Pierre Bourdieu's habitus for psychological research, *Theory & Psychology* vol. 25(2) 202–221 2015. Available from: <a href="https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10\_1177\_0959354315580606">https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10\_1177\_0959354315580606</a> [online] (accessed 11 Jan 2020)

Waldfogel, J. and Washbrook, E. (2010) Low income and early cognitive development in the UK: A report for the Sutton Trust London: Sutton Trust, 2010. Available from: <a href="https://research-information.bristol.ac.uk/en/publications/low-income-and-early-cognitive-development-in-the-uk(5e2b25b5-9ec8-4aaf-8ee7-fbe3a51b0d6e)/export.html">https://research-information.bristol.ac.uk/en/publications/low-income-and-early-cognitive-development-in-the-uk(5e2b25b5-9ec8-4aaf-8ee7-fbe3a51b0d6e)/export.html</a> [online] (accessed 17 June 2018)

Warin, J. (2011) Ethical Mindfulness and Reflexivity: Managing a Research Relationship With Children and Young People in a 14-Year Qualitative Longitudinal Research (QLR) Study, *Qualitative Inquiry* 17(9) 805–814, 2011, Sage Journals. Available from:

https://journals.sagepub.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/doi/pdf/10.1177/107780041 1423196 DOI: 10.1177/1077800411423196 [online] (accessed 3 June 2017)

Weger, H., Castle Bell, G., Minei, E. M., and Robinson, M. C. (2014) The relative effectiveness of active listening in initial interactions, *International Journal of Listening*, vol. 28, iss. 1 pp. 13-31. Available from:

<a href="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10904018.2013.813234">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10904018.2013.813234</a> [online] (accessed 3 Sep 2020)

Willis, J. (2010) Learning to love math: teaching strategies that change student attitudes and get results, Association for Supervision & Curriculum Development [online]. Available from:

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/detail.action?docID=564137&p

q-origsite=primo (accessed 15 Nov 2020)

Willis, P. E. (1978) Learning to labour: how working class kids get working class jobs, Taylor & Francis Group. Available from:

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/reader.action?docID=5087696
[online] (accessed 5 Nov 2020)

Withnall, A. (1994) Literacy on the agenda: The origins of the adult literacy campaign in the United Kingdom, *Studies in the Education of Adults*, 02660830, Apr 94, vol. 26. Available from:

http://web.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/ehost/detail/vid=1&sid =c43f3452-370d-4f23-bc3f

41a2f4007383%40sessionmgr4010&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZQ%3d %3d#db=a9h&AN=9411131806 [online] (accessed 29 June 2017)

Wolff, J. and de-Shalit, A. (2013) On Fertile Functionings: A Response to Martha Nussbaum, *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities*, 14:1, 161-165. Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/19452829.2013.762177">https://doi.org/10.1080/19452829.2013.762177</a> [online] (accessed 2 Feb 2021)

Zarrett, N., Fay, K., Li, Y., Carrano, J., Phelps, E. and Lerner R. (2009) More Than Child's Play: Variable- and Pattern-Centered Approaches for Examining Effects of Sports Participation on Youth Development

American Psychological Association vol. 45, no. 2, 368–382. Available from: <a href="http://web.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=5a7c6b05-1094-48d4-9c06-217697434b4e%40sdc-v-sessmgr02">http://web.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=5a7c6b05-1094-48d4-9c06-217697434b4e%40sdc-v-sessmgr02</a>
[online] (accessed 24 June 2019)



# Information sheet

Project Title: Experiencing literacy inequalities: a qualitative study of the

effects of literacy inequalities on adults.

Name of Researcher: Barbara Turner

Email: b.turner4@lancaster.ac.uk

I am studying for doctorate in Education and Social Justice at Lancaster University and I would like to invite you to take part in a research project. Before you decide please take time to read the following information and ask any questions you may have.

This is a study to examine the life experiences of a small group of adults who have left school without reaching the level of literacy they would have liked to have reached.

You have been invited to take part because you attend a class for adults taking GCSE English. Taking part is entirely voluntary. If you do decide to take part I will interview you and record the interview electronically as well as taking notes. All data will be anonymised and you will not be identifiable.

You may withdraw at any time before or during your participation in this study and up to two weeks after taking part in the study, without giving any reason. The research is intended to offer more information on both the participants' thoughts and feelings about acquiring literacy and on the reasons why some people have difficulties with literacy.

Research can deliver benefits to society and to others in a similar position. Although this research may not benefit you directly, it is hoped that it will highlight some of the reasons for literacy inequalities and offer suggestions for how these can be avoided in future.

If you require any further information please contact Dr. N. Ingram at Lancaster University, Bailrigg, Lancaster, LA1 4YW on n.ingram@lancaster.ac.uk

### **CONSENT FORM**

Project Title: **Experiencing literacy inequalities:** a qualitative study of the effects of literacy inequalities on adults.

Name of Researchers: BARBARA TURNER

Email: b.turner4@lancaster.ac.uk

## Please tick each box

1.	I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily	) п
2.	I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time before or during my participation in this study and up to 2 weeks after I took part in the study, without giving any reason. If I withdraw within 2 weeks of taking part in the study my data will be removed. If I am involved in focus groups and then withdraw my data will remain part of the study.	
3.	If I am participating in the focus group I understand that any information disclosed within the focus group remains confidential to the group, and I will not discuss the focus group with or in front of anyone who was not involved unless I have the relevant person's express permission	
4.	I understand that any information given by me may be used in future reports, academic articles, publications or presentations by the researcher/s, but my personal information will not be included and I will not be identifiable.	
5.	I understand that my name/my organisation's name will not appear in any reports, articles or presentation without my consent.	
6.	I understand that any interviews or focus groups will be audio-recorded and transcribed and that data will be protected on encrypted devices and kept secure.	
7.	I understand that data will be kept according to University guidelines for a minimum of 10 years after the end of the study.	
8.	I agree to take part in the above study.	
Var	me of Participant Date	Signature

I confirm that the participant was given an opportunity to ask questions about the study, and all the questions asked by the participant have been answered correctly and to the best of my ability. I confirm that the individual has not been coerced into giving consent, and the consent has been given freely and voluntarily.

Signature of Researcher /person taking the consent			
Date	Day/month/year		

One copy of this form will be given to the participant and the original kept in the files of the researcher at Lancaster University.

### **Appendix 3**

#### Interview Questions

These are grouped into 4 sections:

A Their reasons for attending the class/expressing concern about their literacy acquisition. What they did after school.

B Their memories of learning to read and whether they had support at home and at school.

C Their thoughts on how not having sufficient literacy for their needs (including lacking GCSE English, if applicable) has affected them.

D Their opinions on how the education system could be improved.

#### Α

- 1. Why did you decide to come to this class?
- 2. Are you working at the moment? *Doing what, where?*
- 3. Do you live here in the town?
- 4. Do you live with family?

### В

- 5. Can you remember learning to read? At home/school?
- 6. Where did you go to school? Geographical location, not specific school
- 7. Can you remember the reading scheme that was used?
- 8. Did your parents or siblings have any problems with learning to read?
- 9. Did your parents help you with learning to read? *And with homework? Was having the structure of homework important?*

- 10. At what age did you leave school?
- 11. Did you have any GCSEs or other qualifications when you left?
- 12. What did you do after you left school?
- 13. Do you feel satisfied with your education? What did you think of the teachers? Are you satisfied with the way you were taught? *If appropriate ask about dyslexia?*
- 14. In what ways do you think your career choices might have been different if you had got more/different qualifications from school?
- 15. Has a lack of literacy affected you in other ways? If so, how?
- 16. What do you think about the education you received? Did it give you what you wanted and/or needed?

D

- 17. If you think about a child going to school now, how could the education system be improved?
- 18. Is there anything you would like to add?
- 19. Is there anything you would like to ask me?